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Five Years Financial Summary

AFMBHME

Six months

Year ended ended 31
31 December December
BZ Bz

t=A=t-8 t=A=t-A

Year ended 30 June

tEE EREA BEAA=THLEE
Results E4 2010 2009 2009 2008 2007
—E-EF “EENF “EENF “TENF “TELEF
Turnover EER
(RMB'000) (AREF) 328,080 140,120 287,780 152,826 145,059
(Loss) profit attributable ERARZERA
to owners of the Bl (E8) &7
parent (RMB'000) (AR&FT) (30,853) (63,167) (18,547) (112,622) 7,864
(Loss) earnings per share Bk (B#8) &F
(RMB cents) (AREAD
- Basic -EK (3.62) (10.30) (4.33) (26.41) 2.25
- Diluted -gE (3.62) (10.30) (4.33) (26.41) 222
At 31 December At 30 June
W+=BA=+-H RAB=+H
Assets and liabilities BERERE 2010 2009 2009 2008 2007
—E-EF “EENGF “EENEF —EENEF “EELEF
Total assets EEBTE
(RMB’000) (AR®TT) 1,491,124 1,416,902 247,020 279,400 329,402
Total liabilities afEmEE
(RMB'000) (AREFT) (1,004,659) (764,881) (235,294) (248,565) (212,283)
Net asset value EEFHE
(RMB’000) (AR®TT) 486,465 652,021 11,726 30,835 117,119
Equity attributable to owners 2N FZ A A
of the parent (RMB'000) e HER
(AR®TT) 331,732 352,447 11,726 30,835 117,119
Non-controlling interests ISk £
(RMB’000) (AR®TT) 154,733 299,574 - - -
Total equity 1A% 486,465 652,021 11,726 30,835 117,119
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the major business segments of the Group
during the year is as follows:

Property Development

The Group currently holds a property development
project — Zhongzhu Uptown which is situated in Zhuhai,
Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC"). Zhongzhu Uptown was developed in two
phases. At 31 December 2010, approximately 99% of the
residential units and 93% of the commercial units of the
first phase of Zhongzhu Uptown (the “Phase 1") were
contracted for sales, while 94% of the residential units
and 72% of the commercial units were delivered to the
customers and recognised as turnover of the Group.

During the year, 73 units of residential properties and 21
units of commercial properties with 9,006 square metres
and 1,870 square metres were delivered to customers
and recognised as sales of the Group. Total revenue
(including sales of car parks) attributable to the property
development business amounted to approximately
RMB 156,488,000 (for the six months ended 31 December
2009: RMB27,516,000).

The second phase of Zhongzhu Uptown (the “Phase 2")
is still under construction and planned to be delivered
with decorations starting from the second half of 2012.
The pre-sales of Phase 2 began in November 2010.
Approximately 212 residential units, which is more than
half of the properties launched in the initial sales in late
November 2010 were contracted for sales or reserved
by potential customers in the year with average selling
prices significantly higher than Phase 1. Pre-sales of the
remaining properties of Phase 2 are scheduled to be
launched in 2011 and early 2012.

Property Investment

Property investment business represents rental income
and capital appreciation from the investment properties
situated in the PRC and in Hong Kong. During the
year, rental income amounted to approximately
RMB12,107,000 (for the six months ended 31 December
2009: RMB5,246,000) and net gain on change in fair
value of investment properties amounted to approximately
RMB11,634,000 (for the six months ended 31 December
2009: RMB6,826,000).

BEER R DT

E RN
FNREEY EBEEDHEBMT

95

AEBEBAFE EYWERRIER — NP E
AREMBE ([FH]) EREHZKEM 2HF K E
W B SMERR R ZTF+_A=
+—H RHEBE—HTE—H])) 2F=E
BANEAEMDRIBHIG% RIB%EFTHE
F MUREETEMRI2%EREMC RS
R} BEEEREAEEREHETE -

FR AEBAEFTEWEEMN M2I1ER
BY¥EEL (9 Bl 59,006 7 K &1,870F 75
K ELMBFEFRNUBRAEE - MERRER
E¥BZRRA (BIREEMZIEEHE) EHARKE
156,488,0007T (BLZE—FTFNF+_A=+—
BiEXEAR : AR¥27,516,0007T) °

IR EWE B ([ —H)) IDEREER - I
AER T —FTHFEUATREEI(S -
F_HAEER_ZE-—ZTF+—ARK - B
—E-EE+-ARERBEERMELEZYE
o K212 ECEBREHREM 2 —F 10
FARFNELREBETFER  FHEE
RE—HRS - F_HRT2VERFENR-F
——ER-FT-_FFEIELETRE -

MEERE

MERBEXEFUATEREBS 2IREMEL
HeBRARERIEE - FA HeWAZEDHA
R#12,107,000c (HE2—_ZETNF+_A=
+—HIEAREA : AKR®S5,246,0007T) © &
M Z N R FEE IO AR E11,634,0007T
(BE_ZZAF+_A=+—HINEA: A
R #6,826,0007T) °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

At 31 December 2010, the investment properties
comprises of six units of office premises in Hong Kong with
a total saleable area of approximately 426 square metres
and the research and development centre in Shenzhen, the
PRC (“R&D Centre”) with gross floor area of approximately
15,084 square metres.

The Group entered into several sale and purchase
agreements to dispose of certain investment properties
in Hong Kong in late 2010 and 2011 which amounted
to approximately HK$40,079,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB33,155,000). The management believes
by focusing its resources into PRC property development
and other high growth business the Group’s result could
be improved in medium to long-term.

Trading

The Group's trading business represents distribution of
electronic related components, mobile phone modules
and imported automation products. The total revenue
from the trading business during the year amounted to
RMB 159,485,000 (for the six months ended 31 December
2009: RMB107,358,000).

Although the profit margin is relatively low from the
trading business, the required financial and business
resources are limited and the relevant risks can be
mitigated by effective operation procedures and internal
controls. The Group has taken various measures to diversify
the product range with an objective to further increase
turnover and enhance the profit margin.

Technology

The automation and mobile handset projects involve
substantial capital investments and resources while
market environment in the short-term to medium-term
still remain uncertain and the competition is very keen.
The management will continue to take a cautious and
critical review on potential business opportunities, and
will engage in projects only if the business risks can be
certainly managed and controlled.

RZZE—TF+_A=+—8 8EME+D -
ERNERMNRESNEFTEYWESEN (A HE
B 49426 75 2K) RO BRI Z B O
([WFEER L] - BIEFEIEL15,084F F2K) o

REBR-_ZE—ZEFRE-_ZT——FiUHK
HEEHz WHEURBESBENEE
40,079,000t (FHER X AK%33,155,0007T)
ZETHEM*E ERERRE BBBEERSE
PRABEVEBEREMEERER  FREH
NAEBZEEHBBEINRS -

B5

AEBEZFEBBIEETHBITH - FHRAH
ZOEERENBSLER FRESEKE
i 2 U A #E A K #159,485,0000T (B = —
TZNFF+_A=+—BLEAEAR: AR¥
107,358,0007T) °

MEBEZFEG 2 ABRBERE - AT W5
HEBERAR  MEBEBBARXEERRFRA
HRERYE - BRI BLAIRER - Bt - AEEE
KRB Z @GR LEMEEZ T BRE—
Tl EXBNBENEEX

B

ABLAFRER SRARAAREMER -
185 535 o B 2 TR ) B M A R R
Rt 52 B S A R EGE IR A WG
BB - BIEA 2 AEER T EE R
BiEH - EREHLEAS -

China Uptown Group Company Limited R Fi 5B AR /A7) o Annual Report 2010 &3



Management Discussion and Analysis

MARKET OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

In 2010, the Group faced increasingly complicated
economic and market conditions in its property
development business amid the tightening property market
measures imposed by the PRC government. Since April
2010, a series of tightening policies aiming to overcome
the overheating and speculation in the property market
were issued by the PRC government. The measures include
increasing the threshold for mortgage loans of the “second
house” onward, strengthening the implementation of the
existing control policies and proposal to impose property
tax. To overcome the excessive liquidity and ease inflation,
the People’s Bank of China raised the required capital
reserve ratio and interest rate continuously in 2010 and
2011.

Looking into 2011, easing inflation will be the PRC
government’s top priority. However, most of these
measures and policies, including frequent interests rate
hikes, purchase restrictions and mortgage restrictions,
generally affecting the properties price in the tier one
cities, for example in Shanghai, Beijing and Shenzhen
mostly. The property market in Zhuhai is significantly less
affected as the property pricing levels are substantially
lower. Zhuhai is one of the fastest growing cities with
pleasant living environment. After the completion of the
Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macau Bridge, it will greatly enhance
the local economies and the properties market. The Board
of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is optimistic
about the future prospects of the property market in
Zhuhai.

Despite the fact that the property market in PRC will
continue to face complicated government policy and
market environment, with continuous growth in GDP and
increasing wealth of individuals which leads to strong
demand for housing needs, the Board is confident that the
property market will continue to achieve healthy growth
in medium to long-term. As such the Group will retain its
focus on the property projects in PRC, particularly in the
high growth cities, in the coming years. Regarding the
Zhongzhu Uptown Phase 2, the remaining properties will
be launched for pre-sale in 2011 and early 2012. Due to
the upsurge of property prices in Zhuhai in recent years,
the selling price and the profit margin of Phase 2 will be
significantly higher than Phase 1.

BEER R DT

TENERREE

—T-T AREZMERFREHAYA S
W EBERTISRR - M BRI YR
IS M EEE - B =B —TEM A K
o B A H Y — 2R 5140 6 0 2 34 2 AR
CEELF RERE(E_ER] N LRS
B PO - MR iEIA B ERE R
252185 - ARRADHILBT RERBIRE
5 REARBIIPR -F—FER T
— EEEIR SRS R R -

RE-ZT——F  FRBERENGSTBEERM
ZEEER - AN RSBHEBEEEK - 215
RENE - BERGMZERS  TBRE—
AR TN BB AEREIRYN 2 W EEE - KB
ZOFEREBNRFERE  BMEHHERORMF
Z-RERERERIETZ— BEEREE
X BWRABREKK - BHRBAKESEH
REMDEM SRR ARAEFS ((EF
2 ]) KB ZYENHERRATSFHEBEE -

8 & Fp B W) 3% T 555 % AR T 49 A R O IBURT R
KT - Bk B A AR E TN I R N (B B
BN BLEENFERRY  EFR
E - MEMSPRAKEENSREREER -
At NEBRFEBEEZENTE 2 WER
B LERESERBERZWMT - ERFIR LM
£-H BTYUEBR _FT——FR_F—=
FUHEHLTAE - ARNOFIREYERERATT -
ﬁﬁm%—%*%:%zgﬁﬁﬁﬂzﬁﬁﬁ
FH o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OF EQUITY
INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY AND EVENTS
AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

0]

(i)

Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 3 December 2010, the Company entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Seaton
Limited, a connected party of the Group for the
acquisition of the entire issued share capital of
Armando Investments Limited (“Armando”) for a
consideration of HK$230,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB195,500,000) to be settled by
way of unsecured zero-coupon convertible bonds
of the same amount. Armando is a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands whose
major asset is its 25% equity interests in Zhuhai
Zhongzhu. The acquisition was completed on 1
March 2011. Following the acquisition, the Group
in aggregate owned 75% of the equity interests in
Zhuhai Zhongzhu.

Details of the acquisition are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 22 December 2010,

Disposal of investment properties in Hong
Kong

Subsequently after the end of the reporting
period, the Group entered into several preliminary
agreements for the sales of certain investment
properties with a carrying value of approximately
RMB21,590,000 at 31 December 2010 for a total
consideration of approximately HK$27,005,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB22,955,000) to
independent third parties.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The details of segmental information are set out in Note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's turnover for the year ended 31 December
2010 was approximately RMB328,080,000 (for the six
months ended 31 December 2009: RMB140,120,000)
which represented an increase of approximately 134% as
compared to the last corresponding period. The increase
in turnover is mainly attributable to the increase in sales
of properties situated in Zhuhai in the PRC and trading of
electronic components and mobile phone modules.

ANBARNRBETERARBRERS
s HRER

N

() WEHBLTE

RZE—ZFTF+-_A=H ' ARFHERK
EBCAEATKRKEERAREE
E i LAY B Armando Investments
Limited ([Armando]) B) 2 & B % 17 i
A KRB A %230,000,0007T (5 R
#3 AR #195,500,00070) * :Z & FE 5 N
EERBTEBBRRESZ AT -
ArmandoB — RN KB R X B T
ZRE HEFXEEEARKERLEZ
25%f%HE - W EHER -_E——F =
A—BZEK - RlifER  XEE& HH
BIREHRIRTS%ARHE -

W Z FBHI R AR TE%%:%*
TF+-_A-+=-Hz@

(i) HERSTENREWE

REZERAR AEBEREER T —
TFE+ A=+t HBHEEEHARE
21,590000x2%¥?“§%¥%§%ﬁ

FEZFEMNZENEHE BREY
/%%5 #527,005,000C ((HE RO AR
22,955,0007T) °

7

7,
7,

A

2 EER
DEPE R Z FEBE R A M HRARMIFE10
Bt %5 2] 8

HE_Z—ZTFF+_A=+—HLEFE &K
EEEEEHAREK328,080,000T (HE =
ZENFF+_A=Z=+—BLERER: AR%
140,120,0007T) * th = F R HBIE 1149134% o
M%%Ei*mzxmmﬁﬁ R BEIKE 2
BEFEH R FHRAEMTZESEIMEY -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the loss
attributable to owners of the parent was approximately
RMB30,853,000 (for the six months ended 31 December
2009: RMB63,167,000). The loss was mainly caused by
an impairment loss of RMB28,600,000 (for the six months
ended 31 December 2009: Nil) recognised in respect of
the Group’s properties held for sale and included in cost
of sales. The gross loss was mainly attributable to the
change in value of car packing spaces for Phase 1 which
was caused by the PRC government's stringent control
over property. The selling price of Phase 2 is substantially
higher than Phase 1 and thus, barring any unforeseen
circumstances, no such impairment loss is expected for
Phase 2.

During the year, the Group completed its debt-
restructuring of approximately RMB180,860,000 with
Bank of China Limited by issuing convertible bonds with
a principal amount of HK$160,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB136,000,000) to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Bank of China Limited. The convertible bonds
carry interest at 4% per annum and with a maturity date
of 30 November 2013, at an initial conversion price of
HK$0.59 (subject to adjustments) per conversion share. A
loss of RMB18,049,000 was recognised as the difference
of the initial fair value of the convertible bonds and the
debt outstanding as at the issue day of the convertible
bonds. For the year ended 31 December 2010, a gain of
RMB 14,860,000 was recognised as the subsequent change
in fair value of the convertible bonds. As a result of the
debt-restructuring, the liquidity of the Group has further
strengthened.

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the finance
cost was approximately RMB27,040,000 (for the six
months ended 31 December 2009: RMB7,918,000). The
charge comprises mainly imputed interest expense on
consideration payable in relating to the acquisition of
the 50% interests in Zhuhai Zhongzhu of approximately
RMB13,742,000 (for the six months ended 31 December
2009: RMB1,754,000) and accrued interest expenses
on bank borrowings due to Bank of China Limited of
approximately RMB12,211,000 (for the six months ended
31 December 2009: RMB5,522,000). The acquisition of
50% interests Zhuhai Zhongzhu was completed on 19
November 2009 and thus, a full year related imputed
interest expense was record in the current year which lead
to the significant increase in the finance costs.

BEER R DT

'ér“jzi —EF+_A=+—HLFE - ZER
szﬁﬁ/\raa@ﬁa #) A R %30,853,0007T
(Et%é EENF+_A=1+—HIEREA : A
E%631670007z> EBEDEEENRAEE
MEEVMERRREBBLIABEEXNRTAR
“%‘28,600,0007E(Eﬁz§: ZENFT+_A=1
—HIEREA &) ZEBITERRE —HHA
PREBNBREESIMEMSENSEMZERE
o F_HEBRENRFE—H At BRAA
SEERSN - BRI NS HIRZOREEE -

FAR AEERBRAFPRHRITROBER QA
Z—HEZEMNBRARETASEBAREY
160,000,0007T (#HE R 49 A K #136,000,000
To) ZABRESE WK EFRERTHOAR
#180,860,0007T 2 EFEEH - AT RREFH X
FHR4EHAS AT =F+—HF=
+ B ZRURERERTHARMR MK B ®0.597T
(AT FHAE) o ARBIMABRKRESFZIB DA
BEEABMBREFETERACREERR 2 E8
HREE ARE18,049,000 c HE-_ZT—F
F+-_A=+— Emif CBRATMRESZA
REREZEER KT ARE14,860,0007T °
ARERER  NEE 2 REVEEE — PN o

B AR AR

BHE-_ZT—ZTF+_A=1+—BHILFE UK
BZ$N’7/\E%27,O4O,OOOTE(§J% —ETNF
+—A=+—8B1~EA : AR%7,918,000
T0) o BREE S IER KBRS P HR50%E &
EAREZHENERAZHARE13,742,000
(BE2_ZEZNhF+_A=+—HIt~EA:
A K #1,754,0007T) & FE - A BY 4R 17 X 19
ERARIFRITEEZERANEAIHARE
12,211,000 (B EZ2=—FTENF+_A=+T—
Eut/dlﬂ /\Eﬁiﬁsszzoooﬂ W IR
FIRS0%EZER —_TEZENF+—A+NLHR
K B2 FHEBHENBEAYERAFEA
BR - BRI AKNIE LR ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

In 2010, the Group's operating activities resulted in a net
cash outflow of approximately RMB169,570,000 (for the
six months ended 31 December 2009: RMB24,290,000)
which was mainly represented by construction expenses
incurred for Phase 2. At 31 December 2010, the total
amount of bank balance and cash, including restricted
bank deposits, was approximately RMB155,804,000 (31
December 2009: RMB161,514,000).

At 31 December 2010, the total assets of the Group
were approximately RMB1,491,124,000 (31 December
2009: RMB1,416,902,000), representing an increase
of approximately 5%. At 31 December 2010, the
Group’s total borrowings, including convertible bonds
of RMB184,391,000 (31 December 2009: Nil), increased
to approximately RMB570,327,000 (31 December
2009: approximately RMB116,873,000). The increase
in borrowings is mainly due to the drawdown of a
construction loan for the development of Phase 2 of
Zhongzhou Uptown.

At 31 December 2010, the gearing ratio, expressed as a
percentage of total borrowings over net assets was 117%
(31 December 2009: 18%). The current ratio was 2.5 (31
December 2009: 1.7).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The issued ordinary share capital of the Company as
at 31 December 2009 and 2010 was HK$85,198,000
divided into 851,980,000 shares of HK$0.10 each. At
31 December 2009 and 2010, the issued convertible
redeemable preference share capital was HK$35,000,000
divided into 350,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each and
the convertible redeemable preference A share capital
was HK$11,000,000 divided into 110,000,000 shares
of HK$0.10 each. None of the convertible redeemable
preference shares and convertible redeemable preference
A shares were converted into ordinary shares.

RBEERUBEIR

RIE—Z2F  AEBRKEEBELENRER
BFERE (EERF_HMEENEERT) HA
K ®169,570,0007T (BZE=_TFTNF+_A=
+—HIEARMEA : AKR#%24,290,0007T) °
—E-ZEF+-A=+—8 " AEEMETHE
TR ¢ 4 %ﬂ’@%ﬁﬁ&%ﬂfﬁﬁﬁm AR
155,804,000t (ZEENF+=-_A=+—H :
LANR®161,514,0007T) ©

RZE—ZFF+-_A=1+—H ' AEEHL
BEMBEAL 7}\&%14911240007“—9@93
NFE+Z_A=+—H: AKR¥1,416,902,000
JC)  INAI5%  c RZE—ZEF+_A=+—
H A&5EMNBEE (BETRERESFARK
184,391,000t (ZEZENF+-_A=+—H :
M) BINE#H A R¥S570,327,000T (ZZEF
NFE+=-_A=+—8: HAR%116,873,000
JC)  EFUENEEZE SRR IR B E — R
ZEEEETH o

4 3

RN—_ZT—FBF+_A=+—8 AEENAERE
E(AEERERNEEFHETAE) B117%
—EZANFFT+_A=+—"H :18%) - AEtt
RE25 (ZEENF+=-_A=+—H:1.7)°

EXRGER

RZEENFR_ZTE—ZEFF+-_A=+—H"
ZIK ANERITER %Hx%/%m%% 198,0007T, -

3 /851,980,0000% & % /& B0. 10T B B 17

RZBENFR-_TE—ZEF+_A=+—H"
B 817 7] ¥ 7] 5 [0 8 4t % &% % 35,000,000
T 9 £350,000,0000% &F A% & #0.107T #9 I
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenues and incurs costs
in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars. The Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong
Kong dollars. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, management will
monitor foreign exchange exposure closely and consider
the use of hedging instruments when the need arises.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2010, the Group’s certain investment
properties, properties under development, assets held for
sale and leasehold land and buildings with an aggregate
net carrying value of approximately RMB802,214,000 (31
December 2009: RMB77,891,000) were pledged to banks
for securing revolving loans, general banking facilities and
banking facilities of construction loan granted to certain
subsidiaries of the Company. At 31 December 2010,
facilities amounts of approximately RMB385,936,000
(31 December 2009: RMB45,139,000) were utilised and
RMB102,314,000 (31 December 2009: RMB10,560,000)
were not utilised and available for the Group’s future
financing.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have any significant capital
commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment
as at 31 December 2010 and 2009.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following commitments for properties under development:
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Contracted but not provided for BE LB REE 190,969 294,363
Authorised but not contracted for SHLEBREL 336,831 154,551
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the year is presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 51 and 52 of this Report.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

At 31 December 2010, the Group employed 57 full time
employees (31 December 2009: 40) in Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group’s emolument policies are formulated
on the basis of market trends, future plans and the
performance of individuals, which are reviewed periodically.
Apart from provident fund scheme and state-managed
social welfare scheme, share options will also be awarded
to employees according to assessment of individuals'’
performance.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

i) On 25 April 2008, a PRC subsidiary of the Company
had been served with a writ of summons in the
PRC and was being claimed for a total amount
of approximately HK$23,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB20,010,000) under a guarantee
being allegedly issued by the PRC subsidiary.
The PRC subsidiary has appointed a firm of legal
counsel to represent the PRC subsidiary to defend
the claim and legal proceedings. First court hearing
was held on 20 October 2008 and after a series
of legal proceedings, the Company received a
civil judgment (the “Judgment”) issued by the
Intermediate People’s Court in Shenzhen, the PRC
on 14 June 2010. The PRC subsidiary was liable to
bear 50% of any shortfall that the first defendant
is unable to settle in respect of the claims amount
of approximately HK$23,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB20,010,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

iii)

On 30 November 2010, the PRC subsidiary
entered into a settlement agreement (“Settlement
Agreement”) with the plaintiff pursuant to which
the PRC subsidiary shall pay HK$4,800,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,080,000) to
the plaintiff within five days upon entering into
the Settlement Agreement for settlement of
all responsibilities and claims of the Judgment.
Payment was made on 1 December 2010. On 2
December 2010, the Senior People’s Court of the
Guangdong Province in the PRC approved the
application for the withdrawal of the Judgment by
the PRC subsidiary and the plaintiff.

Details of settlement are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 3 December 2010.

On 12 December 2009, the Company received a
writ of summons from Global Tide Limited (“Global
Tide"). Global Tide brought civil action in the High
Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region against the Company for compensation
and damages of approximately HK$8,834,000 (the
“Claim”) in relation to the disposal of its former
wholly-owned subsidiary, Magic Gain Investments
Limited. Details of the Claim are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 16 December
2009.

The Company decided to defend against the Claim
and obtained legal advice in respect of the merits
of the Claim. The Board considered it is difficult to
predict the outcome or give an estimate of ultimate
liability at this stage.

The Group had arranged for bank financing for
certain purchasers of property units and provided
guarantees to secure obligations of such purchasers
for repayments. At 31 December 2010, the
outstanding amount of the guarantees amounted
to approximately RMB22,980,000 (31 December
2009: RMB90,759,000).

iii)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010 (for the six
months ended 31 December 2009: Nil).

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank the shareholders for their continuous
support to the Company and extend my appreciation to all
management and staff members for their contribution and
dedication throughout the period.

By Order of the Board
China Uptown Group Company Limited

Chen Xian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2011

RERE

EEeRBTRRBE_ZE—ZSF+_-_A=+
—BUIEFEEZ2XBRE (BE-_TTAFE+=
A=+—HIENEAR - &) -

&)
AAERREFERRE—BEUREARF Z
BAOXFKUEEREEEREINFACESR
BRINB G -

AEEEm
hEEIEEBERADE

FE —E——F=A-+N\H

China Uptown Group Company Limited R Fi 5B AR /A7) o Annual Report 2010 &3



Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Xian, aged 47, was appointed as an executive
Director and vice-chairman of the Company on 12
October 2007 and was redesignated as Chairman of the
Company on 30 November 2007. He is also a director
of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen is one
of the founders of a sizeable property development
company in Zhuhai, the PRC and has been a member of
the senior management of a subsidiary of that company.
Mr. Chen was mainly responsible for the investment and
development of real estate projects of such companies.
Before joining those companies, Mr. Chen worked as a
senior member of certain stated-owned companies and
the local authority. He has more than 15 years of extensive
experience in the investment and development of real
estate projects. He holds a Master Degree of Business
Administration from the Asia International Open University
(Macau).

Mr. Chen has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a fixed term and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. Mr. Chen is entitled to an
annual remuneration of HK$1,560,000, which is covered
by his service contract, with discretionary bonus payment
as determined by the remuneration committee of the
Company based on Mr. Chen’s and the Company’s
performance. The remuneration package of Mr. Chen is
determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities and
expected time commitment to the Company’s affairs.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chen is not connected with
any directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Chen did not hold any directorships
in any other listed companies on the Stock Exchange and
any other stock exchange during the three years preceding
the date of this Report. As at the report date, save as to
the 3,500,000 options granted to him, Mr. Chen was not
interested or deemed to be interested in any shares or
underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO").
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEN

Mr. Lau Sai Chung, aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 September
2006 and was re-designated as executive Director on 30
November 2007. Mr. Lau was also appointed as chief
executive officer of the Company on 30 November 2007.
He is currently also a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor degree in Commerce
with major in Accounting from the University of Alberta,
Canada and has over 20 years' experience in the field
of banking and finance both in Hong Kong and North
America. Mr. Lau is also a Fellow member of the Institute
of Canadian Bankers and The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

Mr. Lau has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a fixed term and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company. Mr. Lau is
entitled to an annual package of HK$1,430,000, which is
covered by his service contract, with discretionary bonus
payment as determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company based on Mr. Lau’s and the Company’s
performance. The remuneration package of Mr. Lau is
determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities and
expected time commitment to the Company’s affairs.

As at the report date, Mr. Lau has personal interest in
148,000 Shares, representing 0.02% of the issued share
capital of the Company and he has also been granted
3,352,000 options.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau is not connected with any
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Lau and did not hold any directorships in any
other listed companies on the Stock Exchange and any
other stock exchange during the three years preceding the
date of this Report. As at the report date, Mr. Lau was not
interested or deemed to be interested in any other shares
or underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV
of the SFO.
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Mr. Xiong lJianrui, aged 46, was appointed as an
executive Director on 31 December 2008. Mr. Xiong
graduated with a bachelor degree in Information
Engineering from Xi Bei Institute of Telecommunications
Engineering in 1983. He is currently a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Xiong has over 25
years experience in automation & control industry, and is
extensively experienced in business investment in the PRC
and Hong Kong. Mr. Xiong was a non-executive director of
T S Telecom Technologies Limited, a company listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (“GEM")
(Stock Code: 8003) from 2 October 2007 to 28 December
2007. He was appointed as an executive director of
the Company (formally known as Techwayson Holdings
Limited) since 16 May 2003 and appointed as chairman on
30 March 2004. On 4 November 2005, due to his personal
commitments, he resigned as an executive director and
chairman of the Company.

Mr. Xiong has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a fixed term and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. Mr. Xiong is entitled to an
annual remuneration of HK$780,000, which is covered
by his service contract, with discretionary bonus payment
as determined by the remuneration committee of the
Company based on Mr. Xiong’s and the Company’s
performance. The remuneration package of Mr. Xiong is
determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities and
expected time commitment to the Company’s affairs.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Xiong is not connected with
any directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Xiong did not hold any directorships
in any other listed companies on the Stock Exchange and
any other stock exchange during the three years preceding
the date of this Report. As at the report date, save as to
the 3,500,000 options granted to him, Mr. Xiong was not
interested or deemed to be interested in any shares or
underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEN

Ms. Xia Dan, aged 43, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 21 August 2007 and was re-designated as an
executive Director on 12 October 2007. Ms. Xia was re-
designated as a non-executive Director on 31 December
2008 and re-designated as executive Director on 27
October 2010. Before Ms. Xia was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 21 August 2007, she had been a
member of the senior management of a sizeable property
development company in Zhuhai, the PRC and was
responsible for its project investments analysis. Ms. Xia
also worked for various companies in the PRC and North
America and has over 18 years of extensive experience
in strategic planning and marketing in the fields of
construction, financial and foreign trading industries. Ms.
Xia graduated from Shenyang University with a Bachelor
of Science in Architecture and holds a Master Degree
of Business Administration from the New York Institute
of Technology. Ms. Xia is a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors. She is currently also a director of
several subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Xia has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a fixed term and is subject to the
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company. Ms. Xia is entitled
to an annual remuneration of HK$520,000, which is
covered by her service contract, with discretion bonus
payment as determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company based on Ms. Xia‘'s and the Company’s
performance. The remuneration package of Ms. Xia is
determined by reference to her duties, responsibilities and
expected time commitment to the Company’s affairs.

As at the report date, Ms. Xia is the beneficial owner of
Mega Edge International Limited which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company holding 79,500,000 ordinary
shares, representing 9.33% equity interest in the capital of
the Company. Ms. Xia has also been granted 3,500,000
options. Ms. Xia is deemed to be interested in 79,500,000
ordinary shares of the Company held by Mega Edge
International Limited under Part XV of the SFO.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Xia is not connected with any
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed
above, Ms. Xia did not hold any directorships in any other
listed companies on the Stock Exchange and any other
stock exchange during the three years preceding the date
of this Report. As at the report date, Ms. Xia was not
interested or deemed to be interested in any other shares
or underlying shares of the Company pursuant to Part XV
of the SFO.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael, aged 39, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 29 November
2006. Mr. Poon is also the chairman and a member
of the audit committee and a member of nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Poon is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a member of CPA
Australia. He holds a bachelor degree in administrative
studies from York University in Canada and a masters
degree in practicing accounting with Monash University
in Australia. Mr. Poon worked for an international
accounting firm and was responsible for providing business
advisory and assurance services for listed companies. He
has over 15 years of experience in financial reporting,
business advisory, auditing, taxation, accounting, merger
and acquisition. Mr. Poon had acted as an executive
director and the chief financial officer of Hong Kong Life
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8212), a company
listed on the GEM since October 2010 and June 2010
respectively. He is the independent non-executive director
of Sun International Group Limited (Stock Code: 8029), a
company listed on GEM since September 2008. Mr. Poon
is also an independent non-executive director of Sino
Dragon New Energy Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 395),
a company listed on main board of Stock Exchange, since
January 2010. He was previously an independent non-
executive director of Enviro Energy International Holdings
Limited (“Enviro”) (Stock code: 1102) for the period from
December 2006 to July 2008 and company secretary and
authorized representative of Enviro for the period from July
2008 to October 2008. Mr. Poon was the chief financial
officer, qualified accountant, company secretary and
authorised representative of Sunrise (China) Technology
Group Limited (formerly named as Sonavox International
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EEEN

Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8226), which is a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from March 2002 to
June 2008.

Mr. Poon has not entered into any written service
agreement with the Company. Mr. Poon is appointed for
a term of two years and is subject to the retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company. Mr. Poon is entitled to an annual
remuneration of HK$180,000 without any bonus payment.
The remuneration of Mr. Poon is not covered by any
service contract. The remuneration package of Mr. Poon is
determined by reference to performance of the Group and
of Mr. Poon with reference to prevailing market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Poon is not connected with
any directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Poon did not hold any positions in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and did not hold any
directorships in any other listed companies on the Stock
Exchange and any other stock exchange during the three
years preceding the date of this Report. As at the report
date, save as to the 200,000 options granted to him, Mr.
Poon was not interested or deemed to be interested in any
shares or underlying shares of the Company pursuant to
Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Chong Yiu Chik, aged 71, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 March 2008. Mr.
Chong is also the chairman and member of nomination
committee and a member of audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Chong
graduated from Wuhan University in China with major
in Politics and Economics. He is currently the director
and general manager of Eliter International Development
Limited and he has over 30 years management experience
in the field of China and foreign trades. He is also the vice
president of China’s Foreign Trade Association, Honorary
president of Shantou Overseas Friendship Association,
Honorary Chairman of Universal Petrol- Chemical
Development Limited and member of Standing Committee
of Returned Oversea Chinese Association of Guangdong.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. Chong has not entered into any written services
contract with the Company. Mr. Chong is appointed for
a term of two years and is subject to the retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company. Mr. Chong is entitled to an annual
remuneration of HK$180,000 without any bonus payment.
The remuneration of Mr. Chong is not covered by any
service contract. The remuneration package of Mr. Chong
is determined by reference to performance of the Group
and of Mr. Chong with reference to prevailing market
conditions.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chong is not connected with
any directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Chong did not hold any positions in
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and did not hold any
directorships in any other listed companies on the Stock
Exchange and any other stock exchange during the three
years preceding the date of this Report. As at the report
date, save as to the 348,000 options granted to him, Mr.
Chong was not interested or deemed to be interested in
any shares or underlying shares of the Company pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Choi Kai Ming, Raymond, aged 61, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 31 December
2008. Mr. Choi is also the chairman and member of
remuneration committee and member of audit committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Choi graduated with a bachelor degree in Production
Engineering from The University of Aston in Birmingham,
UK in 1976. In 1979, he was qualified as a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England & Wales,
and in 1980 as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. In the last thirty years he
had served Price Waterhouse, China Light and Power,
Guangdong Nuclear Power, China Everbright Holdings,
as well as running his own accounting practice in Hong
Kong. Mr. Choi was previously the company secretary,
authorized representative and qualified accountant of Tai-l
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1808)
since November 2006, Mr. Choi resigned as company
secretary and authorized representative in April 2008 and
resigned as qualified accountant on 31 December 2009.
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EEEN

Mr. Choi has not entered into any written service contract
with the Company. Mr. Choi is appointed for a term of
two years and is subject to the retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company. Mr. Choi is entitled to an annual
remuneration of HK$180,000 without any bonus payment.
The remuneration of Mr. Choi is not covered by any
service contract. The remuneration package of Mr. Choi is
determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities and
expected time commitment to the Company’s affairs.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Choi is not connected with
any directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Choi did not hold any positions in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and did not hold any
directorships in any other listed companies on the Stock
Exchange and any other stock exchange during the three
years preceding the date of this Report. As at the report
date, save as to the 348,000 options granted to him, Mr.
Choi was not interested or deemed to be interested in any
shares or underlying shares of the Company pursuant to
Part XV of the SFO.

BHAEEWEBEARNRGVEEREESH o 85
GEZTFHAMFEYBRBEARZEMAE
ARBZKRRBAFAEG LHEBERTRBERE
T - HEEERF EMEE% 180,000 T8I £
T4l - BREZME W IERTMRBEE L
AT c B DERBEEZEBG - B
MERREBERABEMET -

Br MBI EEIN  BRAEEVERTMEME
= SMEBAE TERIERBEEEMAEH
HBeBREMBEEEI BRAFRAZBAE
—FEVEETEM T AR ZEEBERTE
AR B 8 E AT ] B B A Rl E AT B AL - 1
AR HE - (B ER348,00010 BERRAESD - 1%
WERIREHF KBGO EXVEET R E 2 KD
PR -

China Uptown Group Company Limited R Fi 5B AR /A7) o Annual Report 2010 &3



The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) and
the management of the Company are committed to the
maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
procedures.

The Company has applied the principles and complied
with the code provisions and, where applicable, the
recommended practices of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (“Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the listing of securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 December 2010.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company
confirms that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year under
review.

Corporate Governance Report
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COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight
of the management of the business and affairs of the
Group with the objective of enhancing shareholders
value. As at 31 December 2010, the Board consists of
seven Directors, comprising four executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. More than
one of the independent non-executive Director possess
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and
financial management expertise, which complies with the
requirement of the Listing Rules.

Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Xian (Chairman)

Mr. LAU Sai Chung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. XIONG Jianrui

Ms. XIA Dan (re-designated from Non-executive Director
on 27 October 2010)

Mr. TSIM Sze Hon (resigned on 27 October 2010)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. POON Lai Yin, Michael
Mr. CHONG Yiu Chik
Mr. CHOI Kai Ming, Raymond

The directors’ biographical information are set out on
pages 15 to 22 of this Annual Report. All executive
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Group. Each executive Director has sufficient
experience to hold the position so as to carry out his duties
effectively and efficiently. There is no relationship among
the members of the Board of Directors.

The Board has delegated the executive Directors with
authority and responsibility by handling the management
functions and operations of the day-to-day business of
the Company, while reserving certain key matters for the
approval by the Board. The types of decisions to be taken
by the Board include annual and interim period financial
reporting and control, equity fund raising, declaration of
interim dividend and making recommendation of final
dividend or other distributions, notifiable transactions
under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules and
making recommendation for capital reorganization or
scheme arrangement of the Company.
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The Board and each Director have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
A Director who considers a need for independent
professional advice in order to perform his duties as a
Director may convene, or request the secretary of the
Company to convene, a meeting of the Board to approve
the seeking of independent legal or other professional
advice.

The Company adopts the practice of holding meetings
of the Board regularly for at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also
be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. Notice of meeting of the Board will be sent to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular board meeting.
Reasonable notice will be given to Directors for ad-hoc
board meetings. Directors may participate either in person
or through electronic means of communications.

During the year, four meetings of the Board were held,
Directors are provided with relevant information to make
informed decisions. The attendance of Directors at the
Board Meetings and the Board Committees’ Meetings is
set out in the table below:

Corporate Governance Report
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EXeLBEFTUBETERBEARRZESMNER
CERNRSTFEBUEXEER  UETH
REEZEMF TARXBRARFRZWER
MEFEEH  HEBCKEDEIRAHEMESR
BR
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FAERTZUAEFSSH EFCRHM
HEEHUELANBERE EFSREEFEE
EEMRBZERLEBRABIINTE

Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

HESE SERLEZER
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee
BEEpE Exg BUZEY FHWZzES RAZEY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. CHEN Xian BRELE 4/4 = - -
Mr. LAU Sai Chung et 4/4 = - -
Mr. XIONG Jianrui Begm et 4/4 = - -
Ms. XIA Dan XIA Dan®Z+
(re-designated from Non-executive Director (R =ZF—ZFF+ 4
on 27 October 2010) ZHEAABFEHT
EEHIT) 44 - - -
Mr. TSIM Sze Hon 50 e
(resigned on 27 October 2010) (R-ZE—FE
THAZ Tt HEHE) 212 - - _
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Mr. POON Lai Yin, Michael ERBLE 4/4 212 2/2 212
Mr. CHONG Yiu Chik HgE s 4/4 212 2/2 2/2
Mr. CHOI Kai Ming, Raymond SERLE 4/4 212 2/2 212
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
segregated and are held by Mr. CHEN Xian and Mr. LAU
Sai Chung respectively. The Chairman is responsible for the
Group’s strategic planning and the management of the
operations of the Board, while the Chief Executive Officer
takes the lead in the Group’s operations and business
development. There is a clear division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company which provides a balance of power and
authority.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a term of two years and subject to re-election on
retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association
(the “Articles”). One of the independent non-executive
Directors has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise
as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has received the annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the code
provision of the Code. The existing Nomination Committee
has the following three members:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHONG Yiu Chik (Chairman)
Mr. POON Lai Yin, Michael
Mr. CHOI Kai Ming, Raymond

The Nomination Committee has adopted a written
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria
for the selection and recommendation of candidates for
directorship of the Company.
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The functions of the nomination committee are reviewing
and supervising the structure, size and composition of
the Board, identifying qualified individuals to become
members of the Board, assessing the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors.

Potential new Directors are identified and submitted to
the Nomination Committee for approval. The nomination
of Directors should take into consideration the candidate’s
qualification, ability and potential contribution to the
Company. A candidate to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director must also satisfy the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the year, no Director was appointed, two meetings
were held by the nomination committee to consider
the changes of the Directors and to recommend the re-
appointment of the Directors standing for re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company, reviewed its
own size, structure as well as composition, and assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee with
the written terms of reference in compliance with the code
provision of the Code. The Remuneration Committee has
the following three members:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHOI Kai Ming, Raymond (Chairman)
Mr. POON Lai Yin, Michael
Mr. CHONG Yiu Chik

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are making recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of Directors and senior management, and reviewing the
specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors
and senior management by reference to the corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time.
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Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in
Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. During
the year, two meetings for Remuneration Committee were
held for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration policy and
structure for as well as the remuneration packages of all
Directors and the Senior Management and to review the
remuneration package of a re-designated Director during
the year. No Director was involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the code provisions
of the Code. As at the date of this report, the Audit
Committee of the Company consists of the following
members:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. POON Lai Yin, Michael (Chairman)
Mr. CHONG Yiu Chik
Mr. CHOI Kai Ming, Raymond

The chief responsibilities of the audit committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, and any questions
of resignation or dismissal of such auditors; reviewing the
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group;
and supervising the financial reporting process and
effectiveness of internal control system of the Group.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed and
made recommendation to the Board for approval of
the audited results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010 and the unaudited interim results for the
six months ended 30 June 2010, discussed the accounting
policies and practices which may affect the Group with
the management and the Company’s auditors, made
recommendation on the re-appointment of external
auditors for the approval of the shareholders in the annual
general meeting of the Company, reviewed the fees
charged by the external auditors; and reviewed the internal
control system of the Group.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Corporate Governance Report
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BT

The audit works of the Group for the year ended 31 AEEHE—_T—ZTF+_A=T+T—RHLFE

December 2010 were performed by SHINEWING (HK) CPA

Limited.

The total fee paid/payable in respect of the statutory audit
and non-audit services provide by external auditors is set

out in the following table:
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Fee paid/payable

Services rendered FriR LRI et ENER
For the For the
year ended six month ended
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
BE-ZT—Z2F HE_ZTTIhF
T=HA=t-H +-A=+—H
LEFE LE7NME A
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited Sk (BH) 2SS
AR AR
— Audit services — ZHRTE 950 735
— Non-audit services — IERZEBRTS
Major transactions FERS 450 600
Interim review HEIEE R 480 -
Total fee paid/payable for the year/period 4 /HIRT At/ e 2 B REE 1,880 1,355
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements at the end of the
reporting period which gives a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2010, the Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis. The statement by the auditors of the
Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 45 to 47 of
this Annual Report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining
a sound and effective system of internal control and for
reviewing its effectiveness, particularly in respect of the
controls on financial, operational, compliance and risk
management, to achieve the Company’s business strategies
and the Group’s business operations. The Directors have
adopted an internal control policy for the Group. The
internal control is fundamental to the successful operation
and day-to-day running of a business and to assists
the Company in achieving its business objectives. The
policy has been developed with the primary objective of
providing general guidance and recommendations on a
basic framework of internal control and risk management.
The Company’s internal control system comprises a well
established organizational structure and policies and
standards. Procedures have been designed to safeguard
assets against unauthorized use or disposition, to ensure
maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
for publication, and to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The purpose of the Company's
internal control is to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate risks or failure in operational
systems and achievement of the Company’s objective.
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During the year, the Directors have conducted an annual
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control
of the Group, covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board makes its endeavour to maintain an ongoing
and transparent communication with all shareholders
and, in particular, use general meetings to communicate
with shareholders and encourage their participation.
The Company also uses various other means of
communication with its shareholders, such as publication
of annual and interim reports, announcements, circulars
and additional information on the Group’s business
activities and development on the Company’s website:
www.chinauptown.com.hk.
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Report of Directors
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The directors of the Company are pleased to present their
report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are engaged in (i) property development;
(i) property investment; (iii) trading of electronic related
components, mobile phone modules and automation
products; and (iv) technology automation and handsets
project. Details of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover by business segments
and geographical segments for the year ended 31
December 2010 is set out in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2010
are set out in this annual report on pages 48 to 166. The
directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2010.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities,
and minority interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements is set out on page 4 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PREPAID
LEASE PAYMENTS

Details of movements in the property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and prepaid lease
payments of the Group during the year are set out in
Notes 17 to 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE
OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s ordinary share
capital and share options are set out in Notes 35 and 40 to
the consolidated financial statements.

REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE
SHARES

Details of the redeemable convertible preference shares
issued by the Company during the year are set out in Note
36 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Datails of the convertible bonds issued by the Company
during the year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares of the Company on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2010, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 51 to 52 of this annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not
have any reserves available for cash/in specie dividend
distribution to shareholders of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and
purchases attributable to the major customers and
suppliers during the year is as follows:

AR IR E

REER  ARBAEERES EYARERS
DIRTARBIRRZ E e

IREFRHEER

FA AEETEREFPRAHEELIEERE
HERBERFBOT

Percentage of the Group's total

EEAEEAER DL
Sales Purchases
SHER RiggE
The largest customer BAEP 12% -
Five largest customers in aggregate AARE P 49% =
The largest supplier SAEER - 48%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate RARMERE AR - 64%

At no time during the year, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders of the Company (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the major customers and suppliers disclosed above.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to
the report date are:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Xian (Chairman)

Mr. LAU Sai Chung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. XIONG Jianrui

Ms. XIA Dan (re-designated from a Non-executive
Director on 27 October 2010)

Mr. TSIM Sze Hon (resigned on 27 October 2010)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHONG Yiu Chik

Mr. POON Lai Yin, Michael
Mr. CHOI Kai Ming, Raymond

FF REZHEALARBEFHAEAA
D RIRANS %% I |- 2 AT AR M0 9 A (T
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In accordance with Article 87(1), Mr. CHEN Xian, Mr. Xiong
Jianrui and Ms. XIA Dan will retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the directors of the Company are
set out on pages 15 to 22 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company without fixed term. Each of
the executive Directors may receive a discretionary bonus,
the amount of which will be determined by the Board of
Directors as its absolute discretion having regard to the
operation results of the Company.

No Director of the Company proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not terminable by the
Company within one year without payment other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director of the Company had a significant beneficial
interest, either direct or indirect, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any its subsidiaries was a party at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2010.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. POON Lai Yin,
Michael, Mr. CHONG Yiu Chik, and Mr. CHOI Kai Ming,
Raymond, an annual confirmation of their independence
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors of the Company
and the highest paid individuals of the Group are set out
in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period are set out
in Note 48 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Details of the related party and connected party
transactions are set out in Note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are
determined by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Part XV of the SFO) (1) which are required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to

HEHEAREER
BEMEHREBEZFBERES
A8TIE

BERS
BEATRGRBER G ZFHBEREE MR
R FEASHIE, -

BB RERNE

HEBR

ARBIEZZME IREBEARR ZEEESE
1lAi‘%£%&Tttfm%§ﬂFEE%ﬁ@1§ BEETE -

ARmEERROREBRDOER R

R-B—ZFF+-_A=1t—H ARAIZES
jZEEﬁEAU\EaEAK AR HRAB AR (E&
RBESMAEGRGIEXVED) B - HERND

REZ R EB(NREE S KIS RE EXVED
7 R8N B AME AN N B B 2 #E 28 Kok
B Q)AL ARE: M#&HM?{MW%%ZM

Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests BRINEZDHOER AR - sSG)IRE L1 rh
or short positions which they were taken or deemed NAEEBET M%X%Eﬁ@ TE'J ([1F4£
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (2) which A1) MBEBAARAG R Em kAR ZZD
are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be TS ¢
entered in the register referred to therein; or (3) which
are required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (“Model
Code"”) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:
Number of
Number of Shares held options held
Fris RS A FrisERES A Approximate
Personal Corporate Personal percentage of
Interest Interest Interest Total  shareholding
Name of Director BEEfF AR AL 32 AR By RREAEHL
Ms. XIA Dan (Note) XIA DanZz £ (Fi13%) = 79,500,000 3,500,000 83,000,000 9.74
Mr. Chen Xian RELE - - 3,500,000 3,500,000 0.41
Mr. LAU Sai Chung e 148,000 - 3,352,000 3,500,000 0.41
Mr. Xong Jianrui B RR e - - 3,500,000 3,500,000 041
Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael EEBEE - - 200,000 200,000 0.02
Mr. Choi Kai Ming, Raymond -4 il - - 348,000 348,000 0.04
Mr. Chong Yiu Chik HREEE - - 348,000 348,000 0.04
Mr. Tsim Sze Hon (resigned on At (KW-E-F£
27 October 2010) TH=TtEEHE) - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.23
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Note: Ms. Xia Dan (“Ms. Xia"”) is taken to be interested in
79,500,000 shares held by Mega Edge International Limited
which is 100% owned by Ms. Xia. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
Xia is deemed to have interest of the Shares held by Mega
Edge International Limited.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2010, none
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company
nor their associates had any interest or short position in
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations which were recorded in
the register required to be kept under 352 of the SFO or
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders

At 31 December 2010, so far as was known to the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) has interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register of substantial
shareholder required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

(i) Long position in ordinary shares

Report of Directors
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MsE © Xia DanZzd=( [XiaZz 4= |) #R A¥E B Mega Edge
International LimitedfT ¥ /&79,500,000/% 2~
100%#E % o IRIFEFH REE G - Xiak TR
AEAMega Edge International LimitedZ &z
P2l o
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Approximate

percentage

of total

Capacity and Number of issued ordinary

Substantial Shareholder nature of interest shares held shares

HERT

il EBERHBEFZ

FERR B R RS RH BB BAOB G
Mega Edge International Limited (note) Registered Shareholder

Mega Edge International Limited (Mf5E) FFRA% B 79,500,000 9.33%
Mr. Chak Joaquim Emilio Kin Man Registered Shareholder

RRERSAE AR ER 96,824,000 11.36%
Ms. Wong Sio Leng Registered Shareholder

BAWRLL FEMASER 115,000,000 13.50%
Mr. Ho Man Hung Registered Shareholder

Al U o A AR 226,800,000 26.62%
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(i)

Note:

Mega Edge International Limited, which is 100%
owned by Ms. Xia Dan, an executive Director of the
Company. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Xia is deemed
to have interest of Shares held by Mega Edge
International Limited.

Mzt : ARFZHITESXia DanX + M Mega
Edge International Limited# & 100% &
TR o BIBEFFREIAE GG - Xiak
TR A% EMega Edge International
Limited 2 & & 122 il # o

Long position in underlying shares

(i) RHEERG < #a

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Capacity and underlying shares total issued
Name nature of interest held ordinary shares
HERT
FrisAEER EERAEHZ
£ SO REREE RHEE BARML
Preference shares:
ELRRL -
Weina (BVI) Limited (“Weina") (note 1) Beneficial owner
Weina (BVI) Limited ([ 2% 1) (FizE1) EnkEE 115,789,474 13.59%
Weina Group Limited (“Weina Group”) (note 2)  Interest of a controlled corporation
KHEEBRAR ([RBER]) (F:F2) REHIAR 2 115,789,474 13.59%
Mr. TSIM Wing Kong (“Mr. Tsim") (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation
Bttt (T&EED (ME2) RIEHIAR 2 s 115,789,474 13.59%
Best Contact Holdings Limited Beneficial owner
("Best Contact”) (note 1 and 2)
Best Contact Holdings Limited ExBAE
(IBest Contact) (H¥3¥1%2) 242,105,263 28.42%
Mr. Xu Deliang (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation
Xu DeliangZt 4 (FEE2) Rt VNI 242,105,263 28.42%
Convertible bonds:
AJRES -
Zilver Yuan Investment Partners Ltd. Interest of a controlled corporation
(“Zilver Yuan") (note 3)
FTRERR A ([H]T]) (EE3) RSB R E 2w 271,186,440 31.83%
Bank of China Group Investment Interest of a controlled corporation
Limited (“BOCGI") (note 3)
PREBREFRAA SRR
([PREERE]) (F:E3) 271,186,440 31.83%
Bank of China Limited (“BOC") (note 3) Interest of a controlled corporation
REFITROARDE ([RERT]) (FHF3) SESAF 2 ER 271,186,440 31.83%
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Beneficial owner
("Huijin”) (note 3)
FRESREAREEANA EnBEAE
(T2 1) (Ff5E3) 271,186,440 31.83%

China Uptown Group Company Limited R Fi 5B AR /A7) o Annual Report 2010 &3



Notes:

The Company entered into a subscription and
option agreement on 26 May 2006 with Weina and
through such agreement and the exercise of option
by the Company, Weina is interested in 350,000,000
convertible redeemable preference shares of the
Company and has the right to convert the aforesaid
shares in 350,000,000 Shares (based on its initial
conversion price). On 2 June 2009, the Company and
Weina entered into a first supplemental agreement to
extend the conversion period for the aforesaid shares
for a further 12 months from the expiry date of the
conversion period under the subscription and option
agreement. By a second supplemental agreement
dated 23 October 2009, the conversion period
shall be extended automatically for a period of 12
months with effect from each expiry date of the said
conversion period unless (i) Weina serves a written
notice on the Company notifying its intention of not
extending the said conversion period for a further 12
months not later than 7 days prior to the expiry date
of the said conversion period, and (i) the Company
agrees not to extend the said conversion period for
a further 12 months upon receiving such notice.
It is also agreed that the convertible redeemable
preference shares shall become transferable. On
25 May 2010, Weina transferred 225,000,000
convertible redeemable preference shares to Best
Contact. On 31 August 2010, Weina further
transferred 50,000,000 convertible redeemable
preference shares to certain individuals. On 17
March 2011, Weina further transferred 75,000,000
convertible redeemable preference shares to Best
Contact.

Moreover, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement on 17 November 2006
with Weina Holdings Limited and through such
agreement, Weina (as designated by Weina Holdings
Limited) is interested in 110,000,000 convertible
redeemable preference A shares of the Company
and has the right to convert the aforesaid preference
A shares into 110,000,000 Shares. Weina Group
Limited owns the entire issued share capital of Weina
and is therefore deemed to have interests in the
underlying Shares in which Weina is interested. By
a supplemental agreement dated 23 October 2009,
the conversion period for the aforesaid preference
A shares is extended for a further 12 months from
the expiry date of the conversion period; the said
conversion period shall be extended automatically for
a period of 12 months with effect from each expiry
date of the said conversion period unless (i) Weina
serves a written notice on the Company notifying
its intention of not extending the said conversion
period for a further 12 months not later than 7
days prior to the expiry date of the said conversion
period, and (ii) the Company agrees not to extend
the said conversion period for a further 12 months
upon receiving such notice. It is also agreed that
the convertible redeemable preference A shares

W
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shall become transferable. On 25 May 2010, Weina
transferred 5,000,000 convertible redeemable
preference A shares to Best Contact. On 31 August
2010, Weina further transferred 70,000,000
convertible redeemable preference A shares to
certain individuals. On 17 March 2011, Weina further
transferred 35,000,000 convertible redeemable
preference A shares to Best Contact.

In accordance with the terms and conditions of
the convertible redeemable preference shares and
the convertible redeemable preference A shares,
the conversion price of the convertible redeemable
preference shares and the convertible redeemable
preference A shares will be adjusted as a result of
the issue of the Convertible Bonds. The calculation
of the shareholding structure above is based on the
adjusted conversion price, which will only be effective
upon the completion of the issue of the convertible
bonds on 1 December 2010.

Weina Group Limited owns the entire issued share
capital of Weina and is therefore deemed to have
interests in the underlying Shares in which Weina
is interested. Mr. Tsim Wing Kong is deemed to be
interested in the underlying Shares by virtue of his
controlling interest in Weina Group Limited. Mr. Tsim
Wing Kong is the father of Mr. Tsim Sze Hon, an
executive Director.

Best Contact is legally and beneficially owned
by Mr. Xu Deliang. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief and having
made all reasonable enquiries, Mr. Xu Deliang
is an independent third party of the substantial
Shareholders and Directors.

On 19 September 2010, the Company entered
into a subscription agreement with Zilver Yuan and
through such agreement and the exercise of the
conversion right of the convertible bonds, Zilver Yuan
is interested in 271,186,440 shares of the company
(based on its initial conversion price). The subscription
is completed and the convertible bonds are issued on
1 December 2010.

Zilver Yuan is 100% owned by BOCGI and BOCGI is
100% owned by BOC. Huijin owned 67.53% capital
of BOC. Accordingly, Huijin, BOC, BOCGI are deemed
to be interested in the relevant convertible bonds
issued by the Company to Zilver Yuan.

On 3 December 2010, the Company entered into
an acquisition agreement with Seaton Limited and
through such agreement and the exercise of the
conversion right of the convertible bonds, Seaton
Limited is interested in 283,425,754 shares of the
company (based on its initial conversion price). The
acquisition was completed and the convertible bonds
were issued on 1 March 2011.
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Seaton Limited is 100% owned by Leading Front
Limited and Leading Front Limited is 100% owned
by Mr. Ho Man Hung. Accordingly, Mr. Ho Man
Hung and Leading Front Limited are deemed to be
interested in the relevant convertible bonds issued by
the Company to Seaton Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no person had registered interest
in the share capital of the Company that was required to
be disclosed under Division 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the
SFO and the Listing Rules.

Save for the shareholders as disclosed herein, the Directors
are not aware of any persons, who, at 31 December 2010,
were entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 5%
or more of the voting power at the general meeting of
the Company and were also, a practicable matter, able to
direct or influence the management of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted on 20 January
2003 and terminated on 30 November 2009, (the “Old
Scheme”). A new share option scheme was adopted by
the shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 30 November 2009 (the
“New Scheme”). The purpose of the New Scheme is to
enable the Company to grant share options to participants
who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have made or
may make contribution to the Group or any invested entity
as well as to provide incentives and help to the Group in
retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional
employees and to provide them with a direct interest in
attaining the long term business objectives of the Group.
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Particulars of the movement of the options held by each of HE_Z—ZTF+_A=1+—HLEFER B
the Directors, the employees of the Company in aggregate BEAELRFAERTAARIESREEZHE
granted under the Old Scheme and New Scheme during IR - FEHIIWT

the year ended 31 December 2010, were as follows:

Number of share options
BREXA
Exercise Held at Granted Held at
price 1 January during 31 December
Category of participants Date of grant Exercise period per share 2010 the year 2010
R
R 2t 22
“¥-BF t=A
BRERH -B-H RERA =t-A
BEA R¥AH T8 T8 2] B KA
HKS
BT
Share options granted under
the 0ld Scheme
REFETRE 2 BRE
Mr. Chen Xian
REXE 21.8.2009 21.8.2009 - 20.8.2012 118 3,500,000 - 3,500,000
Mr. Lau Sai Chung
AtBEE 21.8.2009 21.8.2009 - 20.8.2012 118 3,352,000 - 3,352,000
Mr. Xiong Jianrui
RlR A 21.8.2009 21.8.2009 - 20.8.2012 118 3,500,000 = 3,500,000
Ms. Xia Dan
Xia Dan®{ 21.8.2009 21.8.2009 - 20.8.2012 118 3,500,000 - 3,500,000
Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael
BRELE 21.8.2009 21.8.2009 - 20.8.2012 118 200,000 - 200,000
Mr. Choi Kai Ming, Raymond
BT 21.8.2009 21.8.2009 - 20.8.2012 118 348,000 - 348,000
Mr. Chong Yiu Chik
SRREE 21.8.2009 21.8.2009 - 20.8.2012 118 348,000 - 348,000
Mr. Tsim Sze Hon (Note)
Eamxt (M) 2182009 2182009 - 20.82012 1.18 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
Employee
[E8 21.8.2009 21.8.2009 - 20.8.2012 118 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Share options granted under
the New Scheme
AT T R 2 B E
Other eligible participants
R B2 S 19.2.2010 19.2.2010-18.2.2013 0.88 - 10,000,000 10,000,000
Total 17,948,000 10,000,000 27,948,000
A4

[ZPA
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Note: Mr. Tsim Sze Hon, who was an executive director of the
Company, resigned on 27 October 2010 but continued to be
employed as an employee of the Company. The share options
granted to Mr. Tsim on 21 August 2009 have therefore not
been cancelled.

On 19 February 2010, the Company granted 10,000,000
share option to the eligible participants at a subscription
price of HK$0.88.

At 31 December 2010, the total number of outstanding
share options under the Old Scheme and the New Scheme
were 17,948,000 share options and 10,000,000 share
options respectively.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE COMPANY'’S
SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions
in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief
executives of the Company or their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe
for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

No Director or the management shareholders of the
Company and their respective associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) had interests in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in
the Listing Rules, during the year and up to the date of
this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Company has complied throughout the year ended 31
December 2010 with the Code of Best Practice (the
“Code") as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge or its Directors as
at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the requirements as
set out in the Listing Rules for the purposes of reviewing
and supervising the financial reporting process and internal
controls of the Group. The audit committee currently
comprises Mr. POON Lai Yin, Michael (Chairman), Mr.
CHONG Yiu Chik and Mr. CHOI Kai Ming, Raymond.
The audit committee has reviewed and discussed with
the management and the external auditors the financial
reporting matters including the annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

AUDITORS

A resolution for the re-appointment of SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited as auditors of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On Behalf of the Board

CHEN Xian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2011
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F, The Lee Gardens

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

feksPda

Shc‘ne‘ZOan

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Uptown Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 48 to 166, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2010, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
eV 73 CIE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and
to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

BBE N EE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
vE VR 73 G S

OPINION BR

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a BMRE ZESSEAUERRCEETSTE
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at WELENEEMAFHRE EEBER_F—
31 December 2010 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows TEE+A=Z+—H®ONEBRRL k& E5E
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong HEZBLEFENEBEERRSRE  YEER
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly BAERNIMEAINBER L ARS -

prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited BXPM (BR) SFMEBMERLA
Certified Public Accountants HEEI A

Ip Yu Chak BEnE

Practising Certificate Number: P04798 HEFBEIE - P04798

Hong Kong 0

28 March 2011 —E——%=A-+/\H
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEZEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2010

BE-_ZT-—TF+-_A=1+—HILFE

1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-EF —ETNF
—HA—HZ +tA—RB=
—E-EF —ETNF
+=A=+t—-H +=-A=+—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FitsE AR®TR ARBTFT
Turnover SRR 9 328,080 140,120
Cost of sales HHERA (377,729) (134,826)
Gross (loss) profit E (B A (49,649) 5,294
Other operating income HAib @A 9 6,384 7,684
Change in fair value of investment REWMERRE
properties 2 E) 18 11,634 6,826
Change in fair value of convertible AR ESFAAE
bonds 2 &g 14,860 -
Selling and distribution costs HE &5 SHRCAR (10,922) (194)
Administrative expenses 1THER (30,816) (11,131)
Equity-settled share-based payment ARERR A58 2 DARR (7
expenses RERZ AL 40 (4,315) (10,063)
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEAMHEERE
investment Z B8 21(0) — (67,699)
Loss on debt restructuring BEREAEE 32 (18,049) -
Reversal of impairment loss recognised & 5 fi& Y BR 7% i FE32
in respect of trade receivables ZBEEERE - 10,629
Reversal of bad debts directly written off 122 K & = #i BR ¢ 3] - 4,794
Finance costs BTSN 11 (27,040) (7,918)
Loss before taxation BR Bt A BT 1R (107,913) (61,778)
Income tax credit (expense) FRASRUA (2 ) 12 46,494 (2,070)
Loss for the year/period FE HAEE 13 (61,419) (63,848)
Exchange differences arising on PSENCRNCTE 303
translation of financial statements WEREERELZRE
of foreign operations and total REE /HRHAM
other comprehensive expenses PEX HAERE
for the year/period 5,823 (129)
Total comprehensive expenses FE/HAEE
for the year/period X LR (55,596) (63,977)
Loss for the year/period attributable to: /& EARFE(EEIE -
Owners of the parent ERAT A A (30,853) (63,167)
Non-controlling interests FEFE I 1 e (30,566) (681)
(61,419) (63,848)
Total comprehensive expenses for FE/BHAEE
the year/period attributable to: AR EE G
Owners of the parent ERARIZHER A (25,030) (63,296)
Non-controlling interests FEVE I 1 M 2 (30,566) (681)
(55,596) (63,977)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted BEXRREE 14 RMB3.62 cents RMB10.30 cents

AR®3.621L

AR#10.301




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BER R R

At 31 December 2010
R_E—ZFF+_A=+—H

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E2-ZF —EThF —ETNEF
+=A=+—H +t=-—A=+—H +A—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BRE AR®T T AREF T ARETIT
(Restated) (Restated)
(#eE5) (#eE5)
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment #)2 - #28 K& 17 34,315 36,985 37,669
Investment properties EYHE 18 183,830 236,206 167,765
Prepaid lease payments HETENFIR 19 246 252 55
Goodwill FEES 20 184,231 184,231 -
Available-for-sale investments — aJftHHEHRE 21 - — -
402,622 457,674 205,689 ‘
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 22 12,701 = =
Properties under development fEZ4)Z 23 737,095 376,259 -
Properties held for sale FEYE 24 129,220 281,626 -
Trade and other receivables B REMBEWKEER 25 42,265 139,313 14,887
Prepaid lease payments METRRNFKIEA 19 6 6 6
Held-to-maturity investments — #8Z 3| HIRE 26 - - =
Held-for-trading investments B EX SR®BZIEE 27 1,211 510 565
Restricted bank deposits BEIRSI$BR1T1ER 28 32,776 - -
Bank balances and cash IRITETFE RIS 29
— pledged — BHEH - 12,609 12,584
— unpledged — mEH 123,028 148,905 13,289
1,078,302 959,228 41,331
Assets classified as held DERFHEHEE
for sale 2BE 30 10,200 - -
1,088,502 959,228 41,331
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 NEMmERERRK 31 401,808 333,757 55,837
Provision for claims ZERHE 32 - 60,700 60,700
Income tax payable FERTFR1S AR 945 36,813 -
Bank borrowings RITER 33 35,936 116,873 118,757
438,689 548,143 235,294
Net current assets RBEE (AR
(liabilities) R 649,813 411,085 (193,963)
1,052,435 868,759 11,726
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

At 31 December 2010
R-ZE—ZEF+-_A=+—H

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-=F —ETNEF —EThEF
+=A=+—H +=-A=1+—H +H—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥T T ARET T ARET T
(Restated) (Restated)
(&&75)) (&&&:7)
Capital and reserves R R & E
Ordinary share capital B A AL A 35 81,232 81,232 44,031
Convertible redeemable Al &R Al fE (o]
preference shares BIh% 36 184,653 184,653 184,653
Reserves HE 65,847 86,562 (216,958)
Equity attributable to owners X AT 2 A A
of the parent JEfh M= 331,732 352,447 11,726
Non-controlling interests Bkl y Ty 154,733 299,574 -
Total equity EREEE 486,465 652,021 11,726
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank borrowings RITER 33 350,000 - -
Convertible bonds AR E S 34 184,391 = =
Consideration payable FERRAEB 37 - 143,097 —
Deferred taxation RAEFIA 38 31,579 73,641 =
565,970 216,738 -
1,052,435 868,759 11,726

The consolidated financial statements on pages 48 to 166
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 28 March 2011 and are signed on its behalf
by:

Mr. Chen Xian
RELEE
Director

EE

FABE166AZIRAVMBHRERN _ZE——F =
A+t N\BEESS# A NMRERZE  THT
EERERERE

Mr. Lau Sui Chung
2B KL
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREEX

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRATZERS B
Convertible
Ordinary redeemable Share  Exchange Non-
share Share  preference Capital  options translation ~ General Accumulated controlling
capital  premium shares  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total interests Total
&k
ki) Fsi
LERERA  RAEE BiR ERHE BRERE RERR -REE  ZiEE #g Bi &g
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETL ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETI
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(Miika) (P3E(0)
At 1 July 2009 RZZZNELA-A 44,031 29414 184,653 13,841 362 (5,867) 5309 (260,017) 11,726 - 11,726
Loss for the period and total HREERZE
comprehensive expenses FxEE - - - - - (129) - (63167 (63.29) (681)  (63977)
Acquired on acquisition of YEHBAR
subsidiaries (Note 39) (Hi339) = - - - - - - - - 30025 300,255
Issue of shares upon L3
- settlement of considerationin - REENEHEAR/
respect of acquisition of AHHEREIRE
subsidiaries/available-for-sale
investments 31113 356,478 - - - - - - 393591 - 393591
- exercise of share options - {1l RE 88 925 - - (362) - - - 651 - 651
- transactions costs attrbutable  — BERG 2 LA
toissue of shares - (288) - - - - - - (288) - (288)
Recognition of equity-settled share  WARERAE 2 MIRIA A2
based payments (Note 40) B (H3k40) - - - - 10083 - - - 10083 - 10083
Transfers a2 - - - - - - 578 (578) - - -
At 31 December 2009 RZZBAET-A=t-F 81232 386,529 184,653 13,841 10,063 (5,99) 5887  (323762) 352447 299,574 652,021
Loss for the year and total AEEFEREE
comprehensive expenses BXEE - - - - - 5823 - (308%3) (250300  (30566)  (55,59)
Recognition of equity-settled  HEREEZURHRER
share based payments AR (HEE40)
(Note 40) - - - - 4315 - - - 4315 - 4315
Dividends paid to non-controlling 31 FHE A 24
interests of a subsidiary ERRE - - - - - - - - - (114275 (114275)
Transfers g3 = = - - - - 3,600 (3,600) - - -
At 31 December 2010 RZZ-ZF+-B=t-H 81232 386509 184653 13,841 14378 (173) 9487 (358215 331,732 154733 486,465
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEREREER

For the year ended 31 December 2010

HE—

Notes:

(a)

T-TEI A= —HILEE

The capital reserve represents the effect of the reorganisation
of the Group through which the Company became the
holding company of all group companies comprising the
Group and capitalisation of the shareholders’ loans by a
subsidiary.

As stipulated by regulations in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC"), certain subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10% of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior
year losses) to a general reserve fund until the balance of the
fund reaches 50% of its registered capital and thereafter any
further appropriation is optional. The general reserve fund
can be utilised to offset prior year losses, or for conversion
into registered capital on the condition that the general
reserve fund shall be maintained at a minimum of 25% of
the registered capital after such utilisation.

(b)

ERFBEAASERER (AR ERH MK AE
RAEE 2 MBARERRZZERAR) Ri§—FH
MERRZAIRRERENCAEE ZFE °

R EARAME ([HE]) ERRE - XER
MEBRARANREGRREEN (REHBEFEL
E1R) RBH10% A —RERE - BEEZFHEE
EHEMERZ50% @ fHER ZERAARER
B - —RFEFHES AT REEEREFE ZEE -
HEEFMER - MEFEFLRFERR - —K
EEER DR EMER25% 2 KF °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AN o~ —1
=] EE%/)":E‘%%
For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-BF —BENEF
—A—HZE tA—HZE
—EB-EF —EENEF
+=A=+—-B +=A=t+-—
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
(Restated)
(gE5)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KT
Loss before taxation BRTRIEE (107,913) (61,778)
Adjustments for: A EEIEE -
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments MHETB IR H 6 3
Change in fair value of convertible bonds ?ﬁ‘ﬂxfﬁﬁz’&fﬁfﬁﬁ@ (14,860) -
Change in fair value of held-for-trading ﬁtﬂi %ﬁﬁﬁz}x
investments N EEE (736) 55
Change in fair value of investment Txﬁ%%@fﬁ%
properties B8 (11,634) (6,826)
Depreciation of property, plant and ERR: I G
equipment ZIE 2,023 1,066
Discount received on early settlement MR EERNRE
of consideration payable WB.Z 4 (4,704) -
Equity-settled share based payment g s S 2 RS B
expenses EROZRAX 4,315 10,063
Finance costs BTSN 27,040 7,918
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEMF - MR RRE
equipment Z W (50) =
Impairment loss recognised in respect of BIEHE M
properties held for sale Z BB 28,600 =
Impairment loss recognised in respect of E Z R
trade receivables Z R EEE 1,811 7
Impairment loss recognised in respect of H A PRI AR X
other receivables Z BB - 1,052
Interest income FEIA (487) (420)
Loss on debt restructuring BEI5EE 7 8 18,049 S
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHEERE
investment Z BB - 67,699
Reversal of bad debts directly written off i&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁhﬂlﬁﬁﬁf@ - (4,794)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised B2 RE
in respect of inventories J?fé B e (372) (269)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised H b W AR 2 BB
in respect of other receivables gt = (176)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised B 5) I Y AR 3K T e aR
in respect of trade receivables REE B - (10,629)
Waiver of trade payables R (E ﬁz,\%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ - (6,576)
Operating cash flows before movements qu#EL )i
in working capital %fﬁﬁmui (58,912) (3,605)
(Increase) decrease in inventories ﬁ?éi (1) md (12,329) 269
Increase in properties under development E@W%tﬁﬂﬂ (351,314) (1,859)
Decrease in properties held for sales FEVER D 175,906 27,174
(Increase) decrease in trade and other B 5 & E M U AR R
receivables (3&40) (15,790) 11,743
Increase (decrease) in trade and other B 5 NEMENIER
payables Zan Opi ) 185,005 (57,607)
Payment for provision for claim REBBE IR (60,700) -
Cash used in operations §f£xﬁ@72£ﬁimtﬂ (138,134) (23,885)
Enterprise income tax paid BT EME (18,869) -
Land appreciation tax paid Eﬁj:i’@ifﬁﬁ (1,139) (405)
Withholding tax paid EA TR (11,428) -
NET CASH USED IN REFHRENHFH
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (169,570) (24,290)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2010
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HE-_Z-—ZF+_-_A=+—HILFE
1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-EF —TTNF
—A—HBZE +tH—H=E
—E-ZF ZETNF
SVIES N -— 5 =1+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
LiEss AR®T T ARETT
(Restated)
($e&E7)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETER
Payment of consideration payables ENRENR (102,879) —
Increase in restricted bank deposits AR HIER TS AN (32,776) =
Purchase of property, =R /E S 3
plant and equipment P (109) (89)
Decrease (increase) in pledged BEIRHIRITER
bank deposits 2 (380) 12,609 21)
Interest received F B A 487 420
Proceeds from sales of property, HEE - &%ﬁ%&
plant and equipment RABPE T 100 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash W EEH B A (H&ﬁﬁ
and cash equivalents acquired) Ziﬁ%&fﬁ/\ﬁfﬁ
ST 39 - 161,762
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REZFHZHE (RE)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RAFE (122,568) 162,072
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
New bank borrowings raised FTIIRITE R 355,100 24,640
Proceeds from issue of convertible BITR AR (E S
bonds Fr8 k1A 136,000 -
Transaction costs arising from the issue ﬁT?ﬁﬂxﬁ#Ei
of convertible bonds ZRGE (3,500) -
Dividend paid to non-controlling iﬁ%#? il M A
interests 3 (114,275) -
Repayment of bank borrowings 1;1%%&17%@\ (83,734) (26,535)
Interest paid BRI (22,356) (642)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares (T BT S HOE - 651
Transaction costs paid attributable BT EEZ
to issue of shares BRI ZA - (288)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) BMETEH2RERA
FINANCING ACTIVITIES () F5 267,235 (2,174)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH HB&NBHE&ZHEHIER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2 (Rid) & inFEE (24,903) 135,608
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ERSH I E
RATE CHANGES (974) 8
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RE "HYz2RER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE HeEEER
YEAR/PERIOD 148,905 13,289
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RE HIRZ2EER
AT THE END OF THE YEAR/PERIOD, RE&ZEEHHSP
represented by bank balances BERITEERRE
and cash 123,028 148,905




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1.  GENERAL

China Uptown Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempt
company with limited liability. The shares of the Company
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company changed its financial reporting year end date
from 30 June to 31 December with effect from the year
ended 31 December 2009 in order to align its financial
year ended date with its subsidiaries which operate in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") whereby the
Group's subsidiaries have their financial year end date
on 31 December. The consolidated financial statements
for the current year cover the twelve months ended 31
December 2010. The corresponding comparative amounts
shown for the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity,
consolidated statement of cash flows and related notes
to the consolidated financial statements cover the six
months period from 1 July 2009 to 31 December 2009
and therefore may not be comparable with the amounts
shown for the current year. The consolidated financial
statements do not correspond to the period covered by
the comparatives.

The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
established in Hong Kong is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$").
The functional currency of the subsidiaries established in
the PRC is Renminbi (“RMB"). For the presentation of the
consolidated financial statements, the Group adopted RMB
as its presentation currency.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
Note 46.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-—ZFT_A=+—HILFE

1. —REB

E R EEARAR ([ARAT]) HRESE
ENMEY Y RREERAT - EROESE
BMARBHARAT ((BRAH]) £ e

AEHEPEARLNE ([FREH]) L2 2B A
R BREFHER (RAEBRBRR 27
WEEEBAT-_A=1+—08) B —% " K
NAIZMEREFEEBHCHNA=THEERA
+—A=+—8 B-_ZEZNF+=_A=+—
BIEFERER AEELEEVBERRAESEH
22— ZTF+_-_A=+—Bi+=—@A - ®
METENER SREAERERXR HKelRe
MERKGAEVBHRERMBENGZE EZ25 2 BE
R FRERA _ZETENFLA—HE_EZ
NE+_A=+—HItNEA  AULFIREE
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ARRZAMPER N EBREXR MU B NAF
WA [RAER] —EHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)/CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised standards and interpretations (“new and
revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA").

HKFRSs Amendments to HKFRSs as part of
(Amendments) Improvements to HKFRS 2009

HKFRS 1 Additional Exemptions for
(Amendments) First-time Adopters

Hong Kong Group Cash-settled Share-based
Accounting Payment Transactions

Standard (“HKAS")
2 (Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) — Presentation of Financial
Interpretation Statements — Classification
("INT") 5 by the Borrower of a Term Loan

that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

Except as disclosed below, the adoption of the new
and revised HKFRSs has had no material effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
current or prior accounting periods.

Amendments to HKAS 17 — Leases

As part of improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009,
HKAS 17 “Leases” has been amended in relation to the
classification of leasehold land. Before the amendments
to HKAS 17, the Group was required to classify leasehold
land as operating leases and to present leasehold land
as prepaid lease payments in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The amendments to HKAS 17 have
removed such a requirement. The amendments require
the classification of leasehold land should be based on
the general principles set out in HKAS 17, that is whether
or not substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of a leased asset have been transferred to the
lessee.

2. ERAHIREBIEBUBRSE
R ((BEMBREEN]) &
ATBURE B

RER AEBCEB/ATEL SIS

(TEAESEAE]) B 2] REERT %
i ([HE] BRI EAMBREER])

o

\

o\

BAEMBHMEEN BEVHEHREENZE
CHEN) Al EREE—ZTA

i%ﬁ\?%ﬁﬁ‘% R R 2
BB REZER Em%ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ?l\ A
F15% (BFIA)
&8 Enjrgﬁ'J EBEURESEEURN
([BFgTER]) [#f2X5

F£25% (BFTAR)

7l

76 (BARMBHRE MHERRIEHR—EX
aEZBg)- HEBREREEKRK

278 (R1F) B5% S AMERT S

A

R NICPTatsh - BRAFN T MR ER] BB M B,
HEEQ I E N AN EE AR TA ST AW
BHRREKERMERTE -

BB B ERIE17HIEET R —FHE

ER-_ETNFROEEM B HRE LR 2
H—8n ZEESAENETRIEE] O
ii‘Mﬂﬁ’“*ﬁf’Eﬁ{ 7] o BB R ERIE 175
[RE BT AREASLHHERERK
SHE  EFEAYHAREKAT L HEN S
HEBMNHIA - FE S ELE17TRIETAE
REMRERENK - BRI 1R - THHHEEKRR
TRt BB 17RO —RRAEKER - R
F- BT S A B AT G R AR RE A 48 KB o0 L A R
B DR T AEA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)/CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (Contd)

Amendments to HKAS 17 — Leases (Cont’d)

In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in
the amendments to HKAS 17, the Group reassessed the
classification of unexpired leasehold land at 1 January
2010 based on the information that existed at the
inception of these leases. Leasehold land that qualifies
for finance lease classification has been reclassified from
prepaid lease payments to property, plant, and equipment
retrospectively. This resulted in prepaid lease payments with
the carrying amounts of approximately RMB17,811,000
and RMB17,623,000 at 1 July 2009 and 31 December
2009 respectively being reclassified to property, plant and
equipment.

At 31 December 2010, leasehold land that qualifies for
finance lease classification with the carrying amount of
approximately RMB16,645,000 has been included in
property, plant and equipment. The application of the
amendments to HKAS 17 has had no impact on the
reported profit or loss for the current and prior years.

INT 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

INT 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause clarifies that term loans that
include a clause that gives the lender the unconditional
right to call the loans at any time (“repayment on demand
clause”) should be classified by the borrower as current
liabilities. The Group has applied INT 5 for the first time in
the current year. INT 5 requires retrospective application.

In order to comply with the requirements set out in
INT 5, the Group has changed its accounting policy on
classification of mortgage loans with a repayment on
demand clause. In the past, the classification of such
mortgage loans were determined based on the agreed
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
Under INT 5, mortgage loans with a repayment on
demand clause are classified as current liabilities in the
consolidation of statement of financial position.

e PR EwR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-—ZFT_A=+—HILFE

2. ERAHIRKETEEMBRE
ER ((BEMBHREEN]) &
STBREE (7

BB EEERIFE 1755 165T K — HE (&)

BIEBEBESTEFEI17TRETNFH 2 BEM
B AEBREBESARERMBOELRER
EZ2ER R-E—ZTF—A—BEHIEZ
TRz LR 2D - FEREHERR
Rt EEPREFHAERNRESEE
WE - BELERE - At RZZEZNLF LA
—BR-ETZhAF+-_A=+—R8 HEEH
REMBEEESY DL ARE17,811,0007T &
AR¥E17,623,0007T D 2B R % - BB K& o

R-E—FTF+_A=+—H FEAREHRE
HplcHELH  BEEME  BELARHEA
REREEL A& ARE16,645,0007T ° IRIBEHH
ST EAFB17IREI A ZEAY REAFE K
TFEZERTERRENEATE -

RRESRUYBEHKXZZH —EHAHEEK
ERERIFAZ BHERZ TH

REESHRVBBRERIER - EXAHESE
ZREBRGRZBHER 2D REBEBERAR
A R T R A B AR R A m] BE B KRB R
ERZ X ([MBREREREGER]) 2RBEKT
RRBEE - AKRECRAFEERNERARE
F55% - REFSHABPEM -

REERBESHAHAZIRTE  ARECEND
BEARRERBEZGRZRBERZ TR
R BERRARBER 2D BIIREBEHNER
A ERAEERBHRETE - RIEZREES
% ABRERERBERIRBERDNEGS
MBI R NI BRBEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)/CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (Contd)

As a result, bank loans that contain a repayment on
demand clause with the aggregate carrying amounts
of approximately RMB11,679,000 and RMB11,279,000
have been reclassified from non-current liabilities to
current liabilities at 31 December 2009 and 1 July
2009 respectively. At 31 December 2010, bank loans
(that are repayable more than one year after the end
of the reporting period but contain a repayment on
demand clause) with the aggregate carrying amount of
approximately RMB11,866,000 have been classified as
current liabilities. The application of INT 5 has had no
impact on the reported profit or loss for the current and
prior years.

Such term loans have been presented in the earliest time
band in the maturity analysis for financial liabilities (see
Note 7 for details).

Summary of the effects of the above changes in
accounting policies

The effects of the above changes in accounting policies on
the financial positions of the Group as at 1 July 2009 and
31 December 2009 is as follows:

At 1 July 2009

2. ERMAIRESITETRUBRSE
R ([BEBMBHEE] &
sTERRBE ()

Hit - AFRERERGERMEALENAA

R #1 1 679 0007t & A R ¥11,279,0007T 2
RITERES IR _EENF+_A=+—8H
&_?Thitﬂ BEREERBEEEHHDE
ArnEgaf R_TE—ZFF+_A= + Sp

ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%’é*@@ﬂ%fﬂﬁbﬁ“& & H1%
2 —FREBHIRTT ﬁiﬁﬁz/\ﬁfﬁ%
11,866,0007T ° W% %“"*”5%1?&;%%&

FHRMEREZBKETE -
EUKaBEINSHESNP  ZEEHERRE

ERRHBENZS (FRHET) -

AR B AR L

FERE

AEHBREBUAEEAR _FENFL A
—E&_§§n¢+_ﬂ_+ HZ B Akon
FEWNT

At 31 December 2009

R-ZEEAFtA—-A R=ZBBAF+ZA=1—-H
As originally As originally
stated Adjustments  Restated stated Adjustments  Restated
BEEZ7I RE REH  HUEEDN AR REJ|
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR%®TRT AR®TRT ARBTT ARBTR
Property, plant and WE - BE R
equipment 19,858 17,811 37,669 19,362 17,623 36,985
Prepaid lease payments MEBMARK 18,072 (17,811) 261 17,881 (17,623) 258
Bank borrowings — due BITER — —¢
within one year M2 107,478 11,279 118,757 105,194 11,679 116,873
Bank borrowings — due BITER-——F
after one year 1% 3IEA 11,279 (11,279) 11,679 (11,679)
Total effects on net assets ~ WEEFEZ 2
-7 156,687 - 156,687 154,116 - 154,116
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)/CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (Contd)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised standards and interpretations that have been issued
but not yet effective.

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued
(Amendments) in 2010 except for the
amendments to HKFRS 3
(Revised in 2008), HKFRS 7,
HKAS 1 and HKAS 28!

HKFRS 1 Limited Exemption from
(Amendment) Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosure for
First-time Adopters?
HKFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and
(Amendments) Removal of Fixed Dates
for First-time Adopters®
HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfers of
(Amendments) Financial Assets®
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’
HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of
(Amendments) Underlying Assets®
HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures?
(As revised in 2009)
HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues?
(Amendment)
HK(FRIC) — Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum
(Amendments) Funding Requirement*

HK (IFRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial
Liabilities with
Equity Instruments®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)/CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (Contd)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
or 1 January 2011, as appropriate.

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
2010.

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011.

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2011.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as issued in November
2009) introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (as revised in November 2010) adds
requirements for financial liabilities and for derecognition.

° Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are
subsequently measured at either amortised cost or
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent
accounting periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)/CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (Contd)

° In relation to financial liabilities, the significant
change relates to financial liabilities that are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities
that are designated as at fair value through profit or
loss, the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in
the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the presentation of
the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk
in other comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability's credit risk are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS 39, the
entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as at fair value through
profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors of the Company are in the process of
assessing the impact from the application of the new
standard on the results and the financial position of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)/CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (Contd)

The amendments to HKAS 12 titled Deferred Tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets mainly deal with the measurement of
deferred tax for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model in accordance with HKAS
40 Investment Property. Based on the amendments, for
the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for investment properties measured
using the fair value model the carrying amounts of the
investment properties are presumed to be recovered
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted in certain
circumstances. The directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of the amendments to HKAS 12 may
have a significant impact on deferred tax recognised for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model. Had the amendments been adopted for the
year ended 31 December 2010, the deferred tax liabilities
for investment properties at 31 December 2010 would
have decreased by approximately RMB16,833,000 (31
December 2009: RMB12,724,000) and the loss for the
year would decrease by approximately RMB4,168,000 (six
months ended 31 December 2009: RMB853,000).

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the results and the financial position
of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments, which are measured at
fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below. Historical cost is generally based on the value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year/period are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein.

China Uptown Group Company Limited F & Fi 5B AR /A7) o Annual Report 2010 3R

e PR EwR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-—ZFT_A=+—HILFE

3. EAEREXE

REMBRRIDBEELSIMASEMZE
B BERELERNRE - I HEMBHRRE
BT 2 LR A KB A R BHRBGIFT AR E
ZTERREE

REMBHRRIDBBEBERNENRE - HER
EMENETERTIARAAEFE (WX
SRTBRATERE) - EXRABEERN AR M

RRREHEN A AEIE -

EREBEREIIME -
meERE

REVBRREEAELARBRZANR R
ZER (HNBAR]) 2 BRE - EARAE
X —MERNMBEMEERE B
X715 AR RBERIRE -

RER/HBRBAREL ZIMBARES - &
WEERARERHEHELEM B (RE
RIBEAME) St GRS ZERER -

MEFE SHMBRAR ZMBHRRIELH
B FLHESHBREAKEEMKE QR
RAZ—8

SEHARRRZR S « &8 - WARER
SUR A M MRE BB -

KRB RB Z IFEFI B ARE 2 #E D
HEZIK



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to
non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. Prior to
1 January 2010, losses applicable to the non-controlling
interests in excess of the non-controlling interests in the
subsidiary’s equity were allocated against the interests of
the Group except to the extent that the non-controlling
interests had a binding obligation and were able to make
an additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

Acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition was
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
that meet the conditions for recognition were generally
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an
asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the
recognised amounts of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment,
the Group’s interest in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeds the cost of the acquisition, the excess
was recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The non-controlling interest in the acquiree is initially
measured at the non-controlling interest proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, if any, and
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the cash-generating units (or groups
of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently whenever there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit, and then to the other assets of the unit pro
rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s

statement of financial position at cost less any identified
impairment loss, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold land
and buildings held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes are stated
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful live using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
include land held for undetermined future use, which is
regarded as held for capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Investment properties (Cont’d)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

The Group transfers a property from investment properties
to properties held for sale when there is a change of
intention to sale the property in the ordinary course of
business rather than to hold the property to earn rentals
or/and for capital appreciation. The property is transferred
at fair value at the date of transfer.

Prepaid lease payments

Payment for obtaining land use rights is considered as
operating lease payment. Land use rights are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, amortisation is charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the
period of the rights using the straight-line method.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.

Cost comprises the costs of land use rights, construction
costs, borrowing costs capitalised and other direct
development expenditure.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs to
completion and applicable selling expenses.

On completion, the properties are transferred to properties
held for sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

Cost comprises the costs of land use rights, construction
costs, borrowing costs capitalised and other direct
development expenditure attributable to the unsold
properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of
business less all estimated selling expenses at the end of
the reporting period, or by management estimates based
on prevailing market conditions.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of
the four categories, including financial assets at fair
value through profit and loss, loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial
assets. All reqular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income
is included in net gains or losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

o it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising
from remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables
and pledged and unpledged bank balances and cash)
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. The Group
designated investments in a trust fund as held-to-maturity
investments. Subsequent to initial recognition,
held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
or held-to-maturity investments. The Group designated
investments in unlisted equity securities as available-for-sale
financial assets.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in reserve, until the financial asset is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see accounting policy
on impairment loss on financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted
equity instruments, they are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting
period (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through
profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency
in interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period and observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Impairment loss on financial assets (Cont’d)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
a trade and other receivable is considered uncollectible, it
is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to
profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Impairment loss on financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in other reserve. For available-for-sale
debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are
generally classified into financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and other financial liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liability classified as at fair value
through profit or loss, of which the interest expense is
included.

3. EXREFHEE#)

BEITR (&)
B LEREEE (&)

AL ERRRE 2 REBREINERNERYME
EIREABO - HRBEBREKEZAAEEN
HERNEMES RARR RN EME#EERE -
A EERIRE AR ERINEE L E2ER
MEBBRELEZFMHHERE > MeRNERED
EER

HEEENRATA

2 B0 B2 0T 9647 B 7 B 1 SR PR A T AL TV AR R
A 0REZ AR RIBEENRATAY
EEDE -

BATEARTANRAEBEELNGEMBR
ERCEBEENSES ZEMEH  AEEZH
BREMBERBAABIRARERGREEZ
MHABEkEMBHBEARG -

EEFFE

BERF XTI BRI 7 B A 8 5H AR R R I% A
FARAME D M B R IE - BRFXRITRE
BRENTEFHIGERNBE R - MR
BAFTRRIR S A EFIR o

MERXTDRERNEEERZR - BRlRAR
BIRMAEERREECTBAEDRE -

ma Uptown Group Company Limited & Fif%EB AR /AR o Annual Report 2010 &3



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
those designated at fair value through profit or loss on
initial recognition.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held-for-
trading may be designated as at fair value through profit
or loss upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

o the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising
on remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest paid on
the financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, bank borrowings and consideration payable
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Convertible bonds designated at fair value through profit
or loss

Convertible bonds issued by the Group (including related
embedded derivatives) are designated at fair value through
profit or loss on initial recognition. At the end of the
reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, the
entire convertible bonds are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

Convertible redeemable preference shares

Preference share capital is classified as equity if it is
non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the Company’s
option, and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends
on preference share capital are classified as equity and
recognised as distributions within equity.

Preference share capital is classified as a liability if it is
redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the
shareholders, or if dividend payments are not discretionary.
The liability is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
policy for interest-bearing borrowings and accordingly
dividends thereon are recognised on an accruals basis in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
part of finance costs.

For convertible preference shares which have a cumulative,
non-discretionary fixed dividend payable to the holders,
the fair value of the obligation to distribute the dividend is
recognised as liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and
not designated as at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the
higher of: (i) the amount determined in accordance with
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Derecognition (Cont’d)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in
its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option
to repurchase part of a transferred asset or retains a
residual interest that does not result in the retention of
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the
Group retains control), the Group allocates the previous
carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it
continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and
the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative
fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The
difference between the carrying amount allocated to
the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the
consideration received for the part no longer recognised
and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
allocated between the part that continues to be recognised
and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of
the relative fair values of those parts.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation.
Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect is
material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Impairment losses on tangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. If
the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is
highly probable and the non-current asset is available for
immediate sale in its present condition. Management must
be committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one from
the date of classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of their previous carrying value and fair value
less costs to sell.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or
less.

Bank deposits which are restricted to its use are included
in “restricted bank deposits”. Restricted bank deposits
are excluded from cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and sales related taxes.

() Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised on the transfer
of risks and rewards of ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when the goods are delivered and
title has passed.

(i) Sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties in the ordinary course
of business is recognised when the risks and rewards
of properties are transferred to the purchasers, which is
when the construction of the relevant properties have
been completed, the properties have been delivered to
the purchasers and collectability of related receivables is
reasonably assured.

Deposits and instalments received on properties sold prior
to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under receipt
in advance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
(iii) Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably. Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on
a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to directors and employees

The fair value of services received is determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Cont’d)

Share options granted to business associates

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services
are measured at the fair value of the goods or services
received, unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured,
in which case the goods or services received are measured
by reference to the fair value of the share options granted.
The fair values of the goods or services received are
recognised as expenses, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share options reserve), when the Group obtains the
goods or when the counterparties render services, unless
the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets that take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the costs of those assets until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year/period. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences arising
on a monetary item that forms part of the Company’s
net investment in a foreign operation, in which case,
such exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and will
be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of
the foreign operation. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of the reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange
rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (the exchange translation reserve).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
exchange translation reserve.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and defined contribution schemes are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other assets are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element
as a finance or an operating lease separately based on
the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of each element
have been transferred to the Group. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a
straight-line basis except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the
entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment, unless it
is clear that both elements are operating leases, in which
case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgment in applying the entity’s accounting
policies

The critical judgment, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors have made in
the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Legal title of buildings

As detailed in Notes 17 and 18, certain of the Group’s
buildings have not been granted legal title from the
relevant government authorities yet. Although, the Group
has not obtained the relevant legal title, the directors
of the Company having regard to the legal opinion
have recognised the buildings on the grounds that they
expect the legal title to be obtained in the near future
with no major difficulties and the Group in substance are
controlling these buildings.

Key sources of estimation uncertainly

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainly (Cont’d)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account their estimated residual values. The
determination of the useful lives and residual values involve
management’s estimation. The Group assesses annually the
residual value and the useful life of the property, plant and
equipment and if the expectation differs from the original
estimate, such a difference may impact the depreciation
in the year/period and the estimate will be changed in the
future period.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. Details of
impairment testing on goodwill are set out in Note 20(b).

Impairment loss recognised in respect of property, plant
and equipment

The impairment loss for property, plant and equipment are
recognised for the amounts by which the carrying amounts
exceed their recoverable amounts, in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. The recoverable amounts
of property, plant and equipment have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates such as the future revenue
and discount rates. No impairment was provided for the
year/period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont'd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainly (Cont’d)
PRC land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the
PRC. The provision of the land appreciation tax is
based on management’s best estimates according to
the understanding of the requirements set forth in the
relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual land
appreciation tax liabilities are subject to the determination
by the tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. The Group have not finalised its
land appreciation tax calculation and payments with the
tax authorities for its property development projects. The
final outcome could be different from the amounts that
were initially recorded.

Estimated net realisable value of properties held for sale

Management determines the net realisable value of
properties held for sale by using prevailing market data
such as most recent sales transactions and internal
estimates of cost based on quotes from contractors.
These estimates require judgment as to the anticipated
sale prices by reference to recent sales transactions in
nearby locations, rate of new property sales, marketing
costs (including price discounts required to stimulate
sales), the legal and regulatory framework and general
market conditions. At 31 December 2010, the carrying
amount of properties held for sale was approximately
RMB737,095,000 (31 December 2009: RMB376,259,000),
net of impairment loss of RMB28,600,000 (31 December
2009: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont'd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainly (Cont’d)

Estimated net realisable value of properties under
development

In determining whether allowances should be made to
the Group's properties under development, the directors
of the Company takes into consideration the current
market environment and the estimated market value (i.e.
the estimated selling price less estimated costs to sell)
less estimated costs to completion of the properties. An
allowance is made if the estimated market value is less
than the carrying amount. If the actual net realisable value
of properties under development is less than expected as
a result of a change in market condition and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development cost, material
provision for impairment losses may result. No impairment
was provided during the year/period.

Estimated fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the end
of each reporting period. The fair value was based
on valuations on these properties conducted by an
independent firm of professional valuers using property
valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions of
market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to
these assumptions would result in changes in the fair value
of the Group’s investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont‘d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainly (Cont’d)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade receivables

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
customers and adjusts credit limits based on payment
history and the customer’s current credit-worthiness,
as determined by the review of their current credit
information. The Group continuously monitors collections
and payments from its customers and maintains a provision
for estimated credit losses based upon its historical
experience. Credit losses have historically been within
the Group’s expectations and the Group will continue
to monitor the collections from customers and maintain
an appropriate level of estimated credit losses. At 31
December 2010, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately RMB27,434,000 (31 December 2009:
RMB13,247,000), net of impairment loss of RMB5,678,000
(31 December 2009: RMB4,086,000).

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and estimated selling prices. The
cost of inventories is written down to the net realisable
value when there is objective evidence that the cost of
inventories may not be recoverable. The amount written
off to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income is the difference between the carrying value and
net realisable value of inventories. In determining whether
the cost of inventories can be recovered, significant
judgments are required. In making this judgment, the
Company evaluates, amongst other factors, the duration
and extent and the means by which the amount will
be recovered. These estimates are based on the current
market and past experience in sales of similar products.
It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer preferences and competitor actions in response
to changes in market condition.

At 31 December 2010, the carrying amount of inventories
was approximately RMB12,701,000 (2009: Nil). No
impairment was provided during the year/period.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainly (Cont’d)
Fair values of convertible bonds

The fair values of the convertible bonds involve
assumptions on the Company’s credit spread, discount
rate, expected credit rating and future cash flows. Should
these assumptions change, there would be material
changes to the valuation.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

At 31 December 2010, the Group had unused tax losses
of approximately RMB60,878,000 (31 December 2009:
RMB63,808,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset in relation to these unused tax losses
has been recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. In cases where there are future profits
generated to utilise the tax losses, a material deferred
tax asset may arise, which would be recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year in which such profits are recorded.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt which
includes bank borrowings as disclosed in Note 33 and
convertible bonds as disclosed in Note 34, net of restricted
bank deposits as disclosed in Note 28, bank balances and
cash as disclosed in Note 29 and equity attributable to
owners of the parent, comprising issued share capital and
reserves. The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and
the associated risks, and take appropriate actions to adjust
the Group’s capital structure. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior periods.

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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Categories of financial instruments BT AER
At 31.12.2010 At 31.12.2009 At 1.7.2009
REB—ZFF R_ZTTNF RZBEZTNF
+=A=+—H +—A=+—H +A—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T ARETTT
(Restated)
(#=E7)
Financial assets BgEE
Available-for-sale investments AIEHEERE - - -
Held-to-maturity investments BEEIPAKE - = -
Held-for-trading investments BIEXSR®RZKE 1,211 510 565
Loans and receivables B AR TR
(including bank balances and cash) (PHEBRTEFELEIRS) 183,423 291,104 40,708
184,634 291,614 41,273
Financial liabilities iy S=Ni
At amortised cost b LT[ DN 500,468 465,649 173,735
At fair value through profit or loss: BEAREYRRE
BERERE
— convertible bonds — AR ES 184,391 - -
684,859 465,649 173,735
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, held-for-trading investments, restricted
bank deposits, pledged and unpledged bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, consideration payables,
bank borrowings and convertible bonds are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 49% (for the six months
ended 31 December 2009: 76%) of the Group’s sales
for the year ended 31 December 2010 are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the
group entity making the sale, whilst almost 41% (for
the six months ended 31 December 2009: 82%) of costs
for the year ended 31 December 2010 are denominated
in currencies other than the group entity’s functional
currency.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the reporting date are as follows:
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WREL 2 REEMT

At 31.12.2010 At 31.12.2009

R-ZE2—FF RIETNF
t=A=t+—-H +=-A=1+—H

United States

Dollars (“US$")
US$'000 Us$'000

EVA(E )]

FEx FET
Assets BE 1,873 933
Liabilities BRE 3,122 100
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont'd)

Currency risk (Cont'd)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of US$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in RMB against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates an increase in post-tax loss where RMB
strengthen 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5%
weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-
tax loss, and the balances below would be positive. The
analysis is preformed on the same basis for the six months
ended 31 December 2009.

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

7. MBEBREEBEREEK (#)

BE¥RR (F)

WA NS B3 AT (] SN SR R
EEEERIIERR YN OBREEEYHHE
RO [\ B A

B RZE DT
AEBETEMHERTNEEER -

THRFVNWAEEAES ARK LABBANEAE
KRB % BRERE cS%IRAEEERBABN
HE2MINER I 2 BHERELER - WRKREEBEE
HINSEXRSIER e BB < 51h - MRED
EBRRUIINEGFEZHRTFEERIER IR
HERAEE N R ARMINEER 75%EF) o

THEHERRARB L EBEEKHIRAREH
BES%FTE R R EBEIEIN - AR KA
IEBHIRARKBEES% - H2HBRHEEE
%WW%&W&Z%@ RT3 &g R
FE& - M NERBE_STETNFTA=1
—HIENE R R —ERETT -

At 31.12.2010 At 31.12.2009

R=B-FF RZZZNF

t=A=t—H +-A=t—H

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR%T ARETTT

Impact on loss for the year/period F/HgEEBEYE a1 (284)

This is mainly attributable to the exposure on outstanding
bank balances and cash, trade and receivables and trade
and other payables denominated in US$ at the year/period
end.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_-_A=Z+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont'd)

Currency risk (Cont’d)
Interest rate risk

The interest income is derived from the Group's current
and fixed deposits that carry interest at the respective
banking deposit rate of the banks located in the PRC and
Hong Kong.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate bank deposits (see Note 29 for details of
these deposits) and variable-rate borrowings (see Note 33
for details of these borrowings). It is the Group’s policy to
keep its borrowings at floating rates of interests so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s bank deposits are short-term in nature and
the exposure of the interest rate risk is minimal and no
sensitivity to interest rate risk is presented.

The Group's exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities
is detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the base lending rate
published by the People’s Bank of China and the Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate.

As of 31 December 2010, it is estimated that a general 50
basis point increase or decrease in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would increase or decrease
the Group’s loss for the year ended and accumulated
losses by approximately RMB1,930,000 (31 December
2009: RMB163,000).

The above sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that a change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments
in existence at that date. The 50 basis point increase or
decrease represents directors’ assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates. The analysis was
performed on the same basis for the six months ended 31
December 2009.

7. MBEBREEBERBER (#)

BE¥RR (F)
FI & E

MEBWAZEREAEE ZEMREMERL
ME  BEMNESRPBEREE ZRITEFKF

AREBE 2B R RE R E R A R RRTT
TR (ZEFRFRAMTE29) AN EREE
(ZEREFBRMESS) A/ - AEB ZHXK
REFNFZHNNXREE  KMEBEREEQIAE
M EE R -

AEBEZRITHFEAREHNEE  AEEERY 2
) 2R B L B3 48 M R R L 2 3R o

AEERM B EREE Y 2 FRER DR
nBECRBREERSPRE AKBEzRE
MAERBREEREATEAARRITAMZE
REEMEREBRITEEFEFEK

R-ZEBE-—ZFFE+_A=+—08 " #HzMXF L
Frek TERSOEEB MATE EMEHTE  aF
AEEZFEBERRFTEEEMSR DDA
K #1,930,000c (ZEZENF+_A=+—
B : AR¥163,0007T) °

FRGREDF BRI MNEREHNBGERHEL
MEE  YEARNZEFEZSMITAZHX
R\ AHE o SOER A TRAREFHN X
REARES L DM OIRERE—TT
NFE+ZA=t—HINEAERz EEETT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont'd)

Currency risk (Cont’d)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
convertible bonds and investment in listed equity securities.
The Group's exposure to other price risk for its investment
in listed equity securities is minimal and no sensitivity
analysis to other price risk is presented.

Equity price risk on convertible bonds

The Group is required to estimate the fair value of the
conversion option component of the convertible bonds at
the end of the reporting period which therefore exposed
the Group to equity security price risk.

Equity price sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting dates.
If the stock price inputted to the valuation model had
been 5% (31 December 2009: Nil) higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the loss for the year
ended 31 December 2010 would increase/decrease by
approximately RMB9,220,000 (31 December 2009: Nil),
principally as a result of the changes in fair value of the
convertible bonds.

Credit risk

At 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to the failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the amount of contingent liabilities in relation
to financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in
Note 43.

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade and other debtors at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses have been made for irrecoverable amounts.

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILFE

7. MBEBREEBERBER (#)

BE¥RR (F)
E 1 118 7R

AEERFEIRRES N ETRAZSFRE
mE S RAERRR - NEBE@HEE EHRA
&R E 2 BARE &M B I 8 E (B 48
BT 25 o

AIHR R (E 55,2 IR 1B 18 /5%

R BZAN B4 B AT AT HR AR B 25 10 S 3R A AR
NRARE AESAEBAZRAESER
R o

R B1E B E

THHRRE DT IR ER RS B A S IR A
BREABMET MEAGEEXNRKREL
T/ T%5% (R=—BZAFE+-_A=+—8:
/) MATBEMERRFAE  ABE_Z—
TE+ A=+ —HIEFENEEGSEMN,/
A # AR #9,220,000T (RZEEAFE+=
A=+—8: &) FEEHRITERESFNQ
REZEFTE -

1ZE R

R-ZE—ZTF+_A=+—"BER-_ZZTAF+
ZA=tT—H ARERERHEFHRERTEME
Mo AGEYFEENREEERE - JTIEE
EHBRARFAASECERVEEENR
HEERKF4A3FIEE s BB AEEET
ZIHEERZKABEMELE -

AEERRETHEARBEERE EESHREW
AR o B L A 7 LA B K A Bk DA B R S R R U [E] 2
FUACEH R SR RIRUE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BB wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-T-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont'd)

Currency risk (Cont’d)

In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC including Hong Kong. At 31
December 2010, the Group has concentration of credit
risk as 65% (31 December 2009: 42%) and 81% (31
December 2009: 58%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers, respectively.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies and authorised
banks in the PRC with high-credit ratings.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise the rights. The maturity dates
for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on
the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at
the end of the reporting period.

7. MBEBREEBERICK (&)

BE¥RER (£)

it ARAREZRA/AEE ZEERREX
MR

AEBZEREERR (RitETE) TE2K A8
PR (BREES) AEERAEE 2 HAE—
EERGAAUREFPZESRUARZEFEE
AEEBE9RAE5% (ZEFEAE+_RA=
— [ :42%) k81% (ZEZAE+ A=+
—H :58%) o

AR ZHF AEBRREEFARBI/SRE
BRI ERPEESREEFR Z2ER
BBRTEETRARY - AEEZEERRER -

REE 2 /A5

EEERDESERMNBET  AREEEXR
VHFREEBRDENNRE LIRS FEY
URASRENEERTESYRERSRKI
VRE - EEESEERITERZMNA LR
ERRL 28

IR ARSI B AR IR 1 R RO B BRI AR - AR E
BREHRTHNAOINMER - ZXRDEAEE
ANFNREARAATEEERHRIRR
TREREERHE - LHR  BAREXRERE
FRRBTEREFAREHER (BRERITE
BAEAEERTEEERN) - AT ESRA
EEVEIE B IR IR W E E5& A ETE -

ZEBHITRBRES RS RE - EFBRR
FEREHEMAET  KERSE G B
B R g (5 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont'd)

Currency risk (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

7.

BE¥ER (£)

e P EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

MBEREEREREGK (#)

REELERE (F)

At 31 December 2010
R=B-2F+-A=+-A
More than More than
Within 1 year 2 years Total
1 year or on but less but less More than  undiscounted Carrying
demand  than2years  than 5 years 5 years cash flow amounts
—£Rig, BR-F BBmE AHRZ
EXE BmER BEER BRLF  ARGHR AL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  AR¥TR
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfT4BBARE
Trade and other payables BHREMERERS 59,399 - - - 59,399 59,399
Bank borrowings RITER 63,327 372,540 - - 435,867 385,936
Consideration payable ENRE 55,133 - - - 55,133 55,133
Convertible bonds R ER 5,440 189,378 - - 194,818 184,391
183,299 561,918 - - 745,217 684,859
At 31 December 2009
RZERNFT-R=1-H
More than More than
Within 1 year 2 years Total
1 year or on butless  but less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
demand than 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flow amounts
—ER3 i otia BEmE N
B {BRERA BRER itk ohikia ERLBE R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AEBTFT ARBTT ARBTT AERBTT ARBTR
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(#&5) (& =5) (& =51) (&E5)
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ F£74BHAE
Trade and other payables B REMERER 85,999 L = - 85,999 85,999
Bank borrowings RITER 126,129 - - - 126,129 116,873
Consideration payable ENRE 119,680 176,037 - - 295,717 262,777
331,808 176,037 - - 507,845 465,649
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e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont'd)

Currency risk (Cont'd)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

7. BRERMEEESERBEK (&)
BWER (&)

REELEE (F)

At 1 July 2009
RFENFLA-A

More than More than
Within 1 year 2 years Total
1 year or on butless  but less than More than ~ undiscounted Carrying
demand than 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flow amounts
—ERF Bh—F BAmE AR
B [EmER ERER ey RS BRBE REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTL ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(&53)) (&53]) (& =51) (&53))
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ 374 B EE
Trade and other payables B REMERER 54,978 = - = 54,978 54,978
Bank borrowings RITEH 131,362 - - - 131,362 118,757
186,340 - - - 186,340 173,735
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are BEARERERRRAZRITEEHFAL

included in the “within 1 year or on demand” time band
in the above maturity analysis. At 31 December 2010
and 31 December 2009, the aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these bank loans amounted to
RMB11,866,000 and RMB11,679,000 respectively. Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the directors
of the Company do not believe that it is probable that the
banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The directors of the Company
believe that such bank loans will be repaid in ten years
after the reporting date in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At that
time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows
will amount to approximately RMB14,233,000.

MEEBE SN [—FARBERE| 2 REEE
AeRZFE—FTFF+_A=1+T—HEZZTZTA
F+—_A=+—H8 ZERTEEZRBREAR
TEIREEXAEARY11,866,000T X AR
11,679,0007C ° st R AL B 2 AR & - &
ARAEETHERITIRITEEZRKANFER
ZHIERE - ARRESHE  ZFRITEER
RmEBHRI0OFAREER B TETE
HEHEE - ER ALEBELRFBERSAR
E5AHEL A AR 14,233,0007T °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8. FAIR VALUE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

o the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively;

o the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivate instruments) is
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis using prices from observable current
market transactions and dealer quotes for similar
instruments; and

° For option based derivative, the fair value is
estimated using option pricing model (for example,
the Binomial model).

The directors of the Company consider that the other
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values due to their
short-term maturities.

The directors of the Company also consider that the fair
value of the long-term portion of liabilities approximates to
their carrying amount as they are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

8_ N\ A{E
MBEEMMBABZ AREEENT ¢

. Hﬂ‘%iéf?ﬂ]Hﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ’]@ﬁ@?ﬁﬁ—‘%ﬁﬂ%
RAEEHERAREERAEERBENT S
X%E’Jﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁ&ﬁﬂ‘“%ﬁm ANYRI=DK)
PRIZ2RBFImMEEABREHEME

]

)1:_ ’

s HEMUBEERVBREENAAE (TR
BROTATR) DEBBRBFERESNIRE
N HIL\E}jIEETEﬁIJ &%ljﬁﬁ ;}: 5 Tg’éﬁfr\ EIJIE
EMERSNERIEBEXRBEUTAN
KRIERmEmMEE - &

s HIREEZTATAR  HRARENAHE
EEER (MZHEER) HE -

ARAEFRR HAEERABRTREEN
EJZ$J\@'§ZEM5Q§F&EM“E\TTZE@EEE
B RIBEBEEHmMEE A ERE

ARPEZRERS BERESHZAAE
REURONEMREE EEEAELT:%E\E?%%,\K%\W
RORT B HEN AT AR

ERGEMBRRRPEZNAAE

=114

==h

T%%TET BR R BV F R EJr%
oM EABR AR BERES A 2=

ll?er

. RAnEFENA#BEEREE
E’J ?ﬁ%ﬂfﬂﬁﬁ#ﬁﬁ% CRPFR) B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_-_A=Z+—HIFE

8. FAIR VALUE (Cont'd)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position (Cont’d)

8. AREM#E)
ERGEUBRRRFERNQIAETE (&)

. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived . F_RAREANETIRETASE —RA TR
from inputs other than quoted prices included B BEESBBERAIER (AER) 3
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or ME (BERITE) BRE ASEBED -
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices).

F_RRAEFEDNF ALIFRIFAE
EMBBE (BEABEREARE) NEE
FREENBRERMFS -

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived O
from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

At 31 December

Rt=ZA=1+-H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-4 =& =4 it
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
“E2-ZF CEBEINEF CB-%F CEENF ZF-BF “EEINE ZF-BF “BTNE
RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000 RMB'000 - RMB'000 RMB'000 = RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARMTT ARBTR AR%TT ARETR AR%TT ARMTR ARBTR
Financial assets: BREE
Held-for-trading investments ~ #{EX SRB 2L E 1,211 510 - - - - 1,211 510
Financial liabilities at fair 2 A EFIRK
value through profit EREHREEC
or loss: MKEE :
Convertible bonds akES - - 184,391 - - - 184,391 -

RAEE MAEEME - £ —REE K 2EL
R

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the
current year and prior period.
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e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILFE

9. TURNOVER AND OTHER OPERATING 9. EXFERHMEERA
INCOME
Turnover represents the net amounts received and EEEEASELETINARTFPERZBER K
receivable for goods sold by the Group to outside EUFRERAFEEZRERITTNIRIEERHA
customers, less returns and discounts and sales related IR o
taxes.
An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year/period is REBOFEA BRALEEINEAT :
as follows:
1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-EF —ETNF
—A—HZE tA—HZE |
—E-2F —ETNF
t=A=t-B +=-A=t+—H
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T AR®T T
Turnover LR
Sales of automation products and electronic HEAISLERK
components BFEHRRE WA 159,485 107,358
Sales of properties MESHE WA 156,488 27,516
Gross rental income from investment KEYEZ AW A
properties (Note i) wazE (k) 12,107 5,246
328,080 140,120
Other operating income HAbh & E WA
Interest income FBUA
- bank — #R1T 112 420
— other (Note i) — At (i) 375 -
Change in fair value of held-for-trading RBERZGRBZIEEZ
investments DREZE 736 -
Discount received on early settlement of SRR EEEMREWELZ
consideration payable (Note 37) #rn (fI5E37) 4,704 -
Exchange gain, net TR s = 60
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEYZE - e K
equipment R 2 Was 50 -
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in BRAEFEEZRE
respect of inventories 518 % O] 372 269
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in EREEMEWRFIE Y
respect of other receivables VERIEY SRStz Bl - 176
Waiver of trade payable ZORMBERZEHR = 6,576
Sundry income HIEUA 35 183
6,384 7,684
Total revenues RGN 334,464 147,804
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

9. TURNOVER AND OTHER OPERATING
INCOME (Cont'd)

9. EXRERHMEBEWRA (@)

Notes: PiEE
(i) An analysis of the Group’s net rental income is as follows: (i) REEZHSBAFELINAT -
1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-ZF —TTNE
—A—RAZE +tA—RHB=
—E-ZF ZETHF
+t=A=+-H +-A=1-~
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Gross rental income from investment properties WEYEZBSWALREE 12,107 5,246
Less:  Outgoings (included in cost of sales) W X (REASHERA) (633) (341)
Net rental income from investment properties "EYE 2 BSWA
k) 11,474 4,905
(ii) The other interest income is derived from an advance for (ii) HEMFEWATIRE (EHZEERN - BEAFEH
a co-operation agreement. Details of which are set in the RARBBPA-_T—ZFTFA=THHNRE
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2010. Ao

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker,
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on types of goods or
services delivered or provided.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS
8 are as follows:

Property — Development of properties
development in the PRC.
Property - Rental income arising from
investment investment properties situated
in the PRC and in Hong Kong.
Trading - Trading of electronic components,
mobile phone modules and
1 automation products.
Technology - Provision of technical and

consultancy services including
the provision of automation
products on a project basis.

10. o EEFE

RERDELRDBRAFBRAARAESTE
(BIXBLERARE) FE2RIER - AERNK
MR 2 Eme RS 2 FE

tl)

RIBEBEPIERE LR FST - REBRE »HE6
ITRATR

MEZER - REZMERRE -

MEERE - RENBEZREMEDN
HEUA o

g5 = BEFEMH - FHAMFK

BELERES -

RHx - e SR K AR AR 75 e
BRETREERMFREEN
BEbEmM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010

BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE
10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 10. oHEHR (&)
(@) Segment revenues and results (a) EBARESE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable segment:

AEBEDBRARFEE 2K
LI

HEDEZ T

Property development  Property investment Trading Technology Consolidated
NERR NERE g5 E aff
112010t0 17.2009t0 1.1.2010t0 17.2009t0 1.1.2010t0 17.2009to 1.1.2010t0 172009t 1.1.2010t0 1.7.2009to
31.12.2010 31122009 31.12.2010 31122009 31.12.2010 31122009 31.12.2010 31122009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009
Z2-3F -IENF Z3-BF -TTNF Z3-%EF _ETNE ZR-%F “TENE Z%-8F ETNF
-f-H2 tA-A% |-H-B2 tA-A% -A-H2 tA-A% -A-HA2 tA-H% -A-HZ tR-H%E
Z2-3F -IENF Z3-%F -TINE Z3-%EF _ETNE ZR-%F TENE Z%-8F ET)F
t=A t-A | t=A| +tA | t=A A | =R tZA | =B | tZA
STEN -0 BSSEN -t-7 BEESEN -t-H BSTSEN -t BSTSEN -+
RMB'000  RMB'000 = RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARMTR ARETT ARMTR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Turnover L% 156,488 21516 12,107 5246 159,485 107,358 - - 328080 140,120
Segment results bz (89.404) 30 3046 11382 (1567) 3849 - 1479 (60545) 3033
Change in fair value of AARES
convertible bonds NN 14,860 =
Change in fair value of RERSRERE
held-for-trading investments INLS 736 (55)
Discount received on early settlement 3R EEEEN
of consideration payable REKIR T 4,704 =
Interest income MEMA 487 40
Loss on disposal of available-forsale  HET{EHERE
investment i - (67,69
Loss on debt restructuring BREAER (18,049) -
Settlement of court case FEEENE SRR (4,080) =
Unallocated corporate income AAERARA - 61
Unallocated corporate expenses KORATRET (18.986)  (16,922)
Finance costs BNE (70400  (7919)
Loss before taxation BHEEE (107913)  (61,778)
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are A 2WHIH @ =+ B AN E B R 3 S

the same as the Group's accounting policies described
in Note 3. Segment results represents the results of each
segment without allocation of change in fair value of
convertible bonds, change in fair value of held-for-trading
investments, discount received on early settlement of
consideration payable, interest income, loss on disposal of
available-for-sale investment, loss on debt restructuring,
settlement of court case, central administration costs,
directors’ emoluments and finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker
(board of directors) of the Group for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

\Eﬁﬁ MR - DEEEENETEIER
SERABRBREFAAREED  FIEXZHAEEK
BRRhEEE - pREEEERMRERIZH
- FMEBWA - HEJHBEKREZEE - &
BEHZER FERUHENBEEER PR
THER BEEFHNRMBRAZESE - 1)
WEFAEBNEBKLERARE (EFg) AR
BIRD L R EET IR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010

BE-T—

TE+-AS+—AILER

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and REBEERBBEZONERBRES B2 MW
liabilities by reportable segment: N
Property development  Property investment Trading Technology Consolidated
NERR NERE g% BB Al
At At At At At At At At At At
31.12.2010 31122009 31.12.2010 31122009 31.12.2010 31122009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009
E-2F CTINE CE-%F CTENG ZE-%F CTENE ZE-%F CTENGE ZE-%EF CEIENG
t=A ft-A | t=H | A t=B A | t=A 1A | =B | tZA
Sl -t el - RN -t SR -t Rl -
RMB'000 RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR ARETn ARETn ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETH
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E5) (&E5)
Segment assets HHEE 1079479 850,127 = 194438 224,607 26,009 29,209 - - 1299926 1,103,943
Unallocated corporate assets AELFEE
- Consideration receivable - EUKE - 110880
- Held-forrading -HERBRE
investments LRE 1211 510
- Restricted bank deposits - BRHETER 32,776 -
- Bank balances and cash -§EERRS 12308 161,514
- Others -Eft 34273 40,055
Consolidated total assets RAOEELE 1,491,124 1,416,902
Segment liabiltes Ak (309,561)  (163390) (378) (454 (32814)  (6,707) - - (3427%) (170550)
Unallocated corporate liabilities FORLEERE
~ Provision for claims - RERE - (60,700)
- Consideration payable - ERRE (55,133)  (262,777)
- Income tax payable - ERFEH (945)  (36,813)
- Bank borrowings - 755 (385,936)  (116,873)
- Convertible bonds - Ak ES (184,391)
- Deferred taxation - iR (31579 (73,641)
- Others - Eft (3922)  (43,526)
Consolidated total liabilties FaffkieE (1,004,659 (764,881)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than consideration receivable, held-for-trading
investments, restricted bank deposits and bank
balances and cash. Assets used jointly by reportable
segments are allocated on the basis of the revenues
earned by individual reportable segments; and

o all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
other than provision for claims, considerable
payable, income tax payable, bank borrowings,
convertible bonds and deferred taxation. Liabilities
for which reportable segments are jointly liable are
allocated in proportion to segment assets.

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILFE

REEDHMzENDBRRMOEERN B

. BRTRKRE  BHERXZREZRE
ERFIBRITEARRBITEFTRIRE - AT
BEEEDRIRELE - J2HH B
HAZBEEDERSUERDIHAFHRA
ZEEESR R

e KRENRERE BAKE-  BEME
B RITER THRRES RELEKREA
Sh FTBREANEEZEAIZHR D - A
EROHBHABZABNHRETZHOE
BELLHIEDE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010

HE_ZT—

TE+-AS+—AILER

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

10. oHER (&)

()  Other segment information (¢ HibaHER
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss AESHRNNEE RS HEERCFT ALK
or segment assets: E\
Property development  Property investment Trading Technology Unallocated Consolidated
NERE NERE g5 M AR aff
At At At At At At At At At At At At
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009 31.122010 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009
R i R # R i i i R i R s
S8-2F "ITNF SR-BE CTTNEF 2B CTENF SB-%F _ITNF SE-REF CIDNF ¥ CIINE
=AY TR BESA TR BREREER oA BERSAN  toA BEESAY  tCA BESHER TR
Sl --F ISl --FEEE CT-FEEE cT P -f sl -Tf
RMB'000  RMB'000 = RMB'000 RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 -~ RMB'000  RMB'O00 ~ RMB'000 RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR \RETn ARETR ARETn ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(EE5) (EE5)
Other segment information: EHPER
Addition to non-current FEFRHEE (i)
assets (Note) 84 - - - 25 89 - - - - 109 89
Amortisation of prepaid HERME B
lease payments - - - - 6 3 - - - - 6 3
Change in fair value of REMELLEZED
investment properties 9,500 - (21138 (6820) - - - - - - (11634  (6820)
Other segment information: EASER
Change in fair value of held-  #{ERSZF# 2
for-trading investments REDNAES - - - - - - - - (736) 55 (736) 55
Depreciation of property, plant ~ ¥1% + BELRERE
and equipment 357 8 305 195 - - - - 1361 863 2,023 1,066
Gain on disposal of property, % KERREZ
plant and equipment Bk - - - s - = - - (50) = (50) -
Impairment loss recognised i~~~ ZZEUERZ 2
respect of trade receivables HEEE - - - - 181 7 - - - - 18 7
Impaiment loss recognised in -~ EftEREF 7
respect of other receivables HEER - - - - - 109 - - - - - 1R
Impairment loss recognised in -~ S{EHENE
respect of properties LREFE
held for sale 28,600 - - - - - - - - - 28,600 -
Reversal of bad debts directly — ZERERMEER
written off - - - - - - - (479 - - - (479
Reversal of impairment loss FERERRRR
recognised in respect
of inventories - - - - (372) (269) - - - - (372) (269)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 10. ZEER (&)
()  Other segment information (Cont'd) () HtboER (&)
Property development  Property investment Trading Technology Unallocated Consolidated
IEET ELE g5 33 AR =X
At At At At At At At At At At At At

31122010 31122009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009 31122010 31.12.2009 31122010 31.12.2009 31.122010 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009
R R B i3 R R B S i S i R
“$-%F _TTNF SR-%F CTTNF SR-%E CTIAF SR-RF CTIAF SR-RF CTIAF SR-RF CTIAF
T=A t-At=R  t-A BEESR|  toA SRl toA PSRl TR SR oA
=t=8 =B =t=H| =t-0 B=f=B =t-A B=f=B =1-A B=i=H =t-A B=f=f@ =t-A
RMB'0O0 RMVB000 ~RMBO00 RMBO0D ~ RMBIO0D RMB000  RMBO0D RMB'000  RMB000 RMB000 ~ RMBO00 RVB000
ABRTR \RETT ARMTR ARETT ARMTR ARETL ARBFR ARETT ARMFR ARETL ARRFR ARHTT

Other segment information: ~ EtAETER :
Reversal of impaiment loss & ZEMEZ MR

recognised in respect of LREEEER

iradle receivables - - - - - (629) - (10,000 - = - (10,629
Reversal of impairment loss RS 7

recognised in respect of ESERE

other receivables - - - - - (176) - - - - - (176)
Waiver of trade payables ~ EHGEEZES
RENE = = = = - (6576) = = = = - (6576)
Note:  Non-current assets excluded financial instruments. Bzt : ERHEETBIESHTA -
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision FHAA B %ﬁ%ﬁéﬁmm RS NSNS
maker but not included in the measure of segment profit EAEIBS R D B E IR

or loss or segment assets:

Property development  Property investment Trading Technology Unallocated Consolidated
EL ES g7 MR AR Vi
At At At At At At At At At At At At

31122010 31122009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009 31122010 31.12.2009 31.122010 31122009 31.122010 31122009 31.12.2010 31.12.2009
R R B i3 R R i i3 i S i S
“$-%F CTTNF SR-%F CTTNF SR-%F CTIAF SR-RF CTIAF SR-RF CTIAF SR-%F DRI
t=A +t=A0 t=A +tzAP #=A AP t=R| A=Al TSADEA TIA
=8 =6 =t-H =t-AF=f-H =t-AP=t-HB =t-A =8 =t-0 =f=H8 =t-A
RMB'0O0 RVB000 ~RMB'O00 RMBO0D RMBO0D RMB000  RMBO0D RMB'000  RMB000 RVB000 ~ RMBO00  RMB(000
ABRTR ARRTT ARRTR ARRTT ARRTR ARETL ARBTR ARETT ARRFZ \RETL ARRFR ARHTT

Interest income FEUWA - - - - - - - - (487) (420) (487) (420)
Finance costs BHERLR - - - - - - - - 2,040 7918 27,040 7918
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_-_A=Z+—HIFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 10. ZHER (&)

(d) Geographical information (d) HEEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2010, over 90% HEz—_Z2—ZF+_-_HFA=+—BILt#F
(for the six months ended 31 December 2009: - ARAEEBIBEI0% (BEZTZTN
over 90%) of the Group’s revenue and assets were F+-A=+—HILAMEA : HBiEI0%)
derived from customers and operations based in REREFPREEZWEmREEHYMRF
the PRC including Hong Kong (country of domicile) (BERS) (ATEER) r &2
and accordingly, no further analysis of the Group’s REBEZHESEER -
geographical information is disclosed.

(e)  Revenues from customers of the corresponding (e) HEFEXRBEFPHNEXHELIEER
years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of EHEREBBI0%MFFIBWT ¢

the Group are as follows:

1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
Segment 31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E2-2F —ETNF
—A—HZE R R = Y
—E-EF —TENF
2 EB +=A=+—H +=-—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETTT
Customer A ZEA Property VIR
development 39,425 N/A 3 3 *
Customer B ZFEB Trading Z25 41,112 53,719
Customer C ZFEC Trading 25 41,768 40,612
* The corresponding revenue do not contribute to over 10% of @ FEEBAGHEBFTFEARAERBRATERI0% °

the total revenue of the Group in the respective year.

ma Uptown Group Company Limited & Fi%EB AR /A7 o Annual Report 2010 &3



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

11. FINANCE COSTS 1. BMBRAE
1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-ZF —EThEF
—B—RE%E +tHA—B=%
—E-ZF —ETNF
T=HA=F—Hy +—A=1—~
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARBTFT
(Restated)
(#e&E7)
Interest expenses on: MEFX
— bank borrowings wholly repayable —BRAFREEFE
within five years ZIRITIEK 22,356 6,164
— imputed interest expense on consideration —EAREZHERE
payable (Note 37) R (FIzE37) 13,742 1,754
— convertible bonds — AJ P (E & 464 _
Total borrowing costs BIEBEKAR 36,562 7,918
Less: interest capitalised (Note 23) R - BAREFE (Mi5E23) (9,522) -
27,040 7,918
Note: The capitalisation ratio of borrowings for year ended 31 Mz : BEZZT—ZFE+_A=+—HIEFERBEZA

December 2010 is ranged from 6.21% to 6.48% per annum
(for the six months ended 31 December 2009: Nil).

M BN TFEE6.21%56.48% 2 (BEZ
TZANFE+_A=1+—HIENER : &) o

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 12. FRfEH () XK
1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—EB-ZF ZETNF
—RA—B% +tHA—HA=
—E-ZF —FENF
+=A=t—-H8 +=-A=t+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
PRC Enterprise Income Tax A Bl ZE PSR
— Current year/period — REFE /AR 4,102 1,090
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") AR 4 bR (E TR
([H B LI ER )
— Current year/period — REE REE 6,742 5,938
— Qverprovision in prior years — AR FE B (26,704) -
(19,962) 5,938
Deferred taxation (Note 38) EIERIA (MEE38)
— Current year/period — REE /R (27,442) (4,958)
— Effect of a change in tax rate —BEREFH o TE (4,272) -
(31,714) (4,958)
Withholding tax TEBE 1,080 -
(46,494) 2,070
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

12.

(a

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE
(Cont’d)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profit for the year ended
31 December 2010 and for the period from 1 July
2009 to 31 December 2009.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group
has sufficient tax losses brought forward to offset
against the assessable profits for the year ended 31
December 2010.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group
has no assessable profits for the period from 1 July
2009 to 31 December 2009.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of certain subsidiaries of the Company, which
previously ranged from 15% to 33%, was changed
to 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

In accordance with the tax legislations applicable
to foreign investment enterprises, one subsidiary is
entitled to exemptions from the PRC EIT for the first
two years commencing from the first profit-making
year of operation and thereafter, entitled to a 50%
relief from the PRC EIT for the following three years.
According to the EIT Law, the first year of income
tax exemption commenced for the year ended
31 December 2008 and the subsidiary enjoys the
second year income tax exemption for the period
from 1 July 2009 to 31 December 2009.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the
subsidiary enjoys a 50% relief from PRC EIT and is
subject to tax at the rate of 11% on the estimate
assessable profits for the year.

12.

FRE® (BA) X (&)

EEHANERE_F—EF+=A=
+—BIEFERA_BEAFLA A
E_EEAE+ A=+ —ABEZA
SHE BRI B 16, 5%51H -

HRAEEHE_T—TF+_F=+
—RIEFEILRAESEMERBRF
B MU BEREMEN.ERE -

AR ASREH -_TTEAFELA-—HEC
ETNFT A=+ HAHEARA
SEMERBAE - RALBIEF BT
2 B e

BEFRAREMBECEMRERHE (1
X¥FERE]D) REEMEHENRIT
BE HPBEHBATNBE-_ZEZEN\FE
—A—BREENAE25% (ZRIA15% 2
33%) BT EGMTLIA -

BEEARIINELE B E - —HEH
BRI AR EMFESELERTBE
REMESMR - H1&=FBI7] E50%H
REEMEM - BRIBLEMSRIE F
—FESHRRZFEREBE_ZTTNGE
TZA=T—BLZFE BEZWNEB
RARN _EBEZNEFELA—HZ_ZTZN
F+-_A=+—HIHH=EEE_F2
FriSti#ie o

BE_ZT-ZTFT_A=+—HL*F
B ZMBARETEEEAEHAT
ER50%2# % WHZFE 2 EETE
AR Z 11 % B K@ -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE
(Cont’d)

The provision of LAT is estimated according to
the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. LAT has been provided
at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation value, with certain allowable
deductions including land costs and the relevant
property development expenditures. According
to the State Administration of Taxation's official
circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally
upon sales of the properties, followed by final
ascertainment of the gain at the completion of the
properties development.

Pursuant to the PRC EIT Law, withholding tax is
imposed on dividends declared by PRC subsidiaries
of the Group in respect of profits earned from 1
January 2008 onwards.

At 31 December 2010, deferred taxation of
approximately RMB556,000 (31 December 2009:
approximately RMB10,348,000) has been provided
for the portion of profits that are expected to be
distributed by the PRC subsidiaries and no deferred
taxation has been provided for the remaining
profits as the Group is able to control the timing
of the distribution and it is probable that the
amount will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future. The withholding tax represents the deferred
tax liability arising on undistributed profits to
non-controlling interests in Zhuhai Zhongzhu Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd* (BR/& R EkEHIE R 2
AR A7) (“Zhuhai Zhongzhu").

During the year ended 31 December 2010, Zhuhai
Zhongzhu declared dividends of RMB228,550,000
on its retained earnings for the year 2009 of
approximately RMB206,955,000 and for the
year ended 31 December 2010 of approximately
RMB21,595,000 respectively and distributed to its
immediate holding company and non-controlling
interests, which were incorporated in the BVI and
Hong Kong, respectively. The Group was subject to
withholding tax at the rate of 10% and 5% on the
distributions of profits accordingly.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

12.

*

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

FRE® (BA) Xk (&)

THREVREGEREE BT BAM KR
{5 P& 2 R E VB fhA AT o L IR(E R T
RIBETEIAZ0% E60%HEIE T X 7 18
EELEEG ETFEAETERER L
7R Re KRR W 36 B IR ST EARFIORL R
BEZRBERNETBEK  REEY
FERBRERGM I MIZET 2R E T
ROEZREBHEHEERRIELER

RRIZTE e

REFENEEMEHRE BTN\
F-—A—BE HRPEKNEQRAN
REBMERNESTIRE ST EHKTE
K -

R_ZE—ZFF+_-_A=+—8 ' A5E
EBTPENEARH IR0 A
ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%AE%%mme_
ETZNFEF+_A=Z+—HB: HARK
10,348,0007T) fEH #E - R A KB
REZOIE B D R AV M B A & RE A A&
ARARRE TS W DK - B 2 5 F &
CHEAMEANEREZBEHEEHREE
e BHRRERBAMNKEFTKEE
FEZEER AR ([BREHPER]) FEE 61
wm D IRE R B ZIRERIE ©

HE-_Z—ZEF+_A=+—HL#F
E - BREPHRIE fz,?jlifzﬁ%mﬁj
A4 AR #206,955,000c N EE —
§¢+:HE+—E¢¢F§*2%%§%U
£ AR #21,595,000t 5k IR B AR
228,550,0007T + W7k T EEIER A )
NIEIE SRR (D %\Jﬁ@iﬁ)ﬁﬁﬁi%&
BABEMAK) - AEBEEEED BIIRE
D& Z 10% N 5% BN FEFNFL -

B A EHRES
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e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE

12. FrE® (WA) W (@)

(Cont'd)
The income tax expense for the year/period can be REE /BEMEHEAS U ERE2EK
reconciled to the loss before taxation per the consolidated mxPHRTAIEE - sTEWT -
statement of comprehensive income as follows:
1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-2F ZETNF
—HA—BZ% +H—H=E
—B-FF —ZEThF
+=A=+t—-H +=-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARBTFT
Loss before taxation BR7% Al &S 1R (107,913) (61,778)
Tax calculated at rates applicable to profits HRAENERER 2 #E A
in the respective tax jurisdiction concerned PRIS TR 2 2 118 (24,230) (12,064)
LAT T HIR(ETR 6,742 5,938
Tax effect of LAT T ER 2 RIARE - (1,188)
Over-provision of LAT TR E R 2 HBRE R (26,704) =
Effect of change in tax rate MEEH o8 (4,272) =
Tax effect of expense not deductible AR Sz B 2 BiIE s &
for tax purposes 7,243 13,400
Tax effect of income not taxable for ERRMA ZFHIEE
tax purposes (4,738) (1,640)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZHEBEHE 2 RIBAFE = 932
Tax exemption granted by a PRC subsidiary —RIF BB AR 2 FIERE (2,145) (1,090)
Withholding tax recognised EHER . TR
(Note d, above) (ffzEd » E30) 1,080 -
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings RO IREF) 2 B 556 980
Utilisation of tax losses previously 5 AT EAR FERR 2 AT HE 40
not recognised TIsEE (26) (3,198)
Income tax (credit) expense Frigt (WA) i (46,494) 2,070

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in Note 38.
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Re MR RME
For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-—ZFT_A=+—HILFE

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD 13. 5 HRE#E

1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-2F —ETNF
—A—RA% tA—H=
—E2-2F —ETNF
+=—A=+—-H +=—A=+—~H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTFT
(Restated)
(F&&E7)
Loss for the year/period has been arrived ~ BHIBIANEEFE HRX
at after charging: B
Staff cost (including directors’ emoluments): 8 TR A (BIEESHE) ¢
Salaries, wages and other benefits in kind ~ ¥% « T& R HMEF 6,551 2,224
Equity-settled share-based payment AERSEE 2 AR D AR
(Note 40) EZH (BMF5E40) = 10,063
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFFTE 2 R 121 41
6,672 12,328
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments HETRN B 2 6 3
Auditors’ remuneration ZE RN & 1,017 730
Change in fair value of held-for- FEX SRR ZRE R EZE)
trading investments = 55
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses TR /A% B TF B A 377,096 134,485
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #)% - #22 M REZITE 2,023 1,066
Equity-settled share based payment LARERR 458 7 DARR (D AR
expenses — business associates (Note) TAY — EXBAH (M) 4,315 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect B 5 WA MR 2R E
of trade receivables* BB 1,811 7
Impairment loss recognised in respect H M EUGRIB B R 2 RE
of other receivables* EE~ - 1,052
Impairment loss recognised in respect FEHEYMERE R ZRE
of properties held for sale** 1R * * 28,600 -
Operating lease rentals of equipment R EEHE 175 8
Settlement of court case (Note 43(a)) ERERGNBEESE
(FtaE43(a)) 4,080 -
* These amounts are included in administrative expenses. & ZEEEBEETHRERNA -
*% The amount is included in cost of sales. e ZeHEEREEHEENANR -
Note: PEE -

ZEEERAFTERRBAEE 2 AEE R
BEMRBZAAE - BEERSE B IR 4088
RANEEE£7710,000,0001) BEARRE 45 15 ©

The amount represents the fair value of consultancy services provided
to the Group in the current year in relation to the exploration of new
business opportunities for the Group. The consultancy service fees
were settled through the issue of 10,000,000 share options in the
current year are set out in Note 40.
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e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE

14. SREE

1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-ZF ZETNF
—HA—B% +tHA—HB=
—E-ZF —ZEThF
+=A=+t—-8B +=-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETT
Loss &’
Loss for the purpose of basic loss HERE BRER AR
per share for the year/period BB ANERLSRERNEE
attributable to the owners (D=4 it i=!
of the parent 30,853 63,167
Effect of dilutive potential shares: BEEERO CHE -
| — interest on convertible bonds — AR ESFZHE (464) -
— change in fair value of — AR ESF 2 AR EE
convertible bonds 14,860 -
45,249 63,167
‘000 ‘000
Number of shares RBBE
Weighted average number of ordinary B NE T EE (ER
shares for the purpose EAXEEmE)
of basic loss per share 851,980 613,080
Effect of dilutive potential shares: BEBEERD2ZE
— share options issued by — NRRIBIT 2 B
the Company (Note) (KI3E) = -
— conversion of convertible bonds — B AT AR B 271,186 -
1,123,166 613,080

Note: The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options as
the exercise price of those options is higher than the average
market price of the Company’s shares for the year ended 31
December 2010 and for the six months ended 31 December
20009.

Diluted loss per share was the same as the basic loss
per share for the year ended 31 December 2010 and six
months ended 31 December 2009 as the effect of the
conversion of the Company’s share options, convertible
bonds and convertible redeemable preference shares was
anti-dilutive.

Mt : ARBE—_T—TF T+ _A=t—BLFEKR_
ZENF+ZA=+—HIEXEARRBRITE
BRENTEESNARRRN FHE - Gt
EEEEEERRY BRI SHBRERTRE -

HE-Z-T+-A=+—AILFER-FT
NE+=A=+—BIEAEANSREEEE
REREABRER  RESEAKR VBB
- TARES R TEATREEERARE
B -
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15. STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING
DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS)

e PR EwR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

15. EIRA (TEEEEMHS)

1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-2F ZETNF
—RA—B=% +HA—H=E
—F-2F —ETNF
tT=A=+—H +=-A=1+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Salaries, wages and other benefits in kind ~ #& - T& REMER 3,609 1,071
Equity-settled share-based payment LAREZR 58 7 DA AR A+ = 675
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R FIEHE| 4t 20 102 29
3,711 1,775

Hong Kong BE
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme AEERHEEAEEL2HEATERIMAES

(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its Hong Kong
employees. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group companies
(the “employer”) in Hong Kong and its employees
makes monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of
the employee’s earnings as defined under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Legislation. The contributions from each
of the employer and employees are subject to a cap
of HK$1,000 per month. During the year ended 31
December 2010, a total contribution of approximately
RMB38,000 (for the six months ended 31 December
2009: RMB29,000) was made by the Group in respect
of this scheme.

The PRC, other than Hong Kong

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute to a state-sponsored
retirement plan for all its employees at a certain
percentage of the basic salaries of its employees. The
state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees.
Under the state-sponsored retirement plan, the Group has
no further obligations for the actual pension payments or
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.
During the year ended 31 December 2010, a total
contribution of approximately RMB64,000 (for the six
months ended 31 December 2009: Nil) was made by
the Group in respect of this scheme.

FEHEBIR ERRBMEATESTE ([RESE
2]) - BESTEBRNATCHINE BB
BIABE - REBRBSHE  A5ESEE
RERR ([BX]) REEESAHZREHBRESR
25% 2 WA (E&REFERTESIEG) (EH
HK - BEREER ZHEFAT AEE1,000T 5
ReHEzE-_ZT—ZTF+_A=+—"HILtFE"
ANEE R UL EHEIVE L A4 A R 38,0007
(B-EZEAFE+-A=+—H1XEA : AE
#29,0007T) °

HE - BREBS

BEFREG RERBRE - PENBRRA
MAREREMKRE ZBFKRKEFFEIED#
HeoHABEREEAFECNETEDL - H
KRR BH & aERRKEES X MAAERIK
© e EEMABERENREFFEZT  NEEK
BFEHIIINMBAHEMEREARES I HIERK
BEAELEMEAE - B2 —ZF+=A
=+ —HLFE AEERLEEEL AR
HMARKG4,000 (B _ZEZNF+=_A=+
—HIENEA &) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_ZT-THF+_A=1—HIFE

16. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 16. EEREEMS
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight (for ERsERNUES (BEZE_FEFTNFTA
the six months ended 31 December 2009: eight) directors =+—HIEANEA  A\L) I ZBewmT :

were as follow:

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-E5+-A=+-HLEE

Salaries,
allowances Equity- Retirement
and other settled benefit
benefits share-based scheme
Fees in kind payment contributions Total
DRSS
e Rl ZURHBEH EIRER
e RHEMEN E#OXS EEGEN HEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥Tx AR¥TR AR%®TR AR¥Tx
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Chen Xian PRE S E - 696 - - 696
Mr. Lau Sai Chung ZItEAREE - 766 - 10 776
Mr. Tsim Sze Hon EEmieE
(Resigned on 27 October 2010) (R =ZE—Z4F
+A=++H
i BHE) - 174 - 9 183
| Mr. Xiong Jianrui BERITR S A& - 539 - - 539
Ms. Xia Dan Xia DanZ - 122 - - 122
Non-executive director FHTES
Ms. Xia Dan (re-designated Xia Dan#Z +
as executive director (R=E—FF
on 27 October 2010) +A=++H
RAERBHITES) 174 = = = 174

Independent non-executive BIFHITES

directors
Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael BEB &L 157 - - _ 157
Mr. Chong Yin Chik HREEE 157 = - - 157
Mr. Choi Kai Ming, Raymond BRIERR S 157 - _ _ 157

645 2,297 = 19 2,961
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-—ZFT_A=+—HILFE

16. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 16. EEREEME &)
EMOLUMENTS (Contd)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (Cont'd) (a) E=M<E (&)

For the period from 1 July 2009 to 31 December 2009
H-ZETNF+A-RE_ZETNF+_A=+—HHM

Salaries,
allowances Equity-  Retirement
and other settled benefits
benefits  share-based scheme
Fees in kind payment contributions Total
AEmEHE
Fe Rl ZURMA RRAER ‘
e REMEN EREA BE 3 e |

RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR

Executive directors HITEE

Mr. Chen Xian [ B 4 A - 211 1,962 - 2,173

Mr. Lau Sai Chung NSt - 265 1,879 5 2,149

Mr. Tsim Sze Hon Sy Pitas - 106 1,121 5 1,232

Mr. Xiong Jianrui bt - 228 1,962 2 2,192

Non-executive director BIAEHTES

Ms. Xia Dan Xia DanzZ + 106 - 1,962 - 2,068

Independent non-executive FEHITES

directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael EEE LA 79 - 112 L 191

Mr. Chong Yin Chik HRE A 79 - 195 - 274

Mr. Choi Kai Ming, Raymond ~ Z24%RR 5 4 79 = 195 = 274
343 810 9,388 12 10,553

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments BHE_ZT—ZTF+_A=T—HILFEREZE

during the year ended 31 December 2010 and for the six TEFNFTZA=T—BLEAEA - WEE

months ended 31 December 2009. EHMEXREREMNE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

16. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b)  Senior management’s emoluments

Of the five individuals with highest emoluments, four
(for the six months ended 31 December 2009: All) were
directors of the Company whose emoluments are set
out in the above. The emoluments of the remaining one
highest paid individual for the year ended 31 December
2010 was as follows:

16. EEREEME &)

it

(b) EREEEM=

hEREHFMENALA  IE (BE-ZZT
NETZA=+—HBIEXNEAR: 2%) 9RE
FREZFHER LEIE BHE_T-F
FT-A=T—"HLEFERNG—BENALZ
s T

1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to

31.12.2010 31.12.2009

—E-ZF —ETNEF

—HA—BR=#% +A—H=%E

—E-=F —ZEThEF

+=A=+—H +-A=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥Tx ARET T

Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind ¥4 » T& R HMIEF 440 -
Retirement benefits schemes contributions R {RIEFIEH 245k 10 -
450 -

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

MEZHNARFLATEHER

No. of individuals

BETI¥H
1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-BF —ETNEF
—HBA—R=& +HA—H=Z%
—g-%F -—TThG

t=A=+—-8 +-A=1+—H

Nil to RMB870,000 Tz AR#870,0007T
(equivalent to HK$1,000,000) (A% /% 1,000,0007T) 1 -

(c)  No emolument have been paid by the Group to the
‘ directors of the Company or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the year ended 31 December 2010 and for
the six months ended 31 December 2009.

(0 BE_ZFT-THF+_A=+-HILHFE
EBE-ZTTAF+_-_RA=1+t—HIRX
@A AEEMERAARESEHAM
R E S X NBEERRSI AL
ARRER 2 B A RBERARE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-—ZFT_A=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% > HMBERRE
Leasehold
landand  Leasehold Motor
buildings improvements Equipment  Furniture vehicles Total
HELi#
R HERE B4 HER AE ok
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT AR®Tn ARETE ARETT AR%Tn
(Restated)
(5 E51)
COoST ﬁizﬁ
At 1 July 2009 (restated) RZBZNFLA—H
(&=&51)) 34,902 4,903 2,916 172 765 43,658
Exchange realignment [EHESE 8 - i _ 1 9
Additions NE - 89 - - - 89
Acquired on acquisition YR B A RFES
of subsidiaries - - - 47 237 284
At 31 December 2009 RZFENF
+ZA=1+—8H 34,910 4,992 2,916 219 1,003 44,040
Exchange realignment B i =58 (720) (32) 9) (6) (15) (782)
Additions NE - - 25 84 - 109
Disposals HE - = (410) = (106) (516)
At 31 December 2010 R-Z-Zf
+=A=+-H 34,190 4,960 2,522 297 882 42,851
ACCUMULATED RiHE
DEPRECIATION
At 1 July 2009 (restated) “ETNFEA-A
(%“EEEH) 1,616 1,071 2,839 113 350 5,989
Provided for the period Eﬁﬁﬂ%&ﬁ% 383 506 29 55 93 1,066
At 31 December 2009 “ETNE
+_ﬂ =1+-H 1,999 1,577 2,868 168 443 7,055
Exchange realignment [EHES (36) (15) 9) (4) (12) (76)
Provided for the year FRERE 747 1,061 35 36 144 2,023
Eliminated on disposal HER Y = (410) = (56) (466)
At 31 December 2010 RZB-2F
+ZA=1+—H 2,710 2,623 2,484 200 519 8,536
CARRYING VALUES REFE
At 31 December 2010 R-B-Zf
+ZA=1+—H 31,480 2,337 38 97 363 34,315
At 31 December 2009 (restated) RN=ZZNE
+=RA=+—H
(,@EEIJ) 32,91 3,415 48 51 560 36,985
1 July 2009 (restated) RZZEZENFH—H
(&%) 33,286 3,832 77 59 415 37,669
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% > HBERRE (&)
(Cont'd)

(@) The above items of property, plant and equipment () WENZWME HRNZRHEEE 2G5
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the AI{E A FRBEHMETERE - LERE
estimated useful lives less their residual values as BIHEFIGRERE  TENTFERFTENOT :
follows:

Leasehold land and  Over the shorter of the term HETHEYE 2%IFHLFH
buildings of the leases or 2% (ABR2H A%E)
Leasehold Over the shorter of the term THEMEEE 20%sIZFEAFH
improvements of the leases or 20% (AR & B2%E)
Equipment 18% to 25% B 18%Z%25%
Furniture 18% to 25% R1E 18% %25%
Motor vehicles 18% to 30% RE 18%%30%
(b)  The carrying value of leasehold land and buildings by NUIrFAE+HMEYESEEERSRE
‘ shown above comprises:
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-ZF “EBEENF —ETNF
+=A=+—H +t—A=+—H +A—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T ARETIT
(Restated) (Restated)
(#2&E:5) (#2&E5)
Medium-term lease held in: FAERIEOR
— Hong Kong — &5 19,209 20,334 20,556
— the PRC —rh 12,271 12,577 12,730
31,480 32,911 33,286
(0  On 11 January 2006, the Group obtained a 0 RZEZERNF—A+—B x&£EHE—

court order from the People’s Intermediate Court
of Shenzhen to freeze certain buildings of the
Group with a carrying value of approximately
RMB12,271,000 (2009: RMB12,577,000) (“Freeze
Buildings”) as a result of certain litigations against
a subsidiary of the Group in relation to certain
alleged guarantees and overdue bank borrowings
("Outstanding Amounts”). During the year ended
31 December 2010, such litigations were concluded
and the Group undergone a debt restructuring
in the form of issuing convertible bonds, the
Outstanding Amounts were fully settled. Details
of which are set out in Note 32. As of the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the assets were still freezed by the relevant
authorities.

MEBAREBEENERRKEITESR
E (MR8 MERHBEBEBFA -
AEBWE BRI RAREREL Z
FERGSERREAEBEAEOAR
12,271,000 (ZEZF N F: ARK
12,577,00070) < X EM(RE D
¥D) - Bz ZF+-_A=+—H
LFEE ZHRACETEMNAEBES
BETUBREKRES S EBETEFEAR -
MAREBEEBEIN - BEEFBIER
BIaE32 - ML ERGE M FRERBH
ZEENEWEERE R -
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. W% - BB REE (&)
(Cont'd)

(d)  As of the date of approval of these consolidated d) RILEXRGEMEHRERBEY  AXEEHE
financial statements, the Group has not obtained REDEDERESR - B DARRE
the building ownership certificates of the Freeze REMECFEER FEBZHRHRCH
Buildings, due to the seizure, the application for o KRRz BEEBRARN T ——
obtaining the building ownership certificates of FZATHBEZELE EZEERLERAME
the Freeze Buildings was deferred. A legal opinion ZHBRAIINAESRENECEE
provided by the Company’s PRC legal advisors on 14 B EREMECHEEEDBRZNE
March 2011 confirmed that although the subsidiary NG
has not yet obtained the building ownership
certificates of the Freeze Buildings, the ownership
of the Freeze Buildings vested with the subsidiary.

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REWH

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-2F —ZEThEF —ZEThEF
+=A=+-H +t=—A=+—H +A—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR%ET R ARETT ARETT

FAIR VALUE ARE

At beginning of the year/period RE,/ Bi%T 236,206 167,765 175,768

Exchange realignment PE N =% (1,710) 15 237

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries UtESHTE A 7 FTES - 61,600 -

Transferred to property held for ERSREHEME

sale (Note ¢) (M¥zEc) (52,100) = =
Transferred to asset held for ERERELHEEE

sale (Note 30) (M97E30) (10,200) - -
Net increase (decrease) in fair value  BERETEEZRZANE

recognised in profit or loss FHiwE ORd) 11,634 6,826 (8,240)

At end of the year/period AE ERAE 183,830 236,206 167,765

(a) The carrying value of investment properties shown @ MNEREMEZEEERSE
above comprises:

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-BF —TTNF —ZTTNF
+=A=+—-H +t=A=+—H +A—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT

Medium-term leases held in: FA R EEOR
— Hong Kong — &5 40,630 45,206 40,765
— the PRC — 143,200 191,000 127,000
183,830 236,206 167,765

China Uptown Group Company Limited F & Fi 5B AR /A7) o Annual Report 2010 3R




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

18.
(b)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

All of the Group’s investment properties are held
under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes and are measured using the
fair value model.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, there
was a change of intention for certain investment
properties which were transferred at fair value of
approximately RMB52,100,000 to properties held
for sale.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
in Hong Kong and the PRC as at 31 December
2010 were valued by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting
Limited (”Vigers”), independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group.
Vigers has appropriate qualifications and has recent
experiences in the valuation of similar properties
in the relevant locations. The valuations have been
arrived at by reference to market evidence of
transaction prices for similar properties in the same
locations and conditions.

On 11 January 2006, the Group obtained a court
order from the People’s Intermediate Court of
Shenzhen to freeze certain buildings of the Group
which included investment properties with a
carrying value of approximately RMB143,200,000
(31 December 2009: RMB129,400,000) (“Freeze
Investment Properties”) as a result of certain
litigations against a subsidiary of the Group in
relation to certain alleged guarantees and overdue
bank borrowings (“Outstanding Amounts”). During
the year ended 31 December 2010, such litigations
were concluded and the Group undergone debt
restructurings in the form of issuing convertible
bonds, the Outstanding Amounts were fully settled.
Details of which are set out in Note 32. As of the
date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the assets were still freezed by the
relevant authorities.

18.

REWE (#)

AEBEZHAEREMEHAERIEER
MERELEHERDNESENFER
AR A ERRAE -

HEz_ZT—ZETF+_A=+—HL*HF
B rBEEEHNABEETREDEZR A AAE
£ ANER¥52,100,000 T EREFIELE
IEE o

RZE—ZTF+-_A=+—80 " ~5E
REBRFPEZEEMEZ AAEE R
B RAREMEMASTEETHE
FMAERAR (TE&ET]) 57 - BEETA
HEENER  UHEANGESBEMIE
ZEBEYENKR - HEE2RER—
HWEAEH 2 EUME TSR SHER
VIR ©

RZZEZERNF—A+—H XEBRA—
MEBARZEBHEBNERLKRITEXE
E((HmresE]) MERBEEBFL -
AEBWE B FRIFPRAREREL Z
ERGSERREAEEEREABENOAR
#143,200,000C (ZEZENF+ A=
+—H: A R #¥129,400,0007T) 2 ¥
BEY([REREYWE]D BE-_F—
TEE+-_A=+—HILEE  ZFAD
KR AEEIEBEBRITIUREKES
FRETEBEH RSB EHL
o BEREFBYIHNMTE32 - RHLER
BAMBHRERBY  ZEENEWHIEE
MR -
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

) As of the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has not obtained
the building ownership certificates of the Freeze
Investment Properties, due to the seizure, the
application for obtaining the building ownership
certificates of the Freezed Investment Properties
was deferred. A legal opinion provided by the
Company’s PRC legal advisors on 14 March 2011
confirmed that although the subsidiary has not
yet obtained the building ownership certificates of
the Freeze Investment Properties, the ownership of
the Freeze Investment Properties vested with the
subsidiary.

19. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

e PR EwR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-—ZFT_A=+—HILFE

18. REWZE (&)

(il RELEXFERFBERREY  AREE
REREMEDESHF - BUtHRER
BRENBEVELFER BEEZH
AEME - KRR 2P BAZBERR =
E——F=-AtMOAZELEZEEREMR
RENEZMBERRNARERREREY
RXFEE BREREMEZHEAE
BRZHB AT -

19. HEFENKE

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-FF —ETNF —ZETNF
+=—A=+—H +t=—A=+—H +H—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AREBFT ARBTFT
(Restated) (Restated)
(F25E5%)) (Fg &%)
The Group’s prepaid lease payments — AN&EE 2 +ih{E 2
on land use rights are held under METEN BT E
medium-term leases in the PRC and  LAFR ERFAA9EEB W 4
analysed for reporting purposes as: ESRERSIOT -
Current assets MENEE 6 6 6
Non-current assets FERBEE 246 252 255
252 258 261

On 11 January 2006, the Group obtained a court order
from the People’s Intermediate Court of Shenzhen to
freeze certain land of the Group which included prepaid
lease payments with a carrying value of approximately
RMB252,000 at 31 December 2010 (2009: RMB258,000)
as a result of certain litigations against a subsidiary of
the Group in relation to certain alleged guarantees and
overdue bank borrowings (”Outstanding Amounts”).
During the year ended 31 December 2010, such
litigations were concluded and the Group undergone debt
restructurings in the form of issuing convertible bonds, the
Outstanding Amounts were fully settled. Details of which
are set out in Note 32. As of the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the assets were still
freezed by the relevant authorities.

R-_BERF—A+— B AEEE—HWEAQ
RIEBEEMNEREBETESEE ((MRE
%) MIERFREBRERA - AEBEWE HFYI
FRARZEREL 2 ARG ERREASE
HEBRNRER-_Z2—ZF+_A=+—HZ
BEEENHARE252,000T (ZEZLFE : AR
#258,0007T) 25T+ - HE_T—TF+
“AZT—HIEFE  ZFREERERAE
BEEERETABMKRES SN ETEEEA -
MREBEBEEZN - BEAFBINEHRM T
32 RELERIREMBHRERBE  ZEENE
AR S R4S -
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

20. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
TESTING ON GOODWILL

20. BHERBEZRERHR

(@) Goodwill (a) =&
RMB’000
AREET T
cosT RS
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 39), HU BN B A E (BHEE39)
at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 RZEFENF+-A=+T—"H8BXK
R_ZE—FF+=-_A=+—H 184,231
CARRYING VALUE IREE
At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 R-ZEENE+-_A=+—H
r—_FE—ZFF+—-HA=+—H 184,231

(b) Impairment testing on goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill set out
above has been allocated to one individual cash generating
unit, the property development segment.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that,
based on the business valuation report of the property
development segment as at 31 December 2010 issued
by Norton Appraisals Limited, an independent valuer not
connected with the Group (“Norton”), the recoverable
amount of the property development segment exceeds its
carrying amount in the consolidated statement of financial
position and therefore, no impairment loss is necessary.

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is
determined from the income-based approach calculation as
extracted from Norton’s valuation report for the recoverable
amount as at 31 December 2010. The Group prepared cash
flow forecast derived from the most recent available financial
budgets approved by management and extrapolated over
two years. In preparing the forecasts, management made
references to the project area for real estate development.
The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation were
those regarding discount rates and anticipated changes to
future selling prices, as follows:

- Projected cashflow forecasts are based on
development plans of real estate projects.

- Management used a discount rate which is derived
as the Company’s cost of capital, representing the
expected return on the Company’s capital, and
assigned a discount of 18.65%.

(b) BEEZBER

FREARSBENME - REMIINEEED
B —EERREELESEMN - MERERD -

ARPEFRR BER-_T-—TF+-A=
T HEEEHEEFEARAR] ([E&HD (R
B RAIBXMGER) AL 2 WERRDE
BEMGEERS  MERROBZ2ABKESES
RERGEVBIN KR ZEmE - HABAE
HIREEE -

ReELEMN A RRSBEIREER 2 AE
BER_E—ZEFT_A=+—HzZzAEKS
BURSEESAGHEER - AREZREHE
AN RIEFRIEEEBUERRBBENARME 2
MHBEEE LR - REFRAR > BEE
DERFEERR2ME EREEFEZTE
BRRAATIEE BTN L RRIFHEEBRD
EETEE

— CiINAeRBEIEREEBRB NS
EEE K

- EBEEEFEA—EHQAFEAKAK (FK
KARIEARWTEER) FTOTERITINER
NEIETHTHA18.65% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

20. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT 20. BEKBEZRENR &)
TESTING ON GOODWILL (Cont'd)
(b) Impairment testing on goodwill (Cont'd) (b) BEZREAR (&)

ARHEBRRETEFHENHHAE
FBEMHEERGE -

- Future selling prices were estimated with reference -
to existing and past selling prices in the real estate
industry in the PRC.

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 21. AHEERE
A EIREEIE

Available-for-sale investments comprise:

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-EF —ETNF —ZEThF
+=—A=+—-8 +=—A=+—H +A—A |
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT ARETT
Unlisted equity securities, at cost R Z FE ETERES 51,338 51,338 51,338
Less: Impairment loss recognised B EERBEERE (51,338) (51,338) (51,338)

The available-for-sale investments are measured at
cost less impairment at the end of the reporting
period because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so wide that the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that their fair values
cannot be measured reliably.

Available-for-sale investments amounting
to approximately RMB51,338,000 (2009:
RMB51,338,000) represents the Group’s 18.52%
unlisted equity interest in the registered capital
of Goldwiz Huarui (Tongling) Electronic Material
Company Limited* (B} 4 = In(#RE)E F M BB
FR/A7F]), a company incorporated in the PRC, the
operation of which has been suspended since
December 2005 due to critical liquidity problem.
Accordingly, the investment cost had been fully
impaired in previous years.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

(a) RHEGEBAZAHEERECHEFEZR
D/(ﬁﬁj\ﬁiﬂiﬁiﬁéﬁ HAAmENSG
BRAAENEZEERKN  WMARAIESER
ABERARBHEHBURSETE -

(b) A ft W & ?x,\iﬁﬁiﬁﬁ'j/\ﬁﬁg
51 ,338,0007T (ZZEZNFEA=1+8H:
A R #51,338,0007T) e AE B ATE 2
— MR BEEMIELETRA - FMgEER
(%) EFMBABERAAINTMER
18.52% ' AEAREBESHECN_Z
THFET-_RAKRIEEREE - Bt - &
BERAD BN AFFEELRE -

* RN HEEHRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(Cont'd)

(0) On 13 August 2009, Hill Light Investment Limited
("Hill Light”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group acquired the entire issued share capital of
Ocean Vast Corporation Limited (“Ocean Vast”)
and its subsidiaries (“Ocean Vast Group”). The fair
value of the acquisition cost was approximately
HK$203,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB178,579,000) which was entirely settled by
way of issue and allotment of 175,000,000 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at a quoted
market price of HK$1.16 at the date of completion
of the acquisition. At the date of the acquisition,
the management had concluded their intentions
in acquisition of Ocean Vast Group was purely for
investment opportunity.

Following a sale and purchase agreement entered
into with an independent third party dated 3
December 2009, Hill Light was disposed of together
with Ocean Vast Group on 30 December 2009 for
a consideration of HK$126,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB110,880,000). A loss on disposal
of approximately RMB67,699,000 was recognised
during the period ended 31 December 2009.

22. INVENTORIES

21. AHHERE (@)

0 RZZEZAFNA+=Z=BH BEXRERE
ERAFB(EBXD(XEE 22 &
BRR) WEEBSEBERAA ([E
B FEMNEBEAR(ES&EE] 2
FTEERITRG - WERKARALELY
75 #203,000,0007T (BB E R 4 AR
178,579,0007T) @ WHEKARE BT R
it Z£ A2 §1175,000,0000% & AR 745 #£0.10
nﬂﬁ%%mﬁachm%%m{W%
B 167T) BB A AN o RUKEE
E' ’ ﬁfiﬁﬁﬁn/u%ﬁﬁﬁ/iﬁlz ﬁ
MWREENRE#E -

ffﬁh¢+ A=H BBIYFE=

A%EEDH Té Hﬁﬁ&ﬁi/’iﬁlﬁ
bxﬁf%;‘%%ze,ooo,ooof_z (HBERY A
K #110,880,0007T) B E - W _ZTZ
WE+_A=+—HBIEXNEAR YA
K#67,699,000 T 2 HEFEEEER o

22. FE

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-=F —EBEENF —EBEENF

+=A=+—H +—A=+—8H +H—H

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETF T AREFTT

Merchandise M 12,701 - -

During the year ended 31 December 2010, certain
impaired inventories were sold at a gross profit. As a
result of the reversal of impairment of inventories of
approximately RMB372,000 (for the six months ended 31
December 2009: RMB269,000) has been recognised and
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2010.

HE—_T—ZTF+_A=+—HLEFE HT

EREZFECERTESEN - Al 78
ZIRERE N AR372,000T (BEZZTZT A
F+-A=+—B1E~EA : AR¥269,000
) EEREEEREEEE T —ZTF+ A
= t—HUEFEZGEZERERA °
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

23. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 23. EEYFE
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-EF —ETNF —ETNF
+=—A=+—H +t=—A=+—H +H—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR®TT AREBTFT ARBTFT
At the beginning of the year/period ~ FA4F / E3 %) 376,259 2 -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries U B& T & A FIFTIES
(Note 39) (Bt5E39) - 374,400 -
Additions NE 351,314 1,859 -
Interest capitalised (Note 11) BEAREFE (FEE11) 9,522 = =
At the end of the year/period RE /HAkE 737,095 376,259 =
i
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E2-ZF —FENF —EFNF
+=HA=+—-H8 t—A=+—H +H—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTFT ARBTFT
Represented by: (A
Land use rights T b R 337,558 337,558 =
Construction costs and capitalised AR ERMEFEE
expenditure 399,537 38,701 -

737,095 376,259 =

The carrying amounts of the properties under development URHPEREEL S F v EEYEREDER

situated on the leasehold land in the PRC are as follows: B
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-=F —ETNhF —ETNF
+=A=+—H +—A=+—H +H—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T ARETT
Medium-term lease FR HRFE 4 147,404 75,244 -
Long-term lease KEAFR4) 589,691 301,015 -
737,095 376,259 -

Properties under development are classified as current MR EREEYFEERER C LB A—
asset as the construction period of the relevant property REERMBTK BN EEMEESERRE
development project is expected to complete in the normal BEE °

operating cycle.

/
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-T-THE+-A=t—ALEE

24. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group's properties held for sale are situated in the

PRC. All the properties held for sale are stated at costs or
net realisable value.

At 31 December 2010, properties held for sale to
the amount of approximately RMB79,818,000 is
stated at net realisable value (2009: Nil).

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

24, FEME

AEBZHFEMEACNTE - FIARFEWE
ARSI ZHFEZT

R-ZZE-TFE+-_A=1+—0 ' BEHAREK
79,818,000t M E W ¥ 17 7] & I8 FE S R
(ZEZTNF \E) -

25. EZREMEWRNR

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-2F —ETNF —ETNF
+=BA=+—-8 t=—A=+—H +A—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREBTFT ARBTFT
Trade receivables B S MR 33,112 17,333 26,120
Less: impairment loss recognised B DR REEE (5,678) (4,086) (14,707)
27,434 13,247 11,413

Prepayments, deposits and BN - ke REHM
other receivables FEUBRE =X 16,392 16,752 4,164
Consideration receivable (Note e) RUARE (FitEe) = 110,880 -
Less: impairment loss recognised B EERZBIEEBRE (1,561) (1,566) (690)
42,265 139,313 14,887
Customers from the trading segment are normally required RKEESGHHZ2BFPWEIREE  —REE—
to settle the debts within one to two months upon issue ZEMEABEERE  BRTEHETERBUYRTBHER

of invoices, except for certain well established customers
where the terms are extended to two to three months.

Trade receivables from the sale of properties are received
in accordance with the terms of the related sales and

purchase agreement.

ZEPARREME={EA -

KEHEMEZEZRKRFIIIRAREE &

2 RFULEX
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. ESRHEHMBWERN (&)
(Cont'd)
(@  An aged analysis of trade receivables, net of (a) EFEWERARLENKRERBRBEEIEZ
impairment loss recognised presented based on AREC O ITZAT -
invoice date is as follow:
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-ZF —ETNF —ETNEF
+=A=+—H +—A=+—H +HA—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T ARETFTT
0 - 60 days 0— 60X 27,434 7,569 419
- 90 days 61— 90K - = =
91 — 365 days 91 — 365K - 124 -
Over 365 days HBiA365K - 5,554 10,994
27,434 13,247 11,413
Included in the trade receivables is an amount of EEERESIEBERNOARK

approximately RMB21,500,000 derived from the
sale of properties. In accordance with the terms of
the sales and purchase agreement, this receivable is
repayable by installment and contains a repayable

21,500,000/ REHEME - RIBEEE
W ad 6K - L EWGRIER D B - I
BEREREREGFIZRERKERGHRK

on demand clause.

(b)  The movements in impairment losses recognised in by REBESGEUWEZIEMIAZREERBEEW
respect of trade receivables are as follows: T

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009

—EB-BF —_EThF —ETNF

+=—A=+—H t—A=+—H +H—H

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®BTT AREBFT ARBTFT

At beginning of the year/period RE /1) 4,086 14,707 21,588

Exchange realignment PE X =% (219) 1 40

Written off during the year/period R/ BT H - - (5,567)

Recognised during the year/period RE /HANHER 1,811 7 413

Reversal during the year/period RE /HRE (G - (10,629) (1,767)

At end of the year/period NE H%E 5,678 4,086 14,707

At 31 December 2010, included in the E’\ —EFF+_A=+—HB BEHRERHKKE

impairment loss are individually impaired trade (@%ﬂ@}@ﬂﬁ) BRR4) B AR 5,678,000

receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately RMB5,678,000 (31 December 2009:
RMB4,086,000) which are due to long outstanding.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

m(_22ﬂ¢+ A=+—HB: ARK
4,086,0007T) " ZESEWERNDEHRE
B YR AEEVESEEMAEES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. B RHEHMEBWERR (&)
(Cont'd)
(0  The movements in impairment losses of other (0 HitvEUWEERZBEBEBESHWT -
receivables are as follow:
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-2F —ETNF —ETNEF
+=—A=+—H +t=—A=+—H +H—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETT ARETTT
At beginning of the year/period RE /HY) 1,566 690 1,108
Exchange realignment PN =% (5) = (55)
Written off during the year/period REF /BT 8 - - (5)
Recognised during the year/period RE ,/ BNIER - 1,052 84
Reversal during the year/period RE HRR B A - (176) (442)
At end of the year/period RE /B4t 1,561 1,566 690

At 31 December 2010, included in the
impairment loss are individually impaired other
receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately RMB1,561,000 (31 December 2009:
RMB1,566,000) which are due to long outstanding.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

At 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, the
analysis of trade receivables that were past due but
not impaired are as follows:

RZZE—ZF+_/A=+—H8' ' BFER
BERBEY  BEMERER BB
B ARE1,561,000 (ZEZENF+
—A=+—H: AR¥1,566,0005T) °
ZEMEWERRDRBERBE - H4E
B AEBEWESHEMETRR -

R-_E—ZEF+_A=+-—"BER_ZEZT
NF+-—A=+—H EaHBEERE
EEZESRKEBERDTOT -

Past due but not impaired

Neither past BAMERAEGR
due but nor Less than 61-90 91-365 More than
Total impaired 60 days days days 365 days
FEHA

wE BEEEE DOR60X 61-90k 91-365% {&i1B365K
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT

At 31 December 2010 RA=-Z—B&
+=A=+—8 27,434 27,434 - - - -

At 31 December 2009 NZETNEF
+=—A=+—8H 13,247 7,569 113 - 11 5,554

At 1 July 2009 RZZTTNEF
+A—H 11,413 419 - - - 10,994
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. BEFREMEBUWERR (&)
(Cont'd)
Trade receivables that were neither past due nor R H BB EREE 8 S ERRRE
impaired relate to a wide range of customers for BeEFER HEEFW&OLZEBRE
whom there was no recent history of default. The £ HRZEFES AEETERET
Group does not hold any collateral over these A o
balances.
Trade receivables that were past due but not R EERESECE S EWERA
impaired relate to a number of independent Eﬁ%?@?ﬂﬂﬁ‘ﬁﬁ?Z? igﬁﬁﬁﬁ
customers that have a good track record with the BEBALKR BEEERRZZIEHRZ
Group. Based on past experience, management EEERUEEANE - HW?EZ@?%T
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary 2HWE - B AEEEEARE - HR
in respect of these balances as there has not been a ZEEH  ASEVYEREEMAEERR -
significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

(e) At 31 December 2009, the amount represented the (e) —EENFF+_A=+—H %&e¥
consideration receivable in relation to the disposal ﬁﬂﬁ/\\ﬁﬁa—ﬁ—ﬁ/\ﬁ%&ﬁZﬁ%E@
of an available-for-sale investments (2010: Nil). ERRE (ZE—ZFF : &) HFBE
Details of which are set out in Note 21. The amount R E21 - ZEBAFEER THE
was unsecured, non-interest bearing and was fully ERZZE-—ZFF-HAEBEZNT ﬁ?‘ﬁ
settled in January 2010, details of the settlement A IEH M EE3T7 ©
are set out in Note 37.

(f) Included in trade and other receivables in are the f)y BREESNHEMEREZNOT (£FNE
following amounts denominated in a currency other HBAsEEFE NERBZNEEK
than the functional currency of the entity to which J//(57|\) g
they relate:

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009

—E-FF —ETNF —ETNF

+=A=+—H +t—A=+—H +H—H

‘000 ‘000 ‘000

¥ + +

us$ XIT 956 868 1,612
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

26. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

Held-to-maturity investments comprise:

26. BEZZFHMARE
HAEZIHARANT -

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009

—E-ZF —ETNF —ETNF

+=—A=+—H +=—RA=+—H +A—AH

RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AREBT T AR¥TT

Trust fund investments EEEERE 150,704 150,704 150,704
Less: Impairment loss recognised o BEERREERE (150,704) (150,704) (150,704)

Trust fund investments is represented by funds placed by
two PRC subsidiaries with Kinghing Trust & Investment Co.,
Ltd.* (2FEIERIREBRAR]) (the “Trust Company”),
an independent trust investment company in the PRC.
Pursuant to the relevant contracts, the funds were for a
fixed term up to May 2006 and the Group’s return on the
trust funds is limited to an annual rate of return of 4%.

In early 2006, the Company was informed that the Trust
Company has been ordered by the relevant authority to
suspend its operation. The assets of the Trust Company
are now being managed by the China Construction Bank.
The two PRC subsidiaries have registered with the China
Construction Bank its entitlement to the fund. Despite
the Group's repeated attempts for confirmation of the
repayment schedule, neither the China Construction Bank
nor the local government has provided any information.
In view of the absence of sufficient information to
substantiate the recoverability of the trust fund, as at 30
June 2006, the directors of the Company recognised an
impairment loss of approximately RMB150,704,000 on
trust fund investments.

A The English name is for identification purpose only.

ERESRETIMEBE AN B R F R 5 E—H
HZREEERERKREGRAR (ERAR]) Z
BYEARERRIMRBR ES - REAMA
> ZETREEHRES  YR_TTXREF
TAEMm - AKREARZECRENERE
REFA% -

RZEEXREFEY] ARABEBMNZELATE
WEBAKRBAHSEFLLER  HEENEAHTEH
ERIEITEE - ZMERAKNERRC A HE
BREFETECLZESZEORE - #AAXEE
THABRSHEERERNERE KRB
TIARESE B RIBITHE BT IR T
ERl - AR ZEENA KRB UHEFEETHRARA
E R-ZETRENA=1TH ARARESEH
NEERAMZEITESCKRERREBARE
150,704,000 T RVE 1R ©

i R AREHES

Wa Uptown Group Company Limited & Fif%EB AR /AR o Annual Report 2010 &3



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

Held-for-trading investments comprise:

e PR wR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

27. HERZRABRZERE
BIER SRR ZREMT :

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-EF —ETHhF —ZEThF
+T=A=+—-H +t—A=+—H +A—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT ARETT
Equity securities listed in BB LMRFANE
Hong Kong at fair value 1,211 510 565

The above financial assets are classified as held-for-trading.
The fair values of these financial assets are based on
quoted market prices.

28. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

The restricted bank deposits are represented by the
guarantee deposit for construction of projects. In
accordance with relevant documents issued by the PRC
local State-Owned Land and Resource Bureau, the Group's
property development is required to place the proceeds
received from pre-sale of properties as guarantee deposits
for construction of properties. The deposits can only
be used to pay for construction fees and purchase of
the relevant projects when approvals are obtained from
the PRC local State-Owned Land and Resource Bureau.
The restriction will be released after the construction is
completed or estate ownership certificate of the pre-sold
properties is issued, whichever is earlier.

The restricted bank deposits are all denominated in RMB.
Conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank deposits out of the PRC are subject
to the relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC Government.

Restricted bank deposits carry interest at floating daily
bank deposit rates.

NEHHEEEEDBRRRZMFBAE  ZEH
BEEZARBEHERTSHRE -

28. HBRHBIBITERR

BERFBIBITFREERIRZRERE - BRI
TR TEAELHEREEREMIBEX
o NREBEZMEZRRAKBBEMEMEHA
REBEEENRERZS - REPEILTHE
ELEREERNLER - ZIRSIAF A
XNBEBEEENEEERANRBEREMB - &
RAIBRERTRKABLBENEFHE
BE (ARFER/E) REERR

BERHRTE2HIUARBEE - BUARE
B Z BB E RINE R K2 FIMESHERTT
FRELFE - BB BEBFRM AR
RE & I AR R KRR -

BRHRITFEFEE 2 BB RITFERANEFE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

29. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

29. BITELEERES

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—EB-FF —ZEThEF —EThEF
+=—A=+—H +t=—A=+—H +H—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
BRE AR®T T ARETT ARETT

Pledged bank deposits EERZRITER
— Bank deposits — RITIFHK (@ - 56 57
— Time deposits — EHTER (a) = 12,553 12,527
- 12,609 12,584

Bank balance and cash RITREFELRES

— Unpledged — IR (b) 123,028 148,905 13,289
123,028 161,514 25,873

Notes: BiaE

@) The amounts represented short-term deposits with maturity (a) ZRIAENBHB A=A T ZEHER - I
of three months or less and were pledged to banks for M TAEE 2 RITRLE M HE R T IRT - %ﬁf::
banking facilities granted to the Group. The pledged deposits g%\%ﬂi‘?’ A=+—H1EA~EA  EEBEER
carried interest rate ranging from 0.25% to 0.5% per annum BRI EFIZREFENTF0.25%FE0.5%5T 2 ©
for the six months ended 31 December 2009.

(b) For the year ended 31 December 2010 and the six months (b) HE_Z—ZF+_A=1T—RILEFEREE=
ended 31 December 2009, bank balances are deposits with a TTAF+-A=+—H JJ:/T1)E] CIRITEERETY
maturity of less than 3 months. The interest rate ranged from FER A =16 ﬁ‘ﬁb{TZﬁ o RENEANF
0.01% to 0.36% per annum (for the six months ended 31 0.01%2036%tE (BZ2—_FTFTNhF+_A=
December 2009: 0.01% to 1.17% per annum). +—HIEAEA - FRE01%ET1T%) ©

© Included in the pledged bank deposits and bank balances and (@ EEM 2 RITERRBITET LRI REILIEL
cash are the following amounts denominated in a currency REBENEEEB 2N EE BERN 2 A THIA ¢
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate:

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009

—E-EF ZTThEF ZZThF

+=B=+—H +=-—A=+—8H +H—H

‘000 ‘000 ‘000

5 F F

us$ e 917 65 946

(d) At 31 December 2010, the Group’s pledged bank deposits (d) RZE—ZF+=-A=+—H" $E@ZETEWEF

and bank balances and cash denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately RMB111,513,000 (2009: RMB148,114,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

Zﬁﬁﬁ R ERTT4 ﬁ&ﬁiMAE%JE &
B A ARE111,513,0000C (ZEZEAF - J\
EM1481140007;> /\EMR%W%@% &
FEISMNE BB IGHIFTITREE ﬁ%’%%ﬂiﬁ&lﬁ
EESES
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30. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

On 16 December 2010, the Group entered into a
preliminary agreement for the sale of an investment
property with a carrying amount of approximately
RMB10,200,000 to an independent third party for a
consideration of approximately HK$13,074,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB11,113,000). The sales and purchase
agreement was entered into on 3 January 2011. As of the
date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
the transaction was still in progress.

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

30. DERFFHEZEE

RZE—ZFF+_A+ 8 AEEREER
EHELHARR10,200,000TTEMETBILSE
=HEINI P W REXE®13,074,0007T
(BERHARK11,113,000T) - BEEWHHETY
MN_E——F—A=H:Y - BHEGAUBR
RZHEBH XS EIEHETE o

31. ESREMENERMR

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—2-2F —ETNF —ETNF
+=A=+—H +t—A=+—H +H—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T ARETIT

(Restated)

(F&E5))
Trade payables B ZRENRR 28,564 31,883 7,589
Accrued interest FERTHIE — 44,676 39,154
Receipt in advance (Note iii) TaER (P sEii) 282,672 128,078 —
Consideration payable (Note 37) JE B (Ki5E37) 55,133 119,680 =
Accrued expenses and other payables &1t 5z K H fib fE < BR X 35,439 9,440 9,094
401,808 333,757 55,837

(i) The Group normally receives credit periods from
suppliers ranging from 30 days to 90 days.

(ii) An aged analysis of the trade payables at the end

(i) ARBE—REIEERFHHNREHARI0K
F|90K -

(i WEEZAMFEZEIERNERIZE

of the reporting period based on invoice date is as BT
follows:

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-EF —EENF —ETNF
+=A=+—-H +t—A=+—H +A—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT ARETT
0 - 60 days 0— 60K 28,564 31,729 733
61 — 90 days 61— 90K = - -
91 - 365 days 91 — 365K - 92 280
Over 365 days HBHB365K - 62 6,576
28,564 31,883 7,589
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e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010

HE-T-THE+-A=t—ALEE

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Contd)

(i) Receipt in advance represents sales proceeds
received from buyers in connection with the Group’s

pre-sale of properties at the end of the reporting
period.

(iv)  Included in trade and other payables are the
following amounts denominated in a currency other

31. EZREMENKRR (@)

(i) FBAWKEAEBERXRHEEHERAXN
ZYEFEETH -

(iv) BHREMEMNERREIZE|ELIFNAR
SERBEK2NEEEREMZUT

than the functional currency of the entity to which I -
they relate:
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-EF —ZETNF —ETNF
+=A=+—-H +t—A=+—H +A—H
‘000 ‘000 ‘000
¥ + i
| uss$ e 3,122 100 300
32. PROVISION FOR CLAIMS 32. HERE

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009

—E-ZF —ETNF —ETNF
+=A=+—H +—A=1+—H +H—H

RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®TT AREBTFT ARBTFT

At beginning of the year/period RE /1) 60,700 60,700 65,941
Settlement during the year/period F EART A (60,700) - (5,241)
At end of the year/period R,/ BREE - 60,700 60,700

At 31 December 2009, the Group’s remaining provision for
claims of approximately RMB60,700,000 (2010: Nil) was in
respect of a claim made in 2008. In 2008, Bank of China,
Shenzhen Branch (the “Bank”) made a claim against a PRC
subsidiary of the Company under a corporate guarantee
allegedly provided by the subsidiary to the Bank in respect
of a third party. A judgment was made by the relevant
court on the litigation in favour of the Bank.

R-ZZEENF+_A=+—"8 X&EBZFH
BHREBEN AR®E60,700,000T (ZE—F
F8) BT N\F2RE RZZZT/)\ -
N A) BB A Al AR D R i P B
RITAEIN DT ([R17)) MEBERREERE -
ZEREREBZETRBRMNBARBEE =K
T - BEZEREEBELER ZFAIED
Hor - BsH BIRIT -
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32. PROVISION FOR CLAIMS (Cont'd)

On 23 October 2007, the PRC subsidiary and the
Bank entered into a non-binding memorandum of
understanding (“MOU") under which both parties agreed
that the aggregate principal and interests of the amount of
approximately RMB60,700,000 would be restructured into
a term of not less than 1 year and not more than 3 years
against the pledge of the Group’s leasehold buildings,
prepaid lease payments and investment properties in the
PRC (to be secured under the above guarantee provisions
of approximately RMB60,700,000 and the bank loan of
approximately RMB71,734,000 as at 31 December 2009
(31 December 2010: Nil) (Note 33) and certain amount of
accrued interest would be waived.

On 16 September 2010, the Company and Zilver
Yuan Investment Partners Limited (the “Subscriber”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank of China Group
Investment Limited entered into a subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”) in which the Company
would issue HK$160,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB136,000,000) convertible bonds (the “CB") to
the Subscriber (Note 34). On 1 December 2010, the
subscription of the CB was completed and the proceeds
from the subscription was used for the settlement of the
following amounts due to the Bank:

(i) Provision of approximately RMB60,700,000 in
relation to guaranteed provisions;

(ii) Overdue bank loans of RMB67,734,000; and
(i)  Accrued interests of RMB52,426,000.

The fair value of the CB on 1 December 2010 was
approximately RMB198,909,000, resulting in a loss on
debt restructuring of approximately RMB18,049,000.

A settlement agreement dated 30 December 2010
was entered into between the Company and the Bank,
confirming the waiver of the right to claim against the
Company for any outstanding amount due to the Bank.

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

32. RERE @)

RZEZ+F+A-+=H BRREBARHE
ﬁhﬁﬁ?—ﬁTﬂﬂ%ﬁzﬁmﬁmﬁwﬁ
=8 Bl B —HREAE BEHOARE
60,700,000tz A& B EH AT VB —FHE
TNBB=FZ2FTHER  WUAHPRBEAZHAE
EE - HEBRNRELREEMEELSER (B
BEARE RZEZEAF+_A=+—8"
FERz2SFH ARYE0,700,000T KIR1TE
REBHARYET,734,000T) (ZE—ZF+
“A=+—8: &) (WE33) ek —EH
KA FEETHIE -

R-ZE—FFNA+8 - Z!S/AETEEEP@E;%
REERAREZENBARETREBRA
(ru/u\ E%/\J) uTi 0N E%Tﬁj <ru/u\ ﬁ%‘l‘ﬁ, J) TJ%
It RAE) #1778 8160,000,0007T (B
#9 A R #136,000,0007T) ZT%HxLa% <FT
R ES]) TREBA (5E34) - —ZF
+=—HA—8" T?ﬁﬁﬂx{aﬁzw,ﬁﬁamﬁﬁz Ffﬁ
BB RIEREIN TIEMNEITZHIEB

() REFRBEBELZBEBOARR
60,700,0007T

(i) WBWHRITERARYGE7,734,0000T &
(i) FEETFIBE ARYS2,426,0007T °

AR EENR _ZE—ZTF+_A—HZ2ARE
,%W\Eﬁ%wsgoaoooﬁ TEREHEAEE
I ANE#18,049,0007T °
AARIEETIIVHRAA-_ZT—SF+_-_A=

T—RZMERGE  BRRERARQ B MR
ENRITZAREEFTAREZER -
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e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

33. BANK BORROWINGS

33. SRITER

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—EB-FF —ZTThEF —EThEF
+=—A=+—H +t—A=+—H +H—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
LiEs AR®TT AREBTFT ARBTFT
Bank loans, secured BHRERRITER (© 385,936 45,139 40,009
Overdue bank loan, unsecured g HR A R
RITER (@) & (b) - 71,734 74,734
Trust receipt loan ZERIEE R (d) - - 4,014
385,936 116,873 118,757
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-EF —ETNF —ZETNF
+=A=+—-H +—A=+—H +A—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETFT ARETTT
(Restated) (Restated)
(FeE5) (#&E5))
Carrying amounts repayable: FER FREREE
On demand or within MR—F 7 N iR E K
one year B 24,070 33,460 32,744
More than one year but not A —FEFA
exceeding two years 350,000 = =
374,070 33,460 32,744
Carrying amount of bank borrowings B & EREZ LMK
that are repayable on demand EREBEREZIBITE
due to breach of loan covenants FEREE (RRE
(show under current liabilities) BEETEY)) - 71,734 74,734
Carrying amount of bank borrowings — REI4E BT —F K
that are not repayable within RECEERBEEA IR
one year from the end of the EREBIGZIRTT
reporting period but contain a EFREAE (RmE
repayment on demand clause S\ N25)
(shown under current liabilities) 11,866 11,679 11,279
385,936 116,873 118,757
Less: Amounts due within one year B R—F 2R
| shown under current liabilities mEAE (35,936) (116,873) (118,757)
Amounts due after one year —F1& 5| Hf 350,000 - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BANK BORROWINGS (Cont‘d)

The unsecured bank loan was borrowed from the
Bank by a PRC subsidiary of the Company which
was overdue as at 31 December 2009. As an
overdue penalty imposed by the Bank, the interest
rate of this unsecured bank loan was 9.558% per
annum for the year ended 31 December 2010 (for
the six months ended 31 December 2009: 9.558%
per annum). In December 2006, the Shenzhen
Arbitration Committee made a decision in favour of
the Bank which has however subsequently agreed
not to enforce its right to demand immediate
repayment from the Group in order to allow the
Bank to restructure the outstanding debt into a
loan secured against the Group’s leasehold land and
buildings, investment properties and prepaid lease
payments in the PRC with carrying value as at 31
December 2009 of approximately RMB12,577,000,
RMB 129,400,000 and RMB258,000, respectively.

As detailed in Note 32, the Group undergone debt
restructuring and the overdue bank loan was fully
settled on 8 December 2010.

The accrued interest at 31 December 2009 of
approximately RMB44,676,000 (2010: Nil) was
recorded under current liabilities.

The secured bank loans carry interest at the
prevailing market interest rate. The effective
interest rates of the secured bank loans at 31
December 2010 ranged from 1.8% to 3.18%
per annum. At 31 December 2010, the loans
are secured against the Group’s leasehold land
and buildings, investment properties, assets held
for sales, prepaid lease payments and properties
under development with carrying values of
approximately RMB14,835,000, RMB40,084,000
and RMB737,095,000 respectively.

The effective interest rates of the secured bank
loans at 31 December 2009 ranged from 1.8%
to 2.73% per annum. At 31 December 2009, the
loans are secured against the Group’s leasehold
land and buildings, investment properties
and bank balances with carrying values of
approximately RMB20,076,000, RMB45,206,000
and RMB 12,609,000, respectively.

33.

e PR wR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

RITER (&)

BEFZRITEFRERITIETAR
—HHPBENREAR B = ??ﬂ¢+
ZA=+—HE3H - BE —ZF
+TZR=+— Eti&ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁA
RZEHMEEISE% (BE_ZTT N
FTZA=1+—HLEAREA: FHX
9.558%) * LA{E R R 1T B U 2 @ Hi &
/T/\ JrApEE= = /\E‘f’ A Lﬂ”ﬁ'ﬁé

BRTRITHBF - EEERRTEED
@ /\fIHWTTTQETK*$E.EHET
BEREZEN - AEFRITEZAREN
mgmiﬁﬁ*EMK%E%$ﬁz
MELHRESE KEMERBEEN
RIBEERANERBE_ZZENF T+ =
A=1T—BZEHEESNAHNAARE
12,577,0007T * AK®129,400,0007T &
AR #258,0007T ©

ANHEE32FTEE S ARBEETERE
M BRRTERER T —ZTF+ =
ANBEBEEZAS -

RZBENFFT A=+ —HZEEF
BHANRMA4,676,000T (ZE—FF
ﬂ) Eu+)\//\bébgfﬁ ©

ZEBRBBETEREMSEXRFTE - K
HIRTEFRR _ZE—ZFF+=-_A=+—
AZEBRFANENF1.8%E3.18% ° A
—E-ZEFF+_A=+—H ' '  ZEHMA
AEBEZHELHREFT  KREME -
BENEBE HMEBNFBERERY
XEERF SEEFESNAARE
14,835,000t * A K #40,084,0007T &
AE#737,095,0007T °

BHRTERR_ZETNLF+_A=+
—HBZEBEFNENF1.8%E2.73% °

Eé:%?%éniJr:ﬂ =+—H ZEX
UAEBHEELTHEEFT REWY
(XNBTEHEGEER SEEBFES
B #4 & A K #¥20,076,0007T © A R
45,206,0007T 2 A R#12,609,0007T °
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- A =
e U BHmERME
For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-T-TFE+-A=+—AILER
33. BANK BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

(d) At 31 December 2009, the trust receipt loan carries
interest at LIBOR plus 2.5% (2010: Nil).

(e) Included in bank borrowings are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which they

33. RITER (&)

@) R-FEAE+-A=+—8 RHEMK
58 A R S R 4 8 002.5% 3T B (=
T-FF ) -

() MITEERRAIFUNANREEBEREZ
e BB SEBEL Z A TR

relate:
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-ZF —EBEETNF —ETNF
+=A=+—H +—A=+—H +A—H
‘000 ‘000 ‘000
3F T T
Us$ ETT - - 585

34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 1 December 2010 (“Issue Date”), the Company issued
CB in principal amount of HK$160,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB136,000,000) to the Subscriber
(Note 32). The net proceeds from the issue of the CB
were used to settle the entire outstanding amount
due to the Bank. The CB is secured by a guarantee
and share charge over Usualink Development Limited
("Usualink”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
The CB entitle the holders to convert them into ordinary
shares of the Company at any time on or after three
months from the Issue Date up to ten business days
prior to 30 November 2013 (“the Settlement Date”) in
multiples of HK$5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB4,250,000) at an initial conversion price of HK$0.59
(equivalent to approximately RMB0.50) (subject to
adjustments) per conversion share. If the CB has not
been converted, they will be redeemed on the Settlement
Date at par. Interest of 4% per annum will be paid
semi-annually up until the Settlement Date.

Pursuant to the CB subscription agreement, the conversion
price of the CB shall be adjusted on each of the first
and second anniversaries of the Issue Date if the volume
weighted average price of the shares over the preceding
calendar month is less than 85% of the applicable
conversion price. The new conversion price will then be
adjusted to a price equal to 85% of the conversion price
immediately before the adjustment.

34, TEARESR

R-ZE—ZTF+_F—H ([B7EHH])  &Q
1T S EEB%160,000,0007T 2 A # A% (& %5
(BN A R%136,000,0007T) T3R8 A (Bt
3E32) c BT MR BELF B RBFEANE
NEMBETZE2EMAREERIE - A[BRRESTY
AERIEERT - WERHFRE TAARZEMN
BARBHBMERAR AR ([B]) - aJ#ikE
FREFBEARETHHEBA=@AxzER
—E—=F+—A=+H ([XBH]) gi+1&
& 3 H B RIBE I 8 T R AR B 55 1% 8 165,000,000
TTZEE (FHERARK4,250,0007T) B A
RRRIEBE  VIRERELSTRERK NS
¥0.597C (FBER ARE0.507T) (A] FFAE) -
W AT MR EH m RS - AR B 8%
HEER - FFA4B 2 FEBFFF RN —RE
SAFBEALE -

R RBREZREWE - WD BENEF
BENEENME _FEFZHERIRERTR
B (B285% » AR A B S AN E AN &EITH
HzEEME _BBFHE - HRRERS
EERSNEEAERNBRRESS % ZENR -
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e PR wR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Cont'd) 34. ARARES (&)

The fair values of the CB at the date of inception and at RETEBRZZ-—ZFF+A=1T—HABRK
31 December 2010 are approximately RMB198,909,000 BH 2 AR ED R AEAR198,909,0007T &
and RMB184,391,000 respectively, which are determined AR#184,391,0007T @ E 48 E EBRAEHT R A
taking into account a valuation carried out by Vigers, using “IEBENETHEMERT -

the binomial model.

The fair values of the CB at the inception date and at RETARSHEBIIRRES 2 AR BETIIZ
the end of each reporting period were calculated using MEEEFE - FEAARERRANEEZRH
the market value basis. Major parameters adopted in the AT -

calculation of the fair value are summarised below:

1 December 31 December

2010 2010 |
—E-EF —E-2F
+=A—HB +=A=+-—8
Share price BRI B HK$0.79 HK$0.72
75#0.797T BH0.727T
Conversion price R (E HK$0.59 HK$0.59
7B#0.597T 78#0.597C
Expected volatility (Note i) TERRRE (BsE) 62% 61%
Expected life (Note ii) TEERA R (B 36 months 35 months
3616 A 351E A
Risk free rate (Note iii) mER L= (BIREi) 1.25% 1.25%
Expected dividend yield (Note iv) TEHEARR B2 (BfREiv) 0% 0%
Notes: BT -
Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical i. FRERIEB B E AR R FRG BB LRIEE
volatility of the Company’s share price. JE °
ii. Expected life was the expected remaining life of the option. i TREIA M R 2 TEEA T A -
ii. The risk free rate is determined by reference to the yield of iii. ERERANE D2 ENLF 2 BB E5 R
the US Treasury bonds with similar duration. KETE °
iv. The expected dividend yield was based on the historical V. FEHIRR B R IRBE AR R B K SRR E -

dividend payment record of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010

BE_T—

TE+-AS+—AILER

35. ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary share of HK$0.10 each

35. EERRAK
SIRB£0.107T 2 L@

Number of
shares Equivalent to
e HER
Notes ‘000 HK$'000 RMB’000
B et ,F BETT ARETRT
Authorised: EER
At 1 July 2009, RZF 7n¢tﬂ =hE
31 December 2009 —EFENF+-HA=1—H
and 31 December 2010 E=F-FF+-A=1—A 3,000,000 300,000 281,070
Issued and fully paid: /_&E%(EH&ZF :
At 1 July 2009 RZZETNEF+A—H
Issue of shares upon BT A 429,180 42,918 44,031
— settlement of consideration — I AEEWERB AR,
in respect of acquisition AHHEREBE ZRE
of subsidiaries/available-
for-sale investment (a) 421,800 42,180 37,113
— exercise of share options — (TIERE R (b) 1,000 100 88
At 31 December 2009 R-ZENFT-H=1+—H
and 31 December 2010 E—F-—FF+-A=+—H 851,980 85,198 81,232
Notes: BT
@) On 13 August 2009, the Group completed the investment of (a) —EZ ﬂi]\ﬂ +=H AEEZHK—ERE
the unlisted equity security in Ocean Vast Corporation Limited /i’i .ﬁﬁﬁ Al ([EE]) 2 LMBHFRE - )
(“Ocean Vast”) and the total consideration was entirely %@Tﬂgﬁﬂﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ75,000,000H§Hﬁ?ﬁ\ﬁ%
settled by way of issue and allotment of 175,000,000 new 0. 102 HMEBR 2T RIKEERRER Z
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at a quoted market price R TSR ERBE1.167T ¢
of HK$1.16 at the date of completion of the acquisition as
consideration shares.
On 20 November 2009, the Group completed another EENFT—AZTH AEETKS—E
acquisition of the entire equity interest in Boom Lotus Wﬁ%*ﬁfﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁw RAERAR ([EE]) ZF7
Holdings Limited (“Boom Lotus”) and the total consideration BR&G 4 TthﬂfEL/\?*ﬁ KBt %%246,800,0000%
was partly settled by way of issue and allotment of %5%@50.1077:2%5 BREHEE - RREER
246,800,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at a & B 2D TS RE ABEE0.997T -
quoted market price of HK$0.99 at the date of completion of
the acquisition as consideration shares
(b) On 14 August 2009 and 15 September 2009 respectively, in (b) DRIR=ZE 7 ZNENATHBRZZEZNFNHA
aggregate of 1,000,000 share options were exercised. Details +EE| + #£1,000,000/% & i & 0L #1768 - B
of which have been set out in Note 40. E?%%ZE/;\WEE4O o
© All the shares issued rank pari passu in all respect with the (o) FrEEBITRHERARBEERN ZERER

existing shares of the Company.

)
ZS o
I
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-—ZFT_A=+—HILFE

36. CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE 36. TJEEIA T FEEE LR

PREFERENCE SHARES

Convertible redeemable preference shares, issued and fully

BOIRCHR 2 ERABREERMT

paid:
Number of shares Amount
BRE x|
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009  31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-FF —TETNF & —TTNE
+=A +=ZA ZEThE +=A TZA ZETNE
E=[8 =g +A—H =t+-H =1+—H +H—H
Notes '000 ‘000 ‘000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Bz 3 F T ARBTR ARETT ARETR
At beginning and end of A/ Hi%]
the year/period 460,000 460,000 460,000 184,653 184,653 184,653
Represented by: Hep s
Convertible redeemable AR AE
preference shares Bk (a) 350,000 350,000 350,000 142,406 142,406 142,406
Convertible redeemable EE R
preference A shares BELAR (b) 110,000 110,000 110,000 42,247 42,247 42.247
460,000 460,000 460,000 184,653 184,653 184,653

Note:

As a result of completion of the issue of the CB, the
conversion price of the convertible redeemable preference
shares and the convertible redeemable preference A shares
of the Company will be adjusted from HK$0.40 to HK$0.38
with effect from the 1 December 2010.

(a)

On 29 June 2006, the Company issued 250,000,000
convertible redeemable preference shares of par
value of HK$0.10 at a subscription price of HK$0.40
each for cash. In April 2007, the Company exercised
the option to require the subscriber to further
subscribe for an additional 100,000,000 convertible
redeemable preference shares at HK$0.40 each
pursuant to the relevant agreement. On 22 June
2007, the Company issued these 100,000,000
convertible redeemable preference shares of par
value of HK$0.10 at a subscription price of HK$0.40
each for cash.

On 29 December 2006, the Company issued
110,000,000 convertible redeemable preference A
shares of par value of HK$0.10 at a subscription price
of HK$0.40 each in respect of the acquisition of a
subsidiary.

All the above convertible redeemable preference
shares can be converted into ordinary shares at
HK$0.38 (for the six months ended 31 December
2009: HK$0.40) per share. The major terms of the
above-mentioned preference shares are set out
below:

b

AT I E AT 5Em & AR R A E T E [
BEB R A ERT]EREEAR Z BB EHHB
B0 40T AR EBE038T BT —TFE+ =
B—HB#AK -

(a) RZZEERFENA-+HB - KATIN
WEIR & 5 N IZRBESRBK0.40T
%%17250,000,0000% 5 X E &5 #0.107T
ZuEBn EREER R_TEZTLF
WA AARIREEBHEITEER -
BRAREANGIE 040 TEEINRE
100,000,0000% 7] 82 £ A] & [0 (& o % o A
—EELFEXRNAZFTZH ARBRIMNE
BIRE A RNIZEBRBE0L0TTHRIERE
#175%100,000,0000% & EEE#0.10
JC2 n] e ] iE BB A% o

(b) R-EBEXRE+-_A=-F+NH  AQ7F
R —EHE AR MZREEERS
#0.4075%17110,000,000 4% 5 A% @ &5
¥50.10 02 AIEE A A HE BB S ARR o

it A5 ] B AT BE BB R IR Rl R
B 038 T (BE-_TTNE+-_A=
+—HBIENEAR - BE0.400T) B AL
;%H& o B LAl B E BIEFTIE
N
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

36. CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE 36.
PREFERENCE SHARES (Cont'd)

AERTEDELR (&)

(i)

For the convertible redeemable preference shares
issued on 29 June 2006 and 22 June 2007, the
preference share holders (“the Preference Share
Holders”) has the right, exercisable at any time
from the date of issue to 15 June 2009 and 7 June
2010 respectively (the dates being the 10 business
days before the third anniversary of the respective
dates of initial issue of the convertible redeemable
preference shares) (“Conversion Period”), to convert
the preference shares into fully paid ordinary shares.
The Company has the right, exercisable following
the end of the conversion period and up to the
third anniversary of the date of the initial issue of
the preference shares, to redeem all or part of the
preference shares or to request the subscriber to
convert all or part of preference shares into fully paid
ordinary shares.

During the year ended 30 June 2009, the Company
and the Preference Share Holders entered into a
supplemental agreement and agreed to extend the
Conversion Period for a further 12 months from
the expiry date of the Conversion Period such that
the Preference Share Holder shall have the right to
convert the convertible redeemable preference shares
held by it at any time from the date of issue to 15
June 2010 and 7 June 2011 (the dates being 10
business days before fourth anniversary of the date
of initial issue of 250,000,000 and the 100,000,000
convertible redeemable preference shares,
respectively).

For the convertible redeemable preference A shares
issued on 29 December 2006, the preference share
holder (the “Preference A Share Holder”) has the
right, exercisable at any time from the date of
issue to 19 December 2008 (the date being the 10
business days before the second anniversary of the
date of initial issue of the convertible redeemable
preference shares) (“Preference A Shares Conversion
Period”), to convert the preference shares into fully
paid ordinary shares. The Company has the right,
exercisable during the preference A shares conversion
period, to redeem all or part of the preference shares.
The Company also has the right, exercisable following
the end of the preference A shares conversion period
and up to the second anniversary of the date of
the initial issue of the preference shares, to request
the subscriber to convert all or part of preference A
shares into fully paid ordinary shares.

During the year ended 30 June 2009, the Company
and the Preference A Share Holder have agreed to
extend the Preference A Shares Conversion Period for
the convertible redeemable preference shares to 19
December 2009.

(i)

(ii)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE
PREFERENCE SHARES (Cont'd)

(iii)

During the period from 1 July 2009 to 31 December
2009, the Company and the Preference A Share
Holder entered into a supplemental agreement in
which:

(a) the preference shares conversion period
shall be extended automatically for a
period of twelve months with effect from
each expiry date of the preference shares
conversion period unless (i) the Preference
A Share Holder serves a written notice on
the Company notifying its intention of not
extending the preference shares conversion
period for a further twelve months not later
than seven days prior to the expiry date of
the preference shares conversion period, and
(i) the Company agrees not to extend the
preference shares Conversion period for a
further twelve months upon receiving such
notice; and

(b) the preference shares shall be transferable.

The convertible redeemable preference shares and
convertible redeemable preference A shares do not
carry the right to vote. Each share is entitled to
be paid a fixed cumulative preferential dividend in
priority to any payment to the holders of any other
class of shares at the rate of 3.5% per annum on
the amount paid up or credited as paid up. No
payment of dividends on the convertible redeemable
preference shares and convertible redeemable
preference A shares unless at the relevant dividend
payment due date, the Company has sufficient
distributable reserves to cover the payment of such
dividends.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

37. CONSIDERATION PAYABLE 37. ENKE
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—E-BF —ETNF —EENF
+t=A=+—-H +=-A=+—H +A—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB‘000 RMB’000
BEE AR¥ET ARETT ARETT
At the beginning of the year/period A%/ H#i1]) 262,777 - -
Arising from the acquisition g l=pNSIE
of subsidiaries e (i) = 302,016 =
Imputed interest income HEMSWA = (34,694) -
Cash Discount S EiRil (ii) = (6,299) =
Fair value of consideration payable at W B fERHEE 2
the date of acquisition (Note 39) A (FzE39) 262,777 261,023 =
Exchange realignment 05 =58 (2,923) = =
Early settlement | REER (ii) (119,680) - =
Early settlement Il RREERI (iv) (94,079) - -
Discount received on early settlement Gz 2EEUER
&gl (iv) (4,704) = =
Imputed interest expense charged F/BNEENL
during the year/period (Note 11) S (M$EE11) 13,742 1,754 =
At the end of the year/period i ik 55,133 262,777 -
Analysed for reporting purposes as: LASREAB BT
Current liabilities (Note 31) mEaE (fE31) 55,133 119,680 -
Non-current liabilities ETHEE - 143,097 -
55,133 262,777 -
Notes M=k -
(i) The amounts represented the deferred payment in relation to (i) ZeRE AR EENFLA—RBE-_ZEZTNEFT+

the acquisition of subsidiaries during the period from 1 July
2009 to 31 December 2009, details of which are set out in
Note 39.

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement dated
11 August 2009, the consideration of HK$343,200,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB302,016,000) (“Cash
Consideration”) was unsecured, non-interest bearing and will
be payable by the Group on or after 19 November 2011.

A=+ HHHEEKENRB AR ZEEN
Ko FBEEHNRHIFES ©

*ETFHHEE_::jLi/\H'P HZE=R
3 3% 0 & #343,200,000T (BB E RN AR
30201600071)Zfﬂﬁ(ﬁﬁ/ﬂk%n%#
R BRERAR-_ZE—F+—A+IBxK
BT e

N%ﬁ)ﬂ]ﬂ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. CONSIDERATION PAYABLE (Cont'd)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

On 4 January 2010, the Group and the vendor of Boom Lotus
Holdings Limited (the “Vendor”), a subsidiary acquired by
the Group during the six months ended 31 December 2009
(Note 39), entered into a supplementary agreement. Pursuant
to which the Vendor agreed to provide a cash discount of
approximately HK$7,158,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB6,299,000) (“Cash Discount”) to the Group for the early
settlement of HK$136,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB119,680,000) of the Cash Consideration (“ Early
Settlement 1”).

The Early Settlement | was settled by way of the followings:

(@) On 4 January 2010, as requested by the Vendor,
the Group, the Vendor and the purchaser of Hill
Light (the “Buyer”) entered into an agreement, in
which the Buyer agree to settle the Consideration
Receivables of HK$126,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB110,880,000) (Note 25(e)) directly
to the Vendor, the settlement has been completed on
14 January 2010.

(b) On 4 January 2010, the Group has agreed to
settle HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB8,800,000) of the Cash Consideration to the
Vendor.

At the date of issued of the consolidated financial statements
for the six months ended 31 December 2009, the Group
had settled HK$136,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB119,680,000) in 2010, therefore this amount had been
classified as current liabilities as at 31 December 2009.

Besides of the arrangement of Early Settlement I, the
Group and the Vendor entered into several supplementary
agreements during the year ended 31 December 2010,
pursuant to which the Vendor agreed to provide a further
total cash discount of approximately HK$5,407,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,704,000) to the Group
for the early settlement of HK$108,136,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB94,079,000) of the remaining Cash
Consideration (“Early Settlement II").

The effective interest rate of the consideration payable is
11.6% per annum (2009: 11.6% per annum).
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RIER)) B2 OHHExHE - BHERRA
ﬁ%ﬂ,\—ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁ15800071(@%5@/\
#6,299,0007T) v R E&WMF ([RemM)
AEBUEARNEERFEERSRERSE
136,000,000t (A5 A R #119,680,0007T)
2P (TRBEE)

REEEATIITAEE :
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(a)

R=ZF
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

38. DEFERRED TAXATION 38. EERIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated MEVNNGEETBIAABREMS » & TFELEFIB

statement of financial position, certain deferred tax BEREBEBEETUEY - U T AR BRET
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following Ve BT R TE LS RA DM

analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

reporting purposes:

31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.7.2009
—B-FF —ZEENF —ETNF
+T=A=+—-H +-A=+—H +A—H
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT ARBTTT
(Restated) (Restated)
(e =351) (e =351)
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIAE = 13,722 10,683 9,924
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIAEE (45,301) (84,324) (9,924)
(31,579) (73,641) =
The follow are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets MRAHRARAEERE BEERANELTHE (8
recognised and movement thereof during the current and &) BEFENEFSHNT
prior reporting periods:
Impairment Impairment Change
loss Change loss  Impairment in fair Change
recognised infair ~ recognised loss value of in fair
Accelerated  inrespect  valueof inrespect recognised  Baddebts properties  value of Undistributed
depreciation  of other investment  of trade in respect of directly under  properties profitofa
allowance receivables  properties receivables inventories written off development held forsale  subsidiary  Tax losses Total
Rl REME  EAEK
BzAE M B2 #Ez ERNE BENEX WELE

InEfE ER 282 BEER VEFR TREENE OAESE QAEARE AORBA HERR 4%
RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMB00D  RMBOOO  RVBOOD  RMBODD  RMBOOD  RMBO0D  RMBOOO  RVBOOD  RMB'O00
ARRTT ARETL ARETT ARMTR ARBTR ARMTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARRTR ARETR

At1 July 2009 N-EENELA-A (147) 18 9,777) 2801 859 410 . - - 5750 -
Acouisition of subsiciaries YEHEAR = = (2,094) - = - (048 (46,709) (9,368) - (78599
(Charged) credited to consolidated (31 A) 4
statement of comprehensive Fe2ENER
income 9 210 (853) (2,125 (54) 470) - 5938 (980) 3,198 4958
At 31 December 2009 RZEENE
| t-F=1-H (53) 228 (12,724) 702 805 - (20,428) (40,771) (10,348) 8,948 (73,641)
Bxchange realignment ErEE - - 5 (17 = : - - - (42) -
Effect of change in tax rate fimag s oe (14) 5% (2,298) I 20 - - 42 - 1995 4272
(Charged) credited to consolidated ~ (3FA) #1B A
statement of comprehensive FR2ENER
income 45) - (1,870) - (107) - - 29,127 (556) 893 21482
Reversal upon payment of SAVEBR
withholding tax BE = - - - - - - - 10348 - 10,348
At 31 December 2010 RE-ZF
T-A=1-H (112) 284 (16,833) 726 918 - (20,428 (1372) (556) 11,79 (31,579)
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38. DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont'd)

At 31 December 2010, the Group had unused tax losses
of RMB60,878,000 (2009: RMB63,808,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately RMB60,878,000
(2009: RMB45,693,000) of such losses. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax
losses of RMB18,115,000 at 31 December 2009 (2010:
Nil) due to the unpredictability of future profits streams. At
31 December 2010, approximately RMB20,578,000 (2009:
RMB20,578,000) included in the above unused tax losses
will expire after five years from the year of assessment to
which they relate. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 20 November 2009, the Group completed the
acquisition of the entire equity interest in Boom Lotus
Holdings Limited, and its subsidiaries, Pine Global Holdings
Limited and Zhuhai Zhongzhu Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. (collectively refers to as “Boom Lotus Group”)
for a consideration of HK$587,532,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB517,028,000). The consideration was
settled by issuance and allotment of 246,800,000 ordinary
shares of the Company at par value of HK0.10 each.
The fair value of the ordinary shares of the Company,
determined using the published price available at the date
of the acquisition was HK$0.99 per share, amounting
to HK$244,332,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB215,012,000) and the remaining consideration
of HK$343,200,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB302,016,000) will be settled by cash payable by the
Company on or after 24 months from the completion
date. This acquisition has been accounted for using the
purchase method. The amount of goodwill arising as a
result of the acquisition was RMB184,231,000.
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38. IEEHIH (&)

R-ZE-FTFE+_A=+—HB KEEAHF K
) F B TE 18 K £ A R #60,878,0000T (= &
T NE : AR ¥63,808,0007T) @ 7] AR IE &
REFHEH - BEHBEECHERBEBHBERY
A R #60,878,000c (ZTEZENLF: ARK
45,693,0007T) ° M 7~ A T8 B &9 & 2K A E
mOMNZBEEAE+_A=1+—BREBEET
MEEECEREBERNBHAREBEIRHOARE
18,115,000 L (Z T —FF : &) - R _T —
TEF+-_HA=+—H ' & AK®20,578,0007C
—ZETNF : AR¥20,578,0007T) © BIEHE
FHARBAREEEBNE S RASFEZEE -
H b Ay18 2k n] R B S EE o

39. MIEARWE

R-ZBEAEFE+—A=+H ~"EFEKKE
ERIERERARIMEMNBARMFIRERR
RARKETRGEHERBEER AR (HE &
BREBR|) 22HEBRITRA BREABE
587,532,000t (A& R 4 A K #517,028,000
JC) o (B LA 8 17 & Bid 8 AN R §1246,800,000
BWEeEREAEEEIOTZEBRARNTRR
S ARBEBRZAABRKEBHZE
N E®R (ANAM099T) B REBK
244,332,0007T (FHERH A K#215,012,000
JT) + i #& | 78 #343,200,0007T 2 K B (18
Z N AR #302,016,0007T) # M E
“tHEABUBE M AWEBE AR
FREEZ RARBEECHEZAARE
184,231,0007T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 39. MIEBATIWEE (&)

The net assets acquired in this transaction, and the MRS FEENREENEENT ¢
goodwill arising, are as follows:

Acquiree’s
carrying Fair value
amount adjustment Fair value
WU R Y E A NRERE ARE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREBFT ARBTFT
Net assets acquired Frusig & E FE
Property, plant and equipment Y MBS N RS 284 = 284
Investment properties REMHE 61,600 — 61,600
Properties under development Y 292,689 81,711 374,400
Property held for sales FEYE 146,707 162,093 308,800
Other receivables Hfth pEUR AR FX 10,757 = 10,757
Bank balances and cash IRTTEFRIRS® 161,762 = 161,762
Trade and other payables B 5 RAEMERERFK (246,429) — (246,429)
Income tax payable JERTRRT 1SR (516) - (516)
Deferred taxation IEEFRITE (11,462) (67,137) (78,599)
592,059
Non-controlling interests JEFE I (300,255)
Goodwill fEES 184,231
Total consideration AR R 476,035
Total consideration satisfied by: BREYNAR :
Consideration payable (Note 37) FERRE (HI7E37) 261,023
Issue of shares BT 215,012
476,035
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: AW B A A
ZBREBRA
Bank balances and cash acquired RITEFENIRE 161,762
The goodwill arising on acquisition of Boom Lotus Group is AN BEREBMELACBHEBREMEERE
- attributable to the anticipation profitability of the property B2 TAHERF) o
development business.
Boom Lotus Group contributed approximately %@%ﬁﬁuﬂﬂqﬂﬁaﬁi\%gﬂi‘f’iﬁi
RMB27,516,000 and RMB1,331,000, to the Group’s T HABAKRKEDHAKHE27,516,0007T &
turnover and loss for the period between the date of AEH1,331,00070 2 X REE -

acquisition and 31 December 2009, respectively.
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39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont‘d)

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 July 2009,
total Group’s turnover for the period from 1 July 2009
to 31 December 2009 would have been increased
to RMB184,398,000 and contributed approximately
RMB17,587,000 profit for the period from 1 July 2009
to 31 December 2009. The pro forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of the turnover and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2009, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company
on 20 January 2003 (“2003 Share Option Scheme”).
The 2003 Share Option Scheme was replaced by a new
share option scheme adopted by the shareholders on 30
November 2009 (“2009 Share Option Scheme”).

The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any directors, non-executive directors, employees, advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group whom the board of directors considers, in its
sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group) options to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the adoption date and as
at the approval date of refreshment from time to time,
excluding for this purpose shares issued on the exercise of
options. The subscription price will be determined by the
Company’s board of directors and will not be less than the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s shares,
(ii) the average of the closing price of the shares quoted on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the five trading
days immediately preceding the grant date and (iii) the
closing price of the shares on the grant date.

At 31 December 2010, the number of shares in
respect of which options had been granted and
remained outstanding under the share option scheme
was 27,948,000 (31 December 2009: 17,948,000),
representing 3.28% (31 December 2009: 2.11%) of the
ordinary shares in issue at that date.
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39. MEATRWE (@)

MRKEENR_ZETALFLA—HERK " &
ESEH_ZTEENFLtA—HBHE_ZEZTHAEF
AT HHAZHBEEEERBRENZEAR
#184,398,000t kR —_TEZTNEFEELA—HZE
TEEAF+ A=+ HHREBHOARE
17,587,000t 2 FIE - hEZEBE R R B REH
Aal TEASENHEEREENLER - A%
BEEHNSFER _TETZNFLA—BEZNE
FERK ©

40. UEZEEZURDBEROX
HB‘EE

ARRER-ZTZ=F—A -+ HKMH AR
Hx%ﬂriU(FZOOBEE%HHZE*H%M) 20035 f8
BEFEER —_TTNF+—A=THEERR
3B R 4 2 3 e B i At &) ([ 20094 B8 Ak #E 7t
21) B e

AARARHBRETFTSEERLEE (BRE

CEHENBEREELABETHAEEELE
%Z$%l1ﬂﬂ£ﬂ§$~ EHITESE - 1@
8 - Ef - BREE - DEE - BN H®HE
meRE P ¥R A**%ﬂ‘%%ﬂ#
Bl A RRTS LR ) LLREBAR ARG -
XZARBARARBIRESTSIHM BB ER
TEEFH 2 EH ,Hﬁaﬁaééﬁﬂle:m% (&
FEBLUE B T AR EM B THARD ) - REBE
BHRANAEESETE B T2ERTIIE
BEz8EE  ()VARRBROOEE " (NBER
BRERLBHIAERS B REZETERAT
AR D BT E - K (i) iR B eI
& -

MWZZE-TF+-_A=+—0  BHEXRTE
2 BB HE 527,948,0000% (ZZEZTAEFE+ A
=+—H :17,948,0000%) * HHERKE3.28%
(ZEENF+_A=+—H 1 2.11%) 2B %
?TE@HX ©
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For the yearended 31 December 2010

BE_Z-TF+_A=1T—HILFE
40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 40. UESEEEZURNBERNX
TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) NRE (@)
Movements of the Company’s share options held by HA FREEREIRFBZBEREZZEHN
directors and employees during the period/year are: o
Number of share options
ERERA
Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding Exercised Granted at 31 Granted at31 Exercise
at 1July during the during the December during the December price
Category of participant Date of grant 2009 period period 2009 year 2010 Exercise period per share
SEERH RHiRH RZBENE RERGRE RERRE  R-REAE RERRE  R-B-BF A BRTEE
th-A TZAZt-8 t=A=+-A
HKS
o
Directors 31 January 2008 1,000,000 (1,000,000) - - - - 31 January 2008 to 0.74
g2 ZTT\E-A=1-A 30 January 2011
ZZZ\E-A=1-A
E23—-%-A=1A
21 August 2009 - - 16,743,000 16,743,000 - 16,748,000 21 August 2009 to 118
ZTENENAZT-A 20 August 2012
ZTENENAZT-R
E-R-"EN\A-TH
Employees 21 August 2009 - - 1,200,000 1,200,000 - 1,200,000 21 August 2009 to 118
[E8 ZTTNENAZT-A 20 August 2012
ZZENENAZT-R
EZR-“EN\AZTH
Business associates 19 February 2010 - - - - 10,000,000 10,000,000 19 February 2010t 0.88
HEk “Z-25-81nA 18 February 2013
“2-TE-RTAH
ECE-ZFATAA
1,000,000 (1,000,000) 17,948,000 17,948,000 10,000,000 27,948,000
Weighted average exercise price (HKS) 0.74 0.74 118 118 0.88 1.07
IETATEE (A7)
Note: All the above share options are exercisable on the grant date. BisE © DA EFTB BERRME D AT AR B ERT T o
In respect of the share options exercised during the six EHBE_TENF+-_A=+T—HI~EARAE
months ended 31 December 2009, the weighted average TTEMBRAE - RITER 2 FOTEER AR
share price at the date of exercise was HK$1.14. 1.147C °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

The fair values of the share options granted during the
year ended 31 December 2010 and the six months ended
31 December 2009 were calculated using the Binomial
model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

e PR EwR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-—ZFT_A=+—HILFE

40. UESEEZURDBERNX
ﬁ?&% (%)

BE_ZT-ZF+-_A=+—"HULFER#HE
:gghiﬂ— A=+—HIEREARKLD
BREEEA—ERAFEBEREZZAN
B - BAN2HWT -

19 February 21 August

2010 2009

—E-EF —EENF

—AtThH NA=+—H

Weighted average share price EFHRE HK$0.85 HK$1.18
YE#0.857T BHE1.187T

Weighted average exercise price INEFHITEE HK$0.88 HK$1.18
V& 10.887T 7EH1.187T

Expected volatility TEERR IR 109% 124%
Expected life TE ERE R HA 2 years 1.5 years
2% 1.5%

Risk-free rate BRI X 1.028% 0.941%
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B & 0% 0%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over one year
and reference to the companies in similar industry. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effect of
non transfer ability, exercise restrictions and behavioral
considerations.

The Group recognised the total expenses of RMB4,315,000
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (for the six months
ended 31 December 2009: RMB10,063,000) in relation to
share options granted by the Company.

41. COMMITMENTS

(@) Commitments under operating leases
The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately RMB11,474,000 (six months ended
31 December 2009: RMB4,905,000). The investment
properties generated rental yields of 6.27% (31 December
2009: 2.08%) on an ongoing basis. The investment
properties held have committed tenants for the next one
to three years (31 December 2009: two to five years).

BHRIBRRAIBE —FRRIRE 2 E LK IE
REMEURIZEZ AR - £EAFARERH
MHEEEERNEEBZRIFHE - THEEE
TTEMRREITA LR -

AEBRERERE —ZEF+-_A=+—H1t
FEBEBARN Téfxtljzﬁﬁﬂﬂ ZRATBARE
4,315,0007c (BE—_FTFEhF+-_A=+—H
EXEA : AR¥10,063,0007T) °

41. KB
(a) EEBHRIE

A EBERBLH AN

REAMER WAL ARE1,474,0007T
(BE_ZZAF+_A=+—HItNEA: A
K #4,905,0007T) - AIFERKLEEBOIKEY
E¥FMEEMNHESWEETLN627% (ZEZTNF
+ZA=+—H:2.08%) - I EREMENE
FERFREAR—Z2=F (ZZEZTNF+=_A=
+—H:WMEhF) gEHE -
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e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

41. COMMITMENTS (Cont'd)

(a) Commitments under operating leases (Cont’d)
The Group as lessor (Cont’d)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had

contracted with tenants for the following minimum lease
payments:

41. EiE (&)
(a) REHENERE (&)

FEEERL AN ()

REER - AEEKEHEQNZTAT

31.12.2010 31.12.2009

—g-8F  -—TTh%

t=A=+—-8 +-A=1+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFT

Within one year —FR 3,462 5,362
In the second to fifth years inclusive MEZREN 3,134 5,322
6,596 10,684

The Group as lessee

The Group leases certain of its equipment under operating
leases arrangements. Leases are negotiated for a term
ranging from one to five years (31 December 2009: two to
five years) and rentals are fixed. None of the leases include
contingent rentals and terms of renewal were established
in the leases.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which are payable as
follows:

AREEE AN

AEEALRTELHMAELE FTHE - A%
%%ﬁ% FERE(ZEZNE+=A=1+

A MEEAEF) MESBET - 88471
S MK AHAES o

Fﬂ>

RERE R » AEBE R WE 2 A A EUE 2 & &
=005 ﬁﬁmwﬁmT-

31.12.2010 31.12.2009

—E-2F —ETNF

t=A=+—-8 +=A=1+—H

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Within one year —FER 64 15
In the second to fifth years inclusive MEZERFA = 6
64 21
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e PR EwR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

41. COMMITMENTS (Cont'd) 41, HEiE (&)
(b) Commitments (b) &iE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the REER NEBEREMEAENT -

following commitments for properties under development:

31.12.2010 31.12.2009

—E-2F —ETNF

t=—A=t—-H +T=-A=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARETTT

Contracted but not provided for BELBREE 190,969 294,363
Authorised but not contracted for ERUEERELD 336,831 154,551

42. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 42. BIEHEE

At the end of the reporting period, certain assets of the REZER ARBEETEERABECER TR
Group were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to 17 NEGRITEENT :
the Group as follows:

31.12.2010 31.12.2009

—E-2F ZETNF

t=A=+—-H8 +-A=1+—H

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥TR ARETTT

(Restated)

(&&&E7)

Leasehold land and buildings HE i RESF 14,835 20,076
Investment properties "EME 40,084 45,206
Properties under development e 737,095 -
Pledged bank balances BIRIRIRITAETT = 12,609
Assets held for sale BIELEEE 10,200 -
802,214 77,891
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e B wRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010

HE_ZT—

43.
(a)

TE+-AS+—AILER
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 25 April 2008, a PRC subsidiary of the Company
had been served with a writ of summons in the
PRC and was being claimed for a total amount
of approximately HK$23,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB20,010,000) under a guarantee
being allegedly issued by the PRC subsidiary.
The PRC subsidiary has appointed a firm of legal
counsel to represent the PRC subsidiary to defend
the claim and legal proceedings. First court hearing
was held on 20 October 2008 and after a series
of legal proceedings, the Company received a
civil judgment (the “Judgment”) issued by the
Intermediate People’s Court in Shenzhen, the PRC
on 14 June 2010. The PRC subsidiary was liable to
bear 50% of any shortfall that the first defendant
is unable to settle in respect of the claims amount
of approximately HK$23,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB20,010,000).

On 30 November 2010, the PRC subsidiary
entered into a settlement agreement (”Settlement
Agreement”) with the plaintiff pursuant to which
the PRC subsidiary shall pay HK$4,800,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,080,000) to
the plaintiff within five days upon entering into
the Settlement Agreement for settlement of
all responsibilities and claims of the Judgment.
Payment was made on 1 December 2010. On 2
December 2010, the Senior People’s Court of the
Guangdong Province in the PRC approved the
application for the withdrawal of the Judgment by
the PRC subsidiary and the plaintiff.

Details of the settlement are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 3 December
2010.

43.

(a)

HAREE

“TEENFNA-_+HH ' KRB ZH
BB ARERARKEERSK  iE
%%EE:ZEPlW%“ﬂ%%ZW%%&Lﬁ
%8 %5 49 A R #23,000,0007T (FB & R 7

}\Eﬁéﬁzo,om,ooom FEKTE A

LRI E - & uﬁ‘ﬂEEEA—%%
NE+A= JrE?ﬁ%ﬁ MA@ —E &L
2RFE RZE—ZFF,ATWAE-

P NN R @S s S ﬂllM&/\Eiﬂ%ZE
FHRE(THRED - HEKBL
AERERS ?ﬁ%*ﬁﬁ%iﬂ'}%ﬁi
“47% %23,000,0007“@#756%7/\&@%
20,010,0007T) MR BRRER) —F o

R=ZB—BF+—A=1H FENE
2 )8R & 585 RO 6 53 (088 13
%) 50k R E B 2 R AR R

%lﬁkgz}aﬁﬁﬁ\{{[&%dﬁuTiﬂ]%ngfjﬁ%
1% 2 AR R %E 25 7%%4,800,0007T
(HBER K AR®4,080,0007T) ° KA
R_ZE—ZFF+_A—HIXF -R=F
—ZF+ A _H FEERESHA
RZb i@ B M B A 7 8 R 4 #/ D 4)
REZERE o

MERZFBFENRARTEAMS T —
%ﬁi—l—_ﬂ_EIZ”A% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

On 20 October 2009, the Company received a
writ of summons from FAZBLRF/RHERA
Al (Xi'an Ying Feng Technology Co., Ltd.*) (“Ying
Feng”). Ying Feng (as plaintiff) brought a civil
claim (the “Claim”) at L& RAMHHLARE
B (Intermediate People’s Court of Changzhi City,
Shanxi Province*) (the “Court”) against Techwayson
Industrial (Shenzhen) Limited (B#FREZCFYE
R F]) (“Techwayson Industrial”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (as defendant), for
damages of approximately RMB6,970,000 in respect
of product liability arising from defects in the
programmable logic controller system used in i
blast furnace top gas recovery turbine unit (“TRT
project”) (Changgang TRT project*) designed and
manufactured by Techwayson Industrial. A hearing
was scheduled for 25 November 2009. Techwayson
Industrial have decided to defend against the Claim
and will seek legal advice in respect of the merits of
the Claim. At 31 December 2009, the directors of
the Company expected that there will not be any
immediate adverse financial effect on the earnings,
net assets and liabilities of the Company and its
subsidiaries. In January 2010, Ying Feng withdrawn
the Claim against Techwayson Industrial in the
court.

Details of the Claim were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 22 October
2009 and 14 January 2010 respectively.

On 12 December 2009, the Company received a
writ of summons from Global Tide Limited (“Global
Tide"). Global Tide brought a civil action in the High
Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region against the Company for compensation
and damages of approximately HK$8,834,000 (the
“Claim”) in relation to the disposal of its former
wholly owned subsidiary, Magic Gain Investments
Limited. Details of the Claim are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 16 December
2009.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

*

e PR EwR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-—ZFT_A=+—HILFE

HREE (&)

RZZEZNF+A=-Z+H A2aAKE
;zéa%wﬁzﬂxf BRAR ([BRE]) 8
Fadk o BE (ERARE) RLAE KA
mqﬂi&/\E/ﬂ% (£ mARR 2
BB AREEREE OFY) AR AR
([1= ,\E%%TEE%J) (EAEES) REHAR
#6,970,000c v RERE ([RE]) - 5
HEEREER T REENRTNSER
RHBEFEEFRLEER ([TRTEE D)
NH A RIBIZHISRER  BRRERT
iuuﬁ@ﬁ HVDHE;EBA_%?%hiwL*
AZ+HRBBH ZBEREERESI
FARBELRERSKEZER - ¥
—EZAF+_A=1+—H ARAE
EHRFMFRISEHARARERB A
A E - FEENEBEEKEMAE
E’J%Eﬁﬁ B RN_T—FF—F-
EERERBERSHEEREE CRE -

A MR 2 H A5 BIBIHAN AR F B
A=EENEIA—t-AR-F-F

%lﬁﬁﬁlﬁ Gl (H‘*jﬂ) El’].:ﬁf'"y"lﬁ(

AREBEBFNTHRESEZFER AR
A AR A 8,834,000 2 RER
B(RE]D EEREEXRRFHNEZE
B B A& PR A &]Magic Gain Investments
Limited - B RE < F AT HN AR T
HBAE—TEZNF+ A+ AZR%E -

n_E

B A EHRES
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

43,

44,

(b)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

The Company decided to defend against the Claim
and obtained legal advice in respect of the merits
of the Claim. The directors of the Company expect
that there will not be any adverse financial effect
on the earnings, net assets and liabilities of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

The Group had arranged for bank financing for
certain purchasers of property units and provided
guarantees to secure obligations of such purchasers
for repayments. At 31 December 2010, the
outstanding amount of the guarantees amounted
to approximately RMB22,980,000 (31 December
2009: RMB90,759,000).

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

As detailed in Note 37 (i), on 14 January 2010,
the Buyer has settled the Consideration Receivables
of approximately RMB110,880,000 directly to
the Vendor. The Consideration Receivables were
included in trade and other receivable as at 31
December 2009.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the finance
cost charged on bank borrowings wholly repayable
within five years of approximately RMB5,522,000
remained unpaid during the period and is included
in accrued interest (31 December 2010: Nil).

Included in consideration payables at 31 December
2009 is an amount of RMB302,016,000 unpaid
consideration for the acquisition of subsidiaries.

44,

HAREE (&)

RRABRERUIFRREEL R ER
BOERER - RAREERET U FA
SHARAREMBRAAKE « F:
ENBEEKREMARHAEMETZE

H

> 4

=]

/

AEBECRBES TYEEMNLTHRIT
MENMIBHEHER UBREXREE - R
—E-TFE+-_A=+—H KESBE
REEHARK22,980,000T (ZEZH
F+=-A=+—8: AE¥090,759,000
JT) °

FEFRRAERS

WA EE37(DFTRES)  — 2 —2F — A
+OBE BEFRAEFEEINEKRE
#I AR %110,880,0007T ° FEUWAR B A
—EENF+A=T—RHRZEBESKH
o FE WL BR SR o

BE _ZTTAF+-_A=+—BI&E
- ERTER MAFAZTE2HEE
Z I AR #) AR ¥5,522,0000T © @B
BAREAA MR T EE T AERFIE
—2-ZFF+_A=+—H:8E)-

RIZBEZNF+_A=+—80  KEW
BAAImMARNZRE  BREERNRE
A ANER¥302,016,0007T °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR EwRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_Z-—ZTF+_A=1+—HILFE

45. RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED 45. BEAIRZRBAERS
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)  The balances with related parties at the end of the (a) MREIHEH BEATRZINBRBECD EELR
reporting period are disclosed elsewhere in the B EHREREE o
consolidated financial statements.

(b)  As disclosed in Note 36, during the period from (b) HWKFFIGAMBEE RZZEZENLF+
1 July 2009 to 31 December 2009, the Company A—BEZEZFTTAF+_A=+—HH
and the Preference A Share Holder, Weina (BVI) A AR ERE AR EWeina (BVI)
Limited (“Weina (BVI)") entered into a supplemental Limited ([Weina (BVI)]) &I — B 3¢
agreement for the extension and change of terms e FUAERLEXNRABBER R 2K
of the original subscription agreement. Weina X > Weina (BVI)ZWeina Group Limited
(BVI), is wholly-owned by Weina Group Limited, ZEEWNBRAE MEEBRERNTE
which is in turn controlled by Mr. Tsim Wing Kong ([EkaE]) #Z=H - BEXAETDARRRBIT
(“Mr. Tsim”). By virtue of Mr. Tsim being the father EEEFBEEZNE -
of Mr. Tsim Sze Hon, an executive director of the
Company.

(c)  The remuneration of directors and other members 0 EBEFNEMFTEERBEABEZ-_Z—Z
of key management during the year ended 31 FT+ZA=tT—"BLEFEREE_ZZT
December 2010 and for the six months ended 31 NE+ZA=+—BHLEARERAZzHME&
December 2009 are as follows: T

1.1.2010 to 1.7.2009 to

31.12.2010 31.12.2009

—E-2F —ETNF

—HA—BR=#% +A—H=E

—E-ZF —ETNF

+=A=t—-8B +=-A=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT AREFIT
Salaries, other short-term employee e AMmEHESRNAKR
benefits and equity-settled DA &8 2 AR D R A

share-based payment expenses X NFEE 3,411 10,553
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e P BwRME

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2010
and 31 December 2009 are as follows:

46. FEHE AT

R-T—F

= =

F+_A=+—BR-_ZZTNF+

“RE+—RZEIEMBARIFMAERNT

Place of Issued share Attributable
incorporation/ capital/registered  equity interests
Name of subsidiary operation Class of shares held capital of the Group  Principal activities
B30 e BT/ NGl
WEARER EXE HERGER EHERE RARZEHE FEXK
Techwayson Industrial * The PRC Contributed capital ~ HK$60,000,000 100%  Design, supply and
(Note 1) H BABR 71#60,000,0007T integration of
EEREE (1) automation and
control systems
and property
investment
feERat - BHENRS
BEMCEHI RS R
NERE
Techwayson Management Hong Kong Ordinary shares 10,000 shares of 100%  Provision of
Limited &t LRk HK$1 each management services
ERREEAR LA 10,0008 REERRY
BRAB® 1T
Techwayson Trading Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares 10,000 shares of 100%  Trading of automation
BERESHERAA & EEk HK$1 each products and
10,0000% electronic components
BRAEBIT BELREFEHM
EtzE85
Techwayson Technology The PRC Contributed capital ~ RMB100,000,000 100%  Design, supply and
(Shenzhen) Limited * e PNV ARE integration of
(Note 1) 100,000,0007T automation and
ERARE ORI BRAF control systems
(B#zE1) WER - HENRS
BELEHI R4t
Fame Electronics Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 shares of 51%  Trading of mobile phone
REETHER AT BB LRk HK$1 each components
100 EREB 1T FHRAMHE
Zhuhai Zhongzhu The PRC Contributed capital ~ RMB250,000,000 50%  Development of real
(Notes 2 and, 3) H BABK AEH estate in the PRC
IRk (ME2k3) 250,000,0007T NP EERFEE
* The English name is for identification purpose only. * B A THE MR
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

Note 1: These entities established in the PRC are wholly
foreign-owned enterprises.

Note 2: The entity established in the PRC is a sino-foreign joint
venture.

Note 3: In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group
exercised control over the financial and operating activities of
this company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group to give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding as at the end of the year/period or at any time
during the year/period.

e PR wR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

46. ETEMBLTE (&)
T AR ER T BRI ANEBERE -

ifE2: RABERI BB RPINEERE

MIFE3: ARRIERRA  AKBEAEHZ
RRETEE o

REZHBE R

FREABEARAEFTARIBHEREXE
EZAKENBARER  ARREZRAT
LA BARER KT RIBENTTE

EEMMBRRERFLE B
WA R B (AR E R EF jé%?

KEFAN, B
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+_A=Z+—HIFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY

47. ARRFHARREK

31.12.2010 31.12.2009
—E-TF —ZETNEF
+=A=+-H +=A=t+-H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARET T ARETTT
Non-current asset EREBEERE
Investments in subsidiaries N IEEPNET 477,167 477,167
Current assets MBNEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG (a) 288 -
Other receivables HibEIBE RN 186 110,880
Bank balances and cash IRITEFNIRSE 62 41
536 110,921
Current liabilities mEaE
Other payables HiuppEfE A 58,659 119,965
Amounts due to subsidiaries N EPNETE @] (a) 94,700 7,082
153,359 127,047
Net current liabilities mEBEFE (152,823) (16,126)
324,344 461,041
Capital and reserves AR % (i
Ordinary share capital TRAR AR AN 81,232 81,232
Convertible redeemable preference Al e O] B (B St h%
shares 184,653 184,653
Reserves fEtE (b) (125,932) 52,059
Total equity G 139,953 317,944
Non-current liabilities JEmEAaE
Convertible bonds AR (E 5 184,391 -
Consideration payable JERRAB - 143,097
184,391 143,097
324,344 461,041
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (Cont'd)

(@) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

e PR wR M

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_T-ZFT_A=+—HILtFE

47. ARBMBMRRRER (&)

(a) MW (fY) M BFE

TRMIFER  TREMNBREER

(b) Reserves (b) f#fE
Share Exchange
Share  Contributed options translation Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
RxEE BANE BRERE pidzk- 1 ZitER ag
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR%Tr ARETR ARETT AREBTR ARETR
At 1 July 2009 R=ZBENELA—H 29,414 67,614 362 (17,892) (308,393) (228,895)
Loss for the period and total BREEREE
comprehensive expenses Fx 85 3 (85,865) (85,862)
Issue of shares upon Bkl
- settlement of consideration in respect of — WEEMB AR /
acquisition of subsidiaries/investment in REHEREZ
available-for-sale investment RELE 356,478 - - : 356,478
— exercise of share options - TR RRE 925 3 (362) - - 563
- transactions costs attributable to issue of — E{TRIDEMLZ X5
shares KA (288) (288)
Recognition of equity-settled share based  IRIER B AERE A%
payments (Note 40) EEHRR (FH40) 10,063 - - 10,063
At 31 December 2009 R-FENF
+-A=t+-H 386,529 67,614 10,063 (17,889) (394,258) 52,059
Loss for the period and total BREBEREARX
comprehensive expenses ek 9,743 (192,049)  (182,306)
Recognition of equity-settled share based  RRiE(H % AERAL
payments (Note 40) bR 4315 - - 4315
At 31 December 2010 R-2-%%
+ZA=1+-H 386,529 67,614 14,378 (8,146) (586,307) (125,932)
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For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-ZT-ZTF+-_A=Z+—HIFE

48. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(i) Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 3 December 2010, the Company entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Seaton
Limited, a connected party of the Group for the
acquisition of the entire issued share capital of
Armando Investments Limited (“Armando”) for
a consideration of HK$230,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB195,500,000) (the
“Acquisition”) to be settled by way of unsecured
zero-coupon convertible bonds of the same
amount. Armando is a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands whose major asset is its 25%
equity interests in Zhuhai Zhongzhu. The acquisition
was completed on 1 March 2011. Following the
acquisition of Armando, the Group is interested
in as to 75% of the equity interests in Zhuhai
Zhongzhu.

Details of the Acquisition are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 22 December 2010.

(ii) Disposal of investment properties

Subsequently after the end of the reporting
period, the Group entered into several preliminary
agreements for the sales of certain investment
properties with a carrying value of approximately
RMB21,590,000 at 31 December 2010 for a total
consideration of approximately HK$27,005,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB22,955,000) to
independent third parties.

49. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The comparative figures of the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2009 were restated
due to the reclassification of the LAT payables included in
trade and other payables of approximately RMB35,207,000
which by nature should be an income tax payable. The
amount of the reclassification for each consolidated
financial statements line affected are presented below.

Effect of the reclassification on the Group’s consolidated
| statement of financial position at 31 December 2009:

48. HEHE B RSER

(i) WRHEAR

—ZTF4+= A=A AAREAEEZ
TREERA EJEE%*’MW%
ando Investments Limited ([ Armando])
HEBITRA - K& A E%230,000,000
= ) 4 A R #195,500,0007) ([l &
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As previously
reported Reclassification As restated

SC Al AT ER 3R EHAHE KB

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT AREETIT

Trade and other payables B 5 M EER IR 368,964 (35,207) 333,757
Income tax payable JETFTIS R 1,606 35,207 36,813
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Schedule of the Properties Held as Investment Properties/Properties for Own Use/
Properties Held for Sale and Under Development

HEERENE BRUX GEREENFEHRER

At 31 December 2010
RZE—ZTF+—A=+—H

A. PROPERTIES IN THE PRC A, URFEIZME
Lease Group's
Location Usage Area term interest
by 1]
bk i3 ik BEH L
Land Parcel No. T205-0035 located at Hi-tech Industrial Park, Office premises and car ~ Site area - Medium 100%
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the PRC  parking spaces approximately 8,159 sg. m.
PEERE R B RS AR E R R BYRNEREES  WEEE-48159TAK
{R5:T205-0035R9 13
Gross floor area -
approximately 17,677 sg. m.
BT — 417,677 FAK
Unsold portion of first phase of Zhongzhu Uptown, Properties held for sale  Gross floor area - Medium 75% |
No. 299, Santaishi Road, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City, approximately 14,370 sg. m.
Guangdong Province, the PRC
PEERERETAMNEE 2995 Ik L A ES REGEE - ]
F-WREERN #14,370F 7K
Second phase of Zhongzhu Uptown, South of Renmin West Road,  Properties under Planned gross floor area - Medium 75%
West of Santaishi Road, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City, development approximately 175,803 sq. m.
Guangdong Province, the PRC
PERRERETEMNEENEABRARAER xR SHElEEeEE - e
AP ERE 5 #9175,803F 7K
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Schedule of the Properties Held as Investment Properties/Properties for Own Use/
Properties Held for Sale and Under Development

BEERENE BRURX GEREEVNFEHER

At 31 December 2010
RZE—ZTF+ZA=+—H

B. PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG NREBZYE
Approximate Lease Group's
Location Usage saleable area term interest
F%E
1 itk THERR HEH RS
Suite 1501, 15th Floor, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Office premises - 242.01 sq. m. - 100%
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon. Own use
NERDEBERE0RIER L—H1581501F BTEME - 282 01F K -
B8R
Unit 302, 3/F, Lippo Sun Plaza, No. 28 Canton Road, Office premises 79.06 5. m. Medium 100%
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon.
NERDEERE8H NEAGEZ3EI0E BYENE 79.06F 75K i
Unit 702, 7/F., Lippo Sun Plaza, No. 28 Canton Road, Office premises 79.06 5g. m. Medium 100%
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
NERDEEREFNEAGESTETE BTEME 79.06F F K hE
Unit 520, 5/F, East Ocean Centre, 98 Granville Road, Office premises 53.51 5q. m. Medium 100%
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon.
NERRVEIEREESEREEERLSENE BTIENE 53.51F K i
Units 708 & 709, 7/F, East Ocean Centre, 98 Granville Road, Office premises 107.02 sq. m. Medium 100%
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon.
NERAD RS ZEISHREEERLTIET8RT09F BTENE 1070255k i
Unit 711, 7/F, East Ocean Centre, 98 Granville Road, Office premises 53.51 5. m. Medium 100%
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon.
ERDRNER ZERFREHERLTEINE BTRNE 5351 % g
Unit 713, 7/F, East Ocean Centre, 98 Granville Road, Office premises 53.51 5q. m. Medium 100%
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon.
BADRIER BT R FEERLTETZE BTIENE 53.51F K h
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